Final Official Statement Dated July 24, 2008

New Issue: Book-Entry-Only RATINGS: Moody'’s Investors Service: Aaa
Fitch Ratings: AAA
Assured Guaranty Corp. Insured

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing statutes and court decisions, and assuming continuing compliance with
certain covenants and procedures relating to requirements of Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), interest
on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not treated as an item of tax preference for
purposes of computing federal alternative minimum tax. Interest on the Bonds may be included in the calculation of certain
taxes under the Code, including the alternative minimum tax on corporations. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing
statutes, interest on the Bonds is excluded from Connecticut taxable income for purposes of the Connecticut income tax on
individuals, trusts and estates, and is excluded from amounts on which the net Connecticut minimum tax is based in the case of
individuals, trusts and estates required to pay the federal alternative minimum tax. (See ““Tax Matters”, herein.)

S City of Meriden, Connecticut
: $33,050,000

General Obligation Bonds, Issue of 2008

Dated: August 1, 2008 Due: Serially on August 1, as
detailed below:

oy

The Bonds will bear interest payable February 1, 2009 and semiannually thereafter on August 1 and February
1 in each year until maturity. The Bonds are issuable only as fully registered bonds, without coupons, and, when
issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as Bondowner and nominee for The Depository Trust
Company ("DTC"), New York, New York. DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. Purchases of the
Bonds will be made in book-entry form, in the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Purchasers
will not receive certificates representing their ownership interest in the Bonds. So long as Cede & Co. is the
Bondowner, as nominee of DTC, reference herein to the Bondowner or owners shall mean Cede & Co., as aforesaid,
and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners (as defined herein) of the Bonds. See "Book-Entry-Only System" herein.

Hutchinson, Shockey, Erley & Co.

The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due will be guaranteed under a
financial guaranty insurance policy to be issued concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds by ASSURED

GUARANTY CORP. f\\SSURED
GUARANTY

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as herein provided.

Principal Coupon Principal Coupon

Year Amount Rate Yield CUSIP Year Amount Rate Yield CUSIP

2009 $1,655,000 4.000% 1.700% 589535F65 2019%* $1,650,000 5.000% 4.150% 589535G80
2010 1,655,000 3.000% 2.300% 589535F73 2020%* 1,650,000 5.000% 4.300% 589535G98
2011 1,655,000 3.250% 2.800% 589535F81 2021%* 1,650,000 5.000% 4.400% 589535H22
2012 1,655,000 3.500% 3.000% 589535F99 2022%* 1,650,000 5.000% 4.500% 589535H30
2013 1,655,000 3.500% 3.150% 589535G23 2023%* 1,650,000 5.000% 4.550% 589535H48
2014 1,655,000 3.625% 3.350% 589535G31 2024 1,650,000 4.500% 4.700% 589535H55
2015 1,655,000 3.750% 3.500% 589535G49 2025 1,650,000 4.625% 4.750% 589535H63
2016 1,655,000 4.000% 3.650% 589535G56 2026 1,650,000 4.625% 4.800% 589535H71
2017%* 1,655,000 4.000% 3.800% 589535G64 2027 1,650,000 4.750% 4.850% 589535H89
2018%* 1,655,000 4.125% 3.950% 589535G72 2028 1,650,000 4.750% 4.900% 589535H97

* Priced assuming redemption on August 1, 2016; however any such redemtpion is at the option of the City.

The Bonds will be general obligations of the City of Meriden, Connecticut and the City will pledge its full
faith and credit to pay the principal of and the interest on the Bonds when due. See “Security and Remedies”
herein.

The Registrar, Transfer Agent, Paying Agent, and Certifying Agent will be U.S. Bank National Association,
Goodwin Square, 225 Asylum Street, Hartford, Connecticut 06103.

The Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued, subject to the approving opinion of Robinson &
Cole LLP, Bond Counsel, of Hartford, Connecticut and certain other conditions. It is expected that delivery of the
Bonds in book-entry-only form will be made to DTC on or about August 1, 2008.



No person has been authorized by the City to give any information or fo make any representations not
contained in this Official Statement or any supplement which may be issued hereto, and if given or made, such other
information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized. This Official Statement does not
constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person
in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawfu} for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.

This Official Statement has been prepared only in connection with the initial offering and sale of the Bonds
and may not be reproduced or used in whole or in part for any other purpose. The information, estimates and
expresstons of opinion in this Official Statement are subject to change without notice. Neither the delivery of this
Official Statement nor any sale of the Bonds shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has
been no material change in the affairs of the City since the date of this Official Statement.

The independent auditors for the City are not passing upon and do not agsume responsibility for the accuracy
or completeness of the financial information presented in this Official Statement (other than matters expressly set
forth in their opinion in Appendix A), and they make no representation that they have independently verified the
same,

Other than as to matters expressly set forth in Appendix B, Bond Counsel are not passing on and do not
assume any responsibility for the accuracy or adequacy of the statements made in this Official Statement and make
no representation that they have independently vertfied the same.

Assured Guaranty makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds.
In addition, Assured Guaranty has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not
accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or
disclogure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information
regarding Assured Guaranty supplied by Assured Guaranty and presented under the heading “Bond Insurance” and
“Appendix E - Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy™.

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank)
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Bond Issue Summary

The information in this Bond Issue Summary and the front cover page is qualified in its entivety by the detailed information
and financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Official Statement. This Official Statement speaks only as of its dute
and the information herein is subject to change.

Date of Sale:
Location of Sale:
Issuer:

Issue:

Dated Date:
Interest Due:

Principal Due:

Purpose and Authority:

Redemption:

Security and Remedies:

Credit Rating:

Bond Insurance:

Basis of Award:

Bank Qualification:

Continuing Disclosure:

Registrar, Transfer
Agent, Certifying Agent
and Paying Agent:

Financial Advisor:
Legal Opinion:
Delivery and Payment:

Issuer Official:

Thursday, Fuly 24, 2008, 11:30 AM. (E.D.T.).

Robinson & Cole LLP, 280 Trumbull Street, Conference Room 601, Hartford, CT 06103.
City of Meriden, Connecticut {the "City").

$33,050,000 General Obligation Bonds, Issue of 2008 (the “Bonds™).

August 1, 2008.

February | and August 1, in each year until matarity, commencing February 1, 2009,

The Bonds are due serially, August 1, 2009 through August 1, 2028, as detailed in this
Official Statement.

The Bonds are being issued to permanently finance a portion of bond anticipation notes
maturing on August [, 2008 that were issued for various general purpose and school
projects and the balance will provide new money for various general purpose projects.

The Bonds not subject to redemption prior to maturity, as provided herein.

The Bonds wili be general obligations of the City of Meriden, Connecticut, and the City
will pledge its full faith and credit to the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds
when due.

Moody’s Investors Service and Fitch Ratings have assigned ratings of “Aaa” and “AAA”,
respectively, to the Bonds, with the understanding that a municipal bond insurance policy
will be issued by Assured Guaranty Corporation concurrently with the delivery of the
Bonds. Underlying ratings are Moody’s Investors Service: “A3” and Fitch Ratings: “A-".

Assured Guaranty Corporation has made a commitment to issue a financial guaranty
insurance policy concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds. (See Appendix E —
“Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy™).

Lowest True Interest Cost (TIC), as of the dated date.

The Bonds shali NOT be designated by the City as qualified tax-exempt obligations under
the provisions of Section 265(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, for
purposes of the deduction by financial institutions for interest expense allocable to the
Bonds.

In accordance with the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) promulgated by the Securities
and Exchange Commission, the City will agree te provide, or cause to be provided, annual
financial information and operating data, timely notice of a failure by the City to provide
the required annual financial information on or before the date specified in the Continuing
Disclosure Agreement, and notices of material events with respect to the Bonds pursuant
to a Continuing Disclosure Agreement to be executed by the City substantially in the form
attached as Appendix C to this Official Statement.

.S, Bank National Association, Goodwin Square, 225 Asylum Street, Hartford,
Connecticut 46103.

Phoenix Advisors LLC, of Milford, Connecticut. Telephone (203} 878-4945.
Robinson & Cole LLP, of Hartford, Connecticut will act as Bond Counsel.

It is expected that delivery of the Bonds in book-entry-only form wiil be made to The
Depository Trust Company on or about August 1, 2008 against payment in Federal Funds.

Questions concerning the Official Statement should be addressed to Mr. Jim Reynolds,
Interim Finance Director, City of Meriden, 142 East Main Street, Meriden, Connecticut
06450, Telephone (203) 630-4138,

et



1. Bond Information

Introduction

This Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices, is provided for the purpose of presenting
certamn information relating to the City of Meriden, Connecticut {the "City"}, in connection with the original issuance
and sale of $33,050,000 General Obligation Bonds, 1ssue of 2008 (the “Bonds™) of the City.

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the City and the purchasers or
holders of any of the Bonds. Any statement made m this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or estimates
are not intended to be representations of fact, and no representation 1s made that any such opinion or estimate will be
realized. No representation is made that past experience, as might be shown by financial or other information herein,
will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future. Neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made
hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City
since the date hereof. References to statutes, charters, or other faws herein may not be complete and such provisions of
law are subject to repeal or amendment.

The mformation in this Official Statement has been prepared by the City's Financial Advisor, Phoenix Advisors
LLC, from information supplied by City officials and other sources. The Financial Advisor does not assume
responsibility for the adequacy or accuracy of the statements made herein and makes no representation that it has
independently verified the same. U.S. Bank National Association, 225 Asylum Street, Goodwin Square, Hartford,
Connecticut 06103 wili act as Registrar, Transfer Agent, Paying Agent and Certifying Agent for the Bonds.

Bond Counsel are not passing upon and do not assume responsibility for the accuracy or adequacy of the
statements made in this Official Statement (other than matters expressly set forth ag their opinion) and they make no
representation that they have independently verified the same.

Description of the Bonds

The Bonds will be dated Auvgust 1, 2008 and will mature in the years and in such amounts and shail bear interest
at such rate of rates ag set forth on the cover of this Official Statement, payable on February 1, 2009 and semiannually
thereafter on August 1 and February 1 in each year until maturity. Interest will be calculated on the basis of twelve
thirty-day months and a 360-day year. Interest is pavable fo the registered owner as of the close of business on the
fifteenth day of Fanuary and July in each year or the preceding business day if such fifteenth day is not a business day,
by check mailed to the registered owner; or so long as the Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee
of DTC, by such other means as DTC, and the City shall agree.

Redemption Provisions

Bonds maturing on or before August 1, 2016 are not subject to redemption prior to maturity. The Bonds
maturing on August 1, 2017 and thereafter are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the election of the City, on or
after August 1, 2016 at any time, in whole or in part and by lot within a maturity, in such amounts and i such order of
maturity as the City may determine, at the respective prices (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount of Bonds
to be redeemed), set forth in the following table, plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date:

Redemption
Period During Which Redeemed Prices
August 1, 2016 and thereafter ..., 100%

Notice of redemption shall be given by the City or its agent by mailing a copy of the redemption notice by first-
class mail at least thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the registered owner as the same shall last
appear on the registration books for the Bonds. Failure to give such notice by mailing to any registered owner, or any
defect therein, shall not affect the validity of the redemption of any other Bends. Upon the giving of such notice, if
sufficient funds available sclely for redemption are on deposit with the Paying Agent, the Bonds or portions thereof so
called for redemption will cease to bear mterest after the specified redemption date.

1f Tess than all of the Bends of any one maturity shall be cailed for redemption, the particular Bonds or portions
of Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shali be selected by lot in such manner as the City in its discretion may
determine; provided, however, that the portion of any Bond to be redeemed shall be in the principal amount of $5,000 or
a multiple thereof and that, in selecting Bonds for redemption, each Bond shall be considered as representing that
number of Bonds which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such Bond by $5,000.



The City, so long as a book-entry system is used for the Bonds, will send any notice of redemption only to DTC
{or successor securities depositery) or its nominee, Any failure of DTC to advise any DTC Participant, or of any DTC
Participant or Indirect Participant to notify any Indirect Participant or Beneficial Owner, of any such notice and its
content or effect will not affect the validity of the redemption of such Bonds called for redemption. Redemption of
portions of the Bonds of any maturity by the City will reduce the outstanding principal amounts of such matority held by
DTC. In such event it is the current practice of DTC to allocate by lot, through ifs book-eniry syster, among the interest
held by DTC Participants in the Bonds to be redeemed, the interest to be reduced by such redemption in accordance with
its own rules or other agreements with DTC Participants. The DTC Participants and Indirect Participants may allocate
reductions of the interests in the Bonds to be redeemed held by the Beneficial Owners. Any such allocations of
reductions of interests in the Bonds {0 be redeemed wili not be governed by the determination of the City authorizing the
issnance of the Bonds and will not be conducted by the City, the Registrar or Paying Agent.

The Certifying Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agent will be U.S. Bank National Association, 225
Asylum Street, Hartford, Connecticut 06103, The legal opinion on the Bonds will be rendered by Robinson & Cole LLP
in substantiatly the form set forth in Appendix B to this Official Statement.

Authorization and Purpose

The Bonds are issued pursuant to Title 7 of the General Statutes of Connecticut, as amended, the Charter of the
City of Meriden and bond a resolutions adopted by the Common Coungil of the City.

Proceeds of the Issue

Proceeds of the Bonds will he used to permanently finance a portion of the bond anticipation notes maturing
August 1, 2008 and to provide new money for the projects listed below:

Notes Paydowns/
Amount Maturing Grants New
Profect Authorized 8/01/08 Received Money The Bonds

General Purpose Issue #40 ... § 757,000 $ 88,500 § (88,500) $ - 3 -
General Purpose Issue #42 ..., 1,475,000 85,000 - 3,750 88,750
General Purpose Issue #43 ... 35,000,600 10,000 - 3,000 13,000
Generai Purpose Issue #44. ... 1,780,000 © 15,200 - - 15,200
General Purpose Issue #45 ... 100,600 18,700 (18,700) - -
Generat Purpose Issue #49 ..., 1,000,600 5,500 - - 5,506
General Purpose Issue #50 ... G,238.000 5,843 000 (5,750) 225,000 6,062,250
General Purpose Issue #52..... 1,000,000 30,000 (50,000} - -
General Purpose lssue #35 ... 477000 200,000 - 4,600 204,600
General Purpose Issue #36 .. ... 1,353673 164000 - - 164,000
General Purpose Issue #37 ... 58,053,000 1,175,600 {500,000) 263,000 938,000
General Pumpose Issue #38 ... 27,606825 6,886,300 (20,200) 1,478,000 8.344,100
General Purpose {ssue #39 ... 8,629300 3000000 - 156,000 3,150,000
General Purpose Issue #60 ... 3,719472 1,706,800 {369,700) 35,000 1,372,100
General Pumpose Issue #61...., 50,000 50,000 {20,000) - 30,000
General Pumpose Issue #62., .. 2,636,197 1,636,000 {108,000} - 1,528,000
General Purpose Issue #63..... 3,932,562 1421000 - 1,661,000 3,082,000
General Purpose Issue #64..... 11.851.500 - - 8.052.500 8.052.500

Total..cocovevvveiiiiririiiniienn, § 168,659829 & 22355000 % (1,180.850) $11,875.850 § 33,050,000

(W8]



Proceeds of the Bonds will be used to fund the capital projects and purposes described below:

General Puipose Issue #42 ;
General Puipo se Issue #43 .
General Purpo se [ssue #44 .
General Purpose Issue #49:

General Purpose Issue #50:

Various water projects,

Construction of Magnet School.

Signs and Landscaping City Entrances, Recreational Complex.

Various drainage, street cornstruction, beautification projects, httle league field
complex improvemerts.

Various water projects.

General Purpose Issue #55. Various projects inclading bike rail trail, traffic signals, updates to public
buildings, and paving program.
General Purpo se Issue #56: Various projects mcluding public safety radio tower, highway resurfacing,

General Fumpose Issue #57
General Purpose Issue #58;

General Purpose Issue #59.

demolition of hazardous building, updates for parks, and dog pound construction.

Various sewer projects.

Varous projects including public works equipment & trucks, highway resurfacing,
bike rail trail, demolition of hazardous building, MIS technology upgrade, landfill
closure and dam renovation.

Washington School roof renovations, Falcon Field renovations.

General Purpo se Issue #60. Various projects incloding highway resurfacing, parking garage repairs and public
works equipment. '
General Pumpose Issue #61 Goif irrigation system design.

General Purpo se Issue #62:

General Puipose Issue #63:
General Purpose Issue #64:

Varous projects including truck replacement, portable radios, city wide drainage,
technology upgrades, catch basin cleaner, Sodom brook trail, backup generator and
sanitary sewer line.

Street paving program, Sidewalk program and paving box.

Various projects including water tanks, city wide sidewalks and street paving,

bridge repairs, roof repairs, policeradio system upgrade, and computer upgrades.

School Projects

Purseant to Public Act No. 97-11, the State of Connecticut will provide proportional progress payments for
eligible school construction expenses on school building projects approved afier July 1, 1996, Under the new program,
the City would receive progress payments for eligible construction costs. (The City has not issued any school debt under
the new program). The Magnet School (GPI #43) was approved under the new program, but 100% of eligible costs are
expected to be funded by a grant from the State of Connecticut.

Book-Entry-Only Transfer System

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The
Bonds will be issued as fully-registered Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or
such other name as may be reguested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Security certificate
wilt be issued for the Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of such issue, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, 18 a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and
a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC
holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and
municipal debt issues, and money market instruments {from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct
Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and
other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges
between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates, Direct
Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations, and certain other orgamzations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing
Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed
Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated
subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and



dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearitg corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a
Drrect Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants™), DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating;
AAA. The DTC Rules applicabie to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More
information about DTC can be found at www dtcc.com and www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a
credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Security (“Beneficial
Owner”) 18 in tumn fo be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive
written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Qwners are, however, expected fo receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or
Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in
the Bonds are {o be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of
Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Bonds,
except inn the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s parinership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other
DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners
of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participanis to whose accounts such Bonds are
credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible
for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Convevance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time,
Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant
events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Security
documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for
their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may
wigh to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them,

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within an issue are being redeemed,
DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. {nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds unless
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails
an Omnibus Proxy to Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s
consenting or voling rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Bonds are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Ommibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such
other nomines as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC s practice s to credit Direct
Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from Issuer or Agent, on
pavable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to
Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with Bonds held for
the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant
and not of DTC, Agent, or Issuer, subject to any statutory or regulajory requirements as may be in effect from time to
time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of Issuer or Agent, disbursement of such
payments to Direct Participanis will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial
Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving
reasonable notice to Issuer or Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained,
Security certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor
securities depository). In that event, Security certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.



The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from sources
that Issuer believes to be reliable, but Issuer takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

Security and Remedies

The Bonds will be general obligations of the City of Meriden, Connecticut and the City will pledge its full faith
and credit to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds when due. Unless paid from other sources, the Bonds are
pavable from general property tax revenues. The City has the power under Connecticut statutes to levy ad valorem taxes
on ali taxable property in the City without limit as to rate or amount, except as to certain classified property such as
certified forest land taxable at a limited rate and dwelling houses of qualified elderly persons of low income or qualified
disabled persons taxable at limited amounts. Payment of the Bonds is not limited to property tax revenues or any other
revenue source, but cerain revenues of the City may be restricted as to use and therefore may not be available to pay
debt service on the Bonds.

There are no statutory provisions for pricrities in the payment of general obligations of the City. There are no
statutory provisions for a lien on any portion of the tax levy or other revenues to secure the Bonds or judgments thereon,
in priority to other claims.

The City is subject to suit on its general obligation debt and a court of competent jurisdiction has power in
appropriate proceedings to render a judgment against the City. Courts of competent jurisdiction also have power in
appropriate proceedings to order a payment of a judgment on such debt from funds lawfully available therefor or, in the
absence thereof, to order the City to take all lawful action to obtain the same, including the raising of the required
amount in the next annual tax levy. In exercising their discretion as to whether to enter such an order, the courts could
take into account all relevant factors including the current operating needs of the City and the availability and adequacy
of other remedies.

Enforcement of a claim for payment of principal of or interest on such debt would also be subject to the
applicable provisions of Federal bankruptcy laws and to provisions of other statutes, if any, hereafter enacted by the
Congress or the Connecticut General Assembly extending the time for payment or imposing other constraints upon
enforcement insofar as the same may be constitutionally applied. Section 7-566 of the Connecticut General Statutes
provides that no Connecticut municipality shall file a petition in bankruptcy without the express prior written consent of
the Governor. This prohibition applies to any town, city, borough, metropolitan district and any other political
subdivision of the State having the power to levy taxes and issue bonds or other obligations.

Qualification for Financial Institutions

The Bonds shall NOT be designated by the City as qualified tax-exempt obligations under the provisions of
Section 265(b} of the Internal Revepue Code of 1986, as amended, for purposes of the deduction by financial institutions
for certain interest expense allocable to the Bonds.

Availability of Continuing Information

The City of Meriden prepares, in accordance with State law, annual independent audited financial statements and
files such annual report with the State Office of Policy and Management within six months of the end of its fiscal year.

In accordance with the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) promuigated by the Securities and Exchange
Commisston, the City will agree to provide, or cause to be provided, () annual financial information and operating data,
{ii) timely notice of a failure by the City to provide the reguired annual financial information on or before the date
specified in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and (iii) notices of material events with respect to the Bonds pursuant
to a Continuing Disclosure Agreement to be executed by the City substantially in the forms attached as Appendix C to
this Official Statement.

The City has previously undertaken in continuing disclosure agreements entered into for the benefit of holders of
certain of its general obligation bonds and notes to provide certain annual financial mnformation and event notices
pursuant to Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5). To date the City has not failed to meet any of its undertakings under such agreements.



Ratings

Application was made to Moody's Investors Service Inc. and Fitch Ratings, (the “Rating Agencies™) for a rating
on the Bonds. The City furnished to the Rating Agencies certain information and materials, some of which may not
have been included in this Official Statement. The rating reflects only the views of the Rating Agencies and will be
subiect to revision or withdrawal, which could affect the market price of the Bonds. The Rating Agencies should be
contacted directly for #ts rating on the Bonds and the explanation of such rating.

The City expects to furnish to the Rating Agencies information and materials that it may request. The C1€ys
Financial Advisor, Phoenix Advisors LLC, recommends that all bonded debt be submitted for a credit rating.

The City received a “Aaa” rating from Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and a “AAA” rating from Fitch Ratings
on the Bonds, with the understanding that a financial guaranty insurance policy will be issued by Assured Guaranty
Corporation concurrently with the Bonds. The City received underlying ratings of “A3™ from Moody’s Investors Service
and “A-" from Fitch Ratings, respectively, on the Bonds.

Bond Insurance
The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due will be guaranteed under a financial

guaranty insurance policy to be issued concurrentty with the delivery of the Bonds by Assured Guaranty Corporation.
For more information, please refer to Appendix E - Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy.

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank)



II. The Issuer
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Description of the Municipality

Meriden was settled in 1661, incorporated as a town in 1806, and as a city in 1867. The Town and City were
consolidated in 1922, The City, which covers an area of 24.0 square miles, had a population of 59,552 in 2006, an
increase of 1,409 people since 2000. Meriden is located midway between the cities of Hartford and New Haven in New

Haven County at the crossroads of .91, 1-691, State Rt. 15 (Wilbur Cross Parkway) and U.S. 5. 1-691 links 1-91 and i-
84,

The City includes a unique mix of historic buildings and neighborhoods, affordable housing to working
families, more affluent suburban stvle developments, modern business facilities, a major mall, the largest municipal park
in Connecticut (Hubbard Park) and prominent natural scenic ridge-top areas. There is local transit service, Amtrak and
interstate buses provide passenger transportation connecting the City to major metropolitan centers. Freight serviee is
provided by Conrail and a number of trucking companies. The Meriden-Markham Municipal Airport provides bath
freight and limited passenger service. .

Manufacturing firms produce a diversified product line which includes electronic components,
biopharmaceuticals, printing presses, aircraft and spacecraft components, industrial filters and antipollution equipment,

corrugated boxes, industrial equipment, lighting fixtures, metal alloys, auio parts, and video/data transmission
equipment. '

Form of Government

The City of Meriden has operated under a Council/Manager form of government since December 3, 1979,

Under the City Charter, the legislative branch consists of 12 elected members forming the City Council who
have exclusive legislative and fiscal powers. The Council may, by resclution, regulate the internal operation of boards,
commissions and offices, which it fills by appointment. The City Council appoints the City Manager and the Mayor is
popularly elected to office for a term of two years.

The City Manager is directly responsible to the Council for the supervision and administration of all
departments and offices of the City except those elected by the people or appeinted by state or faderal authority.



A Director of Finance 18 appointed by the City Manager, subject to the approval of the City Council and serves
at the pleasure of the City Council. The Director of Finance is the fiscal officer of the City and is responsible for the
operation and supervision of the Department of Finance.

Principal City Officials

Manner of Years of Empioyed Last
City Officials Name Selection/Term Service Five Years
A% -5 o) S Michael S. Rohde Popularly elected - Director of Dev. - Ronald
McDonald House
City Manager .............o...e. Lawrence J. Kendzior Appointed - indefinite 3.5 Corporation Counsel
Finance Director (Interim}.... James M. Reynolds, CPA  Appoinied - indefinite - Finance Director - City
of Middletown, CT

Superintendent of Schools ... Mary Cortright Appointed - indefmite 5 School Principal

Michael S. Rohde, Mayor: Mr. Rohde will be swomn in as Mayor on July 21, 2008, He succeeds Mark
Benigni, who recently resigned for personal reasons. Mr. Rohde has a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics and
Psychology from St. John Fisher College and a Master's Degree in Human Services Administration from Antioch
University. Since 2003 he has been the Director of Development for the Ronald McDonald House of Connecticut in
New Haven. Mr. Rohde has been elected to five terms on the City Council and was elected Majority Leader twice. He
chairs the Council's Public Works and Parks Committee and serves on the Council Finance Committee.

Lawrence J. Kendzior, City Manager: Mr. Kendzior was appointed as City Manager in June 2005, after
serving as Acting City Manager for five months. He also served as the Corporation Counsel since 19835 and as City
Attorney since 1993, He graduated from New York University, cum laude, and was elected to Phi Beta Kappa. He
received his Juris Doctorate (J.D.) from Boston University. Mr. Kendzior formerly was a partuer in the law firm of
Tonkonow and Kendzior in Meriden, Commecticut.

James M. Reynolds, C.P.A,, Interim Finance Director: James M, Reynolds was appointed as interim Finance
Director on May 27, 2008. He previously served as Director of Finance for the City of Middletown (CT) from 1973 to
2003 and is still involved with that city as a member of their pension board. He has also done municipal finance work
for other Connecticut communities since his retirement. Mr. Reynolds is a graduate of Bryant University and earned his
C.P.A in 1969. He has conducted graduate courses in fund accounting at the University of Hartford and has served on
various committees of the Connecticut Society of Certified Public Accountants and the Connecticut and New England
Government Finance Officers Associations. He is past president of both the Connecticut and New England States
Government Finance Officers Association and currently serves on the audit committee for the NESGFOA.

Mary Cortright, Superintendent of Schools: Mary N. Cortright, Superintendent of Schools, graduated from
University of Connecticut with a Bachelor’s of Art in English. She earned a Master of Science in Education and a Sixth
Year Certificate in Administration and Supervision from Southern Conmecticut State University. She is currently a
doctoral candidate at the University of Connecticut. Mrs. Cortright has worked as a teacher nearly thirteen years, an
Assistant Principal of a middle school for three years, and a Principal of an elementary school for eight years. She has
been Superintendent of Schools for five years.

Summary of Municipal Services

Police: The Meriden Police Department provides full-time police services. The staff consists of 126 sworn
personmnel, two secretaries, four clerks, a crime analyst, 35 school crossing guards, and two dog wardens. There are also
seven Reserve Police Officers. The Meriden Police Department has also expanded the Community Police Division. The
Department’s major equipment includes cruisers, motorcycles, mobxie command post, special service vehicles and
equipment, and a complete radio communications center.

Fire Department: Fire and Emergency Services are provided by a career Fire Department and one volunteer
Fire Department. The career department has 96 sworn fire personnel, two secretaries, and one mechanic. Operating out
of six fire stations and the Fire Marshals Office, the department provides fire suppression, fire prevention, fire code
enforcement, public fire education, technical rescue services, First responder, Emergency Medical Services including
automated external defibrillators, and hazardous materials response.



Traffic: The City is protected by a compietely mdependent fire alarm signal system, Gamewell Signal,
maintained by the Traffic Division of the Department of Public Works. There are over 200 boxes including master
boxes at various locations throughout the City.

This Division is responsible for the installation and maintenance of gll traffic devices, including traffic signals,
warning lights, three (3) closed loop traffic signal systems, and the Master Closed Loop Computer. This Division also
mstalls and maintaing all waming signs, regulatory signs, parking signs, schools crossing signs, and pavement markings.
In addition, this Division maintains 200 omamental fixtures and 5 control cabinets in downtown and 40 omamental
street lights and associated control cabinets in South Meriden,

Parks: The Meriden parks system is the largest municipal parks system in New England. It is comprised of 26
public parks and 17 playgrounds, covering a total area of over 3,120 acres. Recreational facilities inchide ten tennis
courts, 41 ball fields, ten picnic grounds {two with fireplaces), one outdoor swimming pool, a bandshell, a skatepark and
a waterpark. The City of Meriden also owns and operates a 6,593-yard, 18-hole, par-71 golf course with a fuli-service
restaurant. The city parks provide a wealth of recreational opportunities including hiking, playgrounds, concert venues,
and multi cultural festivals.

Airport: The airport is mumicipally-owned. Services are furnished by Meniden Aviation Services, Inc. as the
fixed base operator. The fixed base operafor provides a wide range of aviation services including fiurnishing aviation
fuel, oil and lubricants, aircraft repairs and maintenance, flight training, aircraft rentals, air charter services and aircraft
sales.

The Meriden-Markham Airport is a general aviation facility owned by the City of Meriden and supports both
Hight commercial and general aviation markets. The 119 acre airport facility is located on the boundary line between the
South Meriden section of the city and the Yalesville section of the neighboring Town of Wallingford. Physical features
include a 3,100° x 75" paved and lighted runway and taxiway, four aircraft storage hangars, a maintenance service
hangar, and operations building. Instrument approach procedures with runway visual aids provide all-weather operation
capability and ASOS, automated surface weather observation/reporting service, are located on the airport.
Approximaiely 76 aircraft are based at the airport in single, multi-engine airplane, and rotorcraft categories. The airport
master plan, updated in June 2000, addresses the need for additional aircraft hangars, a new maintenance facility, new
operations building, and additional improvements. Airport improvements continue to be implemented through grants
from the Federal Aviation Administration and the State of Connecticut Department of Transportation combined with
City of Meriden efforts.

Sewers: Meriden presently has a two-stage aclivated sludge wastewater treatment plant with ammonia removal
and high rate digesters. There are 220 miles of sanitary sewers and three pumping stations in the collection and
transportation system. Approximately 90% of the City’s residents are served by this facility. There are 18 employees
assigned to the Sewer Division. A complete $39 million plant upgrade including denitrofication started in January 2008,
The average daily flow is 9.6 million gallons a day; wet weather peaks 30 million gallons a day,

Water: Water service is provided to 17,610 customers in the City of Meriden. Water service is metered
throughout the City and furnishes approximately 6.5 million galions a day. The water system is made up of four surface
water treatment facilities, two major well complexes, two scasonal wells, eight pumping stations and 12.65 million
gallons of storage. The system also consigsts of approximately 217 miles of water lines.

Municipal Solid Waste Services: The City has entered into the Municipal Solid Waste Delivery and Disposal
Contract, as amended and restated {the “Service Contract’”) with the Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority (the
“Authority™} pursuant to which it participates, with four other central Connecticut municipalities, in the Wallingford
Resource Recovery System (the “System™). The System consists of 2 mass bum solid waste, resource recovery steam
and electric generation facility located in the Town of Wallingford (the “Facility”) and various improvements and
facilities related thereto, including landfills. The facility is complete and presently receiving waste from the Contracting
Municipalities.

Under the Service Confract, the City is required to deliver or cause to be delivered to the System solid waste
generated within #ts boundaries up to its minimum commitment of 39,500 tons per year and to pay a uniform per fon
disposal service fee (the “Municipal Disposal Fee”). The aggregate minimum commitment of the five participating
municipalities 8 125,000 tons per year. The City’s commitment to pay Municipal Disposal Fees is a “put/ot/pay”
conmunitment, in that if the aggregate minimuwm commitment of the participating municipalities is not met in any vear, the
City must pay Municipal Disposal Fees for its full portion of the aggregate minimum commitment even if it did not
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deliver that full portion. Over this past year, the aggregate fotal delivered to the System by the five participating towns
was in excess of 135,000 tons.

Pursuant to the amended and restated contract between the Authority and Wailingford Resource Associates, LP.
{the “Company”) the Facility is operated, managed and maintained by OPW Associates, Inc., a whoily owned subsidiary
of Ogden Projects, Inc., and the general partner of the company.

The Municipal Disposal Fee applicable in any contract year is calculated by estimating and netting out the
system cost and system revenue for such contract year, as such terms are defined in the Service Contract. System Cost
includes debt service on the Authority’s revemue bonds issued to finance the system, costs of operation and
administrative costs among other items. System revenue mcludes revenues from the sale of electricity and steam.

Municipal Disposal Fees shall be payable so long as the System is accepting solid waste delivered by or on
behalf of the City, whether or not such solid waste is processed af the Facility, The City’s obligation to pay Municipal
Disposal Fees, so long as the Authority is so accepting the City’s solid waste, is absolute and unconditional and shall not
be subject to any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense (other than payment itself) or other right which the City
may have against the Aunthority or any other person for any reason whatsoever. The City has pledged its full faith and
credit to the payment of Municipal Disposal Fees and has also agreed to enforce or levy and coilect all taxes, cost
sharing or other assessments or charges and take all such other action as may be necessary to provide for the payment of
Municipal Disposal Fees.

Waste Collection: Waste collection, within the inner tax disirict has been contracted to a private hauler since
July 1, 1994, Residents in the outer tax district and all commercial/industrial property owners are responsible for
securing the services of a private hauler to dispose of their solid waste.

Recypeling:  The City has entered into an intra-community agreement with fifteen other Connecticut
municipalities to establish the Tunxis Recyeling Operating Comumittee (“TROC™) for the purposes of meeting the State’s
recycling mandate. Under the agreement, the City is required to deliver or cause to be delivered to the regional
recycling facility, all residential acceptable recyclable materials generated within its boundaries. The City is obligated to
pay all tipping costs for the processing of acceptable recveling materials generated within its boundaries and delivered to
the facility as well as its proportionate share of TROC’s costs on a monthly basis. The tipping fee applicable in any
given contract vear is calculated by estimating and netting out facility costs and 50% of facility revenue for such contract
year. Facility costs include the cost of operation and management of the facility. The City has not pledged 1ts full faith
and credit to the payment of “tipping fees™ or TROC costs.

Economic Development

Meriden has an information technology zone tax incentive program offering real property (ax assessment
deferrals to property owners who improve their buildings to house IT companies. IT companies locating in the buildings
also receive personal property tax abatements.

Meriden also has a state-designated Enterprise Zone, which provides significant tax incentives to manufacturers
and warehousing and distribution companies locating into the zone. Fifty percent of these tax abatements are reimbursed
by the state.

Meriden Manufacturing Assistance Program (MMAP)., Meriden offers subordinate financing to manufacturers
planning to expand their operations in the city or who wish to locate to Meriden. The loans are for real estate acquisition
or improvements and are only offered in conjunction with private financing. Five manufacturers have taken advantage
of this program to date. The program supporis the expansion and retention of the city’s manufacturing base.

The city has a comprehensive program top remediate brownfield sites and return them to active reuse. Over the
past 3 years, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has given the City a total of $2.5 million to help redevelop
Brownfield sites in Meriden. In 2004 the City received a $200,000 assessment grant to test the abandoned Factory H
site. In 2006 the city received a $200,000 EPA grant to remediate the vacant HUB site downtown, In May of 2007, the
City was awarded $600,000 in EPA grants for environmental testing and for clean up of the abandoned Factory H site on
Cooper and Butler Streets. In January of 2008, EPA’s Hazards Removal Division removed hazardous asbestos materials
from the factory H site at a cost to them of $1.5 million. These grants and EPA monetary support the City’s in creation
of more available land for commercial development.

ey
i



Meriden is in its eighth year of a marketing campaign focusing on business retention and business development.
This past year the budget funded trade show exhibiting, marketing promotions, advertising, updates to MeridenBiz.com
(the city’s economic development web site), press releases/story writing for state-wide distribution, and emails
highlighting local development to the commercial real estate community.

The City’s Fconomic Development Office continues to contract with CoStar Inc. to provide real-time, on-fine
access to commercial property databases listing all commercial, industrial properties available for lease or sale in the
Meriden/New Haven region. The database enables staff to provide real-time lease and “for sale” information to
companies wishing to locate to or expand in the city. The database also provides real estate analysis (vacancy rates, lease
histories and property trends/pbotes, and floor plans by building) for distribution to prospects, market research
companies and site selection consultants.

The City’s Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy Plan (CEDS) was approved by the US Economic
Development Administration (EDA) in 2000, This Pian allows the city to apply for funding from EDA for economic
development projects.

Commercial/industrial Development

Castle Bank and Trust Company will soon combine its branch office at 852 E. Main St. and headquarters on
Hanover Street to 1293 E. Main St. which is located at the entrance to Research Parkway. This corner has high
visibility and will showcase Meriden’s local bank.

Accel International Holdings Inc. of Waterbury is in the process of buying and locating its corporate center to
the former TI Automotive facility on North Colony Street. The building is 145,000 sq ft, was built in 1993. TI closed its
operation in 2006, Accel is a wire manufacturer with facilities in Indiana and Turkey.

Ragozzino Foods Inc. is in the process of building a 42,000-square-foot addition to its Chamberlain Highway
property. The company received a $500,000 city loan to help it expand. This longtime pasta and sauce maker is
increasing its freezer and office space, in addition to keeping its 26,000-squarefoot manufacturing plant on site. ‘The
added freezer space will allow Ragozzino to consolidate all of its Connecticut-based operation in Meriden.

The former Walbro Corp. building at 45 Gracey Ave. became the new home for Pyramid Technologies and
United Qil Recovery Inc. Pyramid Technologies is a Meriden manufacturer of high-tech timekeeping systems. It was
formerly located at 48 Elm Street in Meriden. The company needed expansion space due to its expanding proprietary
lines. United Oil Recovery Inc. is a fuel recycler with offices in other buildings on Gracey Avenue.

Ye Olde Book Bindery, formerly in Cheshire, set up shop in the 100-year-old Curtis building at 153 Pratt
Street. More space was needed to expand its services beyond binding and stitching. The company expanded into
11,000 square feet, more than twice the size of its former Cheshire facility.

Abraham Agyeman acquired and invested $150,000 in improvements to the former So Colony Street brewery.
The building is now a warehouse and shipping center for goods headed overseas.

MidState Medical Center, offering exceptional care for people throughout Central CT, is proceeding with plans
for a $45 million, 100,000 sq ft expansion. The addition will include 54 treatment beds and a new enlarged Emergency
Department plus other facility upgrades.

The Community Economic Development Fund paid $2.5 million to buy the former home of Lane Construction
Corp. at 965 E. Main St. The economic development fund provides loans, counseling and cther economic development
assistance to small businesses and mixed-use projects

Arena Capital I Ltd. submitted a proposal to the City to purchase and build a peaking power plant on 23 acres
of land owned by the city located near the Berlin, CT town line, Arena Capital must secure all the necessary permits
before the property transfers.

A national payroll processing company hopes to expand its New England operation by opening a sales office at

130 Research Parkway and another in the Boston area. Compu Pay Inc. of Miramar, Fla., expanded into the state and
chose Meriden for its central location and easy access to highways.
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Downtown Activity and Planned Redevelopment

The 15-acre HUB site, centrally located in downtown Meriden, is the focus of a multi-million dollar
redevelopment effort being led by the City. The City has secured over $2.4 million in State and federal funds to clear the
site to prepare the site for economic develepment opportunities and needed flood control infrastructure. The City
demolished a vacant and deteriorated building on site this past year. The development of an intermodal transportation
center immediately adjacent to HUB site is a key component of this redevelopment effort. It will allow for transit-
oriented development opportunities on the HUB site and throughout the downtown area. The infermodal center will not
only serve Meriden’s existing Amtrak service and the proposed New Haven to Springfield commuter rail line but will
also offer linkages to local bus, taxi and corporate van services. Downtown Meriden has been identified in the New
Haven-Hartford-Springfield Commuter Rail Implementation Study completed by Wilbur Smith Associates in 2005 for
the Connecticut Department of Transportation as 2 key station stop along the proposed New Haven to Springfield
commuter rail line. The intermodal center will provide increased access into and out of the downtown while allowing the
City to atiract new businesses, commuters and residents to the City’s center.

The City has hired the engineering firm, Milone and MacBroom (M&M) and, environmental engineers, Metcalf
& Eddy, to design the conversion of the 15-acre HUB parcel into a downtown park. Harbor Brook, currently culveried
under the site, will be day-lighted and commercial development pads are anticipated. During project design, M&M will
facilitate community meetings to finalize the design concept. M&M will complete final designs, help the City procure
and manage firms to construct improvements and obtain necessary permits. The City has title to the site. Redevelopment
of this site will have a strong positive impact on downtown revitalization efforts.

The City recently submitted a grant application for $1 million to the State’s Office of Policy and Management
to develop, plan and do engineering studies related to siting a new intermodal transportation center downtown and to
solicit developers for the project. The City was mentioned as one of two state pilot cities for this TOD planning
program,

A wireless network provides free Internet access to downtown business owners, residents and visitors. Service,
started in November 2005, begins at the comer of Colony and West Main streets and runs 1000 feet west down West
Main Street and 1000 feet north down Colony Street. City officials believe that free wireless access wili further stimulate
business activity and reinvestment downtown. Meriden is one of only two Connecticut cities offering free WIFI in its
downtown.

Middlesex Community College renewed its lease at 55 W. Main Street and has expanded —oifering additional
classroom and lab space to students. The college now has over 900 full and pari-time students. The college’s presence
has re-energized downtown activity.

The City Councii approved the sale of City-owned properties on West Main and Grove Street to Silver City
Properties, L1.C, of Meriden. Silver City has finished renovations to the property. Upper floors have been converted to
12 artist lofts and new retailers have occupied space on the first floor. Three artist tenants have signed leases and wiil
soon begin to occupy the lofts.

The City completed a comprehensive parking study of the downtown. Fuss & O'Neill made a series of short
and long term recommendations which are currently being implemented. These parking improvements will meet the
additional demand created by downtown reinvestment and development.

The former City-owned properties at 11 and 13-17 Colony Street have been sold to and rehabilifated by a
developer who is marketing the property to attract office, retail and restaurant tenants.

The partners of Outsonrce Solutions LLC paid $500,000 for the shuttered Deguaine Museums and Cuitural
Center at 39 W. Main St, a museusm that once housed the collection of infernational opera diva Rosa Ponselle. The
partners intend to keep it as an arts venue. Sandman Gallery & Frame Shoppe moved recently moved into this building.

An East Haven pastor and his board of directors paid $350,000 Monday for the vacant Unitarian Universalist
Church on the corner of East Main and Norwood Streets across from City Hall.

A national developer has shown significant interest in the Hub property, envisioning a mixed-use transit
district that corresponds with the city’s vision for the 15-acre property.
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The nightlife downtown may be getting a boost if the musicians, comedians and theater companies that Pete
Limosani said are eager to perform at his new Verve Club, Limosani has been refurbishing 55 Colony St., a 20,000-
square-foot building built in 1902,

Mazury Polish Deli recently opened in the heart of downtown Meriden.

The city can move forward with plans to improve West Main Street, thanks to the federal government. The city
has received a grant of $490,000 to do planning and design work as well as some of the needed construction.

Steven Jacques is the owner and founder of Lighthouse Financial LLC, a financial coaching and planning
company that moved to 213 East Main St. Jacques bought the former Hergott Dental Associates building for $220,000,
after the practice moved to larger quarters on Broad Sireet.

Retail/Hotel Development
The following represent highlights to the City’s recent retail development:

Lowe’s Companies Inc. and WP Realty Inc. finished and opened a new 125,000 sq ft Lowes at the Meriden
Parkade on Tast Main Street.

The new Ocean State Job Lot store opened adjacent to the new Lowe’s. This building is Ocean State’s first new
construction in the Rhode Island-based company’s history.

The new Burger King and Walgreen's, on the corner of East Main and Paddock Avenue, was recently
completed and positively changed the whole look of the comner.

A new McDonald’s was built on South Broad Street, across from the new Silver Commons Plaza.

We now have a Cold Stone Creamery, a Starbucks, Sukura Japanese Restaurant and other retailers in Silver
Commons to accommodate your dining and business needs.

Sundad Plaza, located at 1371 E. Main St., broke ground on the 12,000-squarefoot plaza in August 2007 with
Seasons Federal Credit Union as one tenant and several other prospective fenants waiting for cccupancy.

Vincent Scileppi opened his ninth Illiance’s restaurant, in Meriden, at the new Castle View Plaza on West Main
Street. The Plaza is also home to Aaron’s and Dunkin Donuts.

A newly renovated Comfort Suites brightens East Main. The new multi miilion_dollar investment reopened in
February 2007. All the hotel rooms have been recently gutted and refinished. There is a new courtyard, more parking
and an expansive lobby. In addition, the hotel, catering to the business traveler, now includes a breakfast area, banquet
area and a, 3000 sq ft area for a new restaurant. Comfort Suites is owned by Meriden Hotel partners LLC. This is
Meriden’s sixth hotel. All six hotels take advantage of Meriden’s excellent location at the intersection of 1691 and 191.

Municipal and Public Facility Development

The following represent highlights to the City’s recent mumicipal and public facility development:

Government officials have completed a new USPS post office on Center Street, the site of the former Jefferson
School. The new building will be a 31,000 square foot "state of the art" facility with 156 parking spaces for employees
and the public.

The City’s Meriden-Markham Municipal Airport reopened this month after surfacing renovations of the runway

and taxiway. New lighting and a new beacon were also included in the $1.5 million project 98 percent funded by the
Federal Aviation Administration and the CT Department of Transportation.

Lincoin Middle School has been completed and occupied. Tt replaced an aging building with a new state-of-
the-art facility with a special focus on the arts.
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The City has completed a new large ballfield park complex. The twenty acre site on Thorpe Avenue will
greatly expand recreational opportunities for the City’s youth and young adults, and 13 also expected to host regional
sports events.

The City of Meriden built and occupied a new 12,000 sq. fi. animal shelter on East Road.

MidState Medical Center added 31,500 sq. fi. to the hospital and is planning a major addition.

Residential Development

During the two year period July 2004 — 2006, the residential activity was very strong with 237 new housing
units being approved and another 180 units occupied. Some of the major residential; developments include:

Newly Occupied:
- Hidden Valley: 27 single-family homes;
- Maplewood Construction: 13 multi-family units;
- Coppola: 24 mulii-family units — Quarry Lane
-B & L: 180 multi-family units — Pomeroy Avenue;
- Murdy: 1 multi-family units ~ Woodland Street;
- Silver Island Homes: 24 single-family homes
- 201 Prospect Avenue: 13 single-family homes;
- Sperry Lane: 13 single-family homes;
- New Hanover: 6 single~-family homes
- Hollowbrook: 30 multi-family units;
- Bridgestone Commons: 32 single-family homes;
- Cobblestone Subdivision: 39 single-family homes

Community Development Program

The City of Meriden, as an entitlement community under the Housing and Community Development Act of
1674, as amended in 1977 and 1982, has received approximately $27,722.000 in federal funds under the Community
Development Block Grant for fiscal years 1976 through 2004,

Under the Community Development Program, the City has made a major commitment to preserving and
rehabilitating Meriden’s inner-city neighborhoods. To date, some $17 million of Community Development funds has
been coupled with more that $5 million of private funds and $1.6 miilion of City bond funds to implement the
rehabilitation and maintenance of inner-city housing.

Other Community Development projects have included both a wide range of physical development activities
such as a new Senior Citizens Center, a West Side Firchouse, a handicapped facility, a St. Vincent DePaul Homeless
Shelter, the American Silver Museum, the demolition of hazardous structures, and a variety of service delivery programs
for the elderly, low and moderate income persons and infrastructure improvements in inner-city neighborboods.

Additionally, economic development and planning activities in the area of Central Business District
Revitalization, zoning ordinance revisions, and the master plan have been funded. The City has developed a plan for a
spectal targeted neighborhood improvernent program within the inner city.

The City has focused its efforts to ciean up its neighborhoods and to encourage reinvestment in their “inner
core” areas. This focus is achteved through a series of changes to the established loan tools which will encourage more
owner/occupant investment. Also, the City is actively working with the private sector to augment the public loans with
their private funding. Another part of this focus is through a more intense code enforcement effort. Such an effort
includes the assignment of housing inspectors to work with community police officers throughout the “inner-core”.
Consorttums of social service agencies have developed to address vouth problems. The City has assisted the
organization of 28 inner-city neighborhood associations. Lastly, the City has received a $2 million State grant to
demolish the old HUB building in the center of town.

The Meriden Housing Authority has begun the total reconstruction of the 124-unit Chamberlain Heights
housing development. Estimated cost is $13 million.
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Employee Relations and Collective Bargaining

Municipal Employees '

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Generat Government { full-time). .................. T 514 332 549 603 638
Board of Education and State Projects............ 1,046 1,042 1,130 1,083 1,144
Grant / Other Funded (Incl. Cafetenay............ 152 152 99 129 105

TOLAL oo eev e e en e 1,706 1,726 1,778 1815 1,887

H .
Includes mana gemerit and other non-union emplo yees

Employee Bargaining Organizations
Number of  Current Contract
Employees Organization Employees  Expiration Date

General Government

Nurses (Public Health)............. AFSC, Unit &, Comecticut Health Care Assoc.

District 119, A¥L-CIO 22 06/30/09
Public Works. .......ocoiinnnn. Local 740, AFL-CIO ‘ 62 06/30/08
Fire Department.........c.ceeen.n. TIAFF, Local 1148, AFL-CIO 65 06/30/08
Municipal Employees............. Meriden Municipal Employees

Local 595 AFSCME, AFL-CIO 121 06/30/10
Police Department..............c... AFSCME, Local 1016, Council 15, AFL-CIO 110 06/30/08
Middle Management................ AFSCME Supervisors, Local 3430 48 06/30/09
Crossing Guards..........occee e AFSCME Local 3886 38 (36/30/08
Public Safety Digpatch............ AFSCME Dispaichers Local, #1303-405 13 06/30/10

L - 7 539
Board of Education

Paraprofessionals.................. Meriden Association Paraprofessionals 173 (8/31/09
School Teachers...........coeenes Meriden Federation of Teachers 704 08/31/09
Clerical (Education)............... Meriden Federation of Educational Secretaries 80 06/30/09
Custodian (Education)............. Meriden Federation of Municipal Employees 84 06/30/10
Cafeteria (Education).............. Hotel and Restaurant Employees and Bartenders

Umion Local 217, AFL-CIO 60 06/30/09
Education Administrators......... Meriden Federation of Schoel Administrators 32 06/30/10
Education Administrators.......... Meriden Federation of Non-Certified Supervisors 4 06/20/10
Community Educators/ Meriden Federation of Community Educators

Attendance Counselors........... and Attendance Counselors 3 08/31/09
[ T DO 1,140

General Statutes sections 7-473¢, 7-474 and 10-153d provide a procedure for binding arbitration of collective
bargaining agreements between municipal employers and organizations representing municipal employees, including
certificated teachers and certain other employees. The legislative body of an affected municipality may reject the
arbitration panel's decision by a two-thirds majority vote. The State and the employee organization must be advised in
writing of the reasons for rejection. The State wiil then appoint a new panel of three arbitrators to review the decisions
on each of the rejected issues. The panel may accept the last best offer of either party. In reaching its determination, the
arbitration panel shall give priority to the public interest and the financial capability of the municipal employer,
including consideration of other demands on the financial capability of the municipal employer. In the light of the
employer's financial capability, the panel shall consider prior negotiations between the parties, the interests and welfare
of the employee group, changes in the cost of living, existing employment conditions, and the wages, salaries, fringe
benefits, and other conditions of employment prevailing in the labor market, including developments in private sector
wages and benefits.
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Educational Services

School Facilities
Date Dates of Additions/ Number of Enrollment Rated

School Grades Occupied Renovations Classrooms 10/1/07 * Capacity

John Barty.....cooovnn, K-5 1929 19537 1945, 1996 26 540 620
Benjamin Franklin....... K-5 1951 19657 26 432 620
Nathan Hale................ K-35 1956 19657, 1990 31 623 670
Hanover...........ooooii. K-35 1934 1954° 1965, 1954 31 589 585
Thomas Heoker........... K-3 1963 2003 (roof) 21 506 500
Casimir Pulaski............ K-5 1972 2003 (roof) 31 732 646
Israel Putnam.............. Pre K-5 1951 19557, 1990 27 623 620
Roger Sherman............ Pre K-5 1929 1949, 1990 27 589 620
Lincoln.................... 6-8 2005 - 43 T 600
Washington................ 6-8 1984 2007 (roof) 46 868 1,020
Maloney.......ocovvnennns 9-12 1959 1969° 47 1,325 1.400
Platt. oo 9-i2 1958 19697 48 1,213 1,270

Tofals .....c......... 404 8,817 9,171

" There are alsa 4 parochial schools located in the City with an enrollment of approximately 583 Meriden students.
¥ Original building renovaied at the iime additions were constru cted.

 The City owns the Thomas Edison Middle School, a state-of-the-art magnet school focusing on science and lechnology. Students from the Ciy
account for 592 students whose wition of §7.644 is paid 1o ACES (“drea Cooperative Fducation Service”). The Magnet School also includes 1
student from Madisen, 129 swidenis from Midd letown, and 20 sudents from Regional Schael District Number 13 (Durham-Middiefield), 7 students
Jfrom Wallingford, and I student firom Berlin,

Source: Superiniend ent of Schools, Clty of Meriden,

School Enroliment’
Grades

As of 10/01 PreK-5 Grades 6- 8 Grades 9-12 Total

Historical
1999 4,668 1,999 2,133 8,800
206060 4,719 2,053 2,180 8,932
2001 4,735 1,645 2317 8,697
2002 4,805 1,644 2331 8,780
20063 4,807 1,698 2,362 8,897
2004 4,778 1,670 2 408 8,946
2005 4,686 1,608 2,586 8,883
2006 4,645 1,644 2,376 8,865
2007 4,634 1,645 2,538 8,817

Projected
2008 4,584 1,705 2,569 8,858
2009 4,584 1,697 2,955 8,836
2010 4,626 1,696 2,573 8,895
2011 4,686 1,622 2,679 8,987

lSuperr'mendent § Office
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fll. Economic and Demographic information

City of Meriden

Population and Density

New Haven County

State of Connecticut

Actual % Increase/ % Increase/ % Increase/
Year Population® (Decrease) Density® Popuiation  (Decrease) Population  {Decrease)
1960 51,850 17.6% 2,160 660,315 21.0% 2,535,234 26.3%
1970 559359 7.9 2,332 744,948 12.8 3,032,217 196
1980 57,118 2.1 2,380 761,337 2.2 3,107,576 25
1990 55479 4.1 2,478 804,216 5.6 3,287,116 58
2000 58,244 (2.1} 2,427 824,008 2.5 3,405,565 36
2006° 59,552 2.2 2,481 846,828 2.8 3,510,787 31
L1960 - 2060, U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau gf Census.
® Per square mile: 24 square miles.
*Sute of Connecticut, Department of Public Health July I, 2006.
Age Distribution of the Population
City of Meriden New Haven County State of Connecticut
2000 Percent 2000 Percent 2000 Percent
Under5.......cocvninnn, 4,143 7.1% 53,004 6.4% 223,344 6.6%
I B 4338 7.5 57,953 7.0 244,144 72
10 -14. 4182 7.2 58,270 7.1 241,587 7.1
1519 i 3,572 6.1 54,284 6.6 216,627 6.4
2024 3470 6 49.587 6.0 187,571 55
2534 8236 14.1 112,312 13.6 451,640 133
3544 9,355 16.1 134,536 16.3 581,049 171
4554 7,880 13.5 112,863 13.7 480,807 141
55 59 2,796 4.8 41,113 5.0 176,961 52
60 =64 i, 2,061 3.5 30,704 3.7 131,652 39
65 T4 . 3,867 6.6 56,315 6.8 231,565 6.8
T5 =84 3,220 5.6 46,049 5.6 174,345 51
85 yearsand over......... 1.118 1.9 16928 2.1 64.273 1.5
Total..overeeaeen s 58,244 100% 824,008 100% 3,405,565 100%
Median Age (years)....... 36.2 37.0 374

Source: U.S. Department of Conmerce, Bureau of Cens s, 2000

Income Distribution

City of Meriden New Haven County State of Connecticut
Households Percent Households Percent Households  Percent
Less than $10,000.......... 863 5. 7% 9,787 4.6% 33,423 3.8%
$10,000 to 14,999........... 525 3.5 6,664 31 23,593 2.7
$15,000 to24,999........... 1,638 10.9 17,654 83 63,262 7.1
$25,000 t034,999.......... 1,613 10.7 19,593 92 75,413 8.5
$35,000 t049,999........... 2,344 15.5 30,257 143 120,134 13.6
$50,000 to74,999........... 3,725 24,7 49,1635 232 198,924 22.5
$75,000 t099,999........... 2,390 15.8 34,593 163 141,981 16.0
$100,000 0 149,999........ 1,558 10.3 29013 13.7 132,177 14,9
$130 ,000 t0 199,999........ 230 1.6 7902 3.7 42,472 4.8
$200,000 ormore........... 192 1.3 7,250 34 54,368 6.1
Total...cooeeeeenanns 15,087 100% 211,878 100% 885,747 100%

Source: U8 Departmeni of Commerce, Bureau of Census, 2000
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Income Levels

City of M'en'den State of Connecticut
Per Capita Income, 1999, ...l $20,597 $28.766
Per Capita Income, 1989 ... 15,618 20,189
Per CapitaIncome, 1979, ... 7,496 8,598
MedianFamily Income, 1999..........coo, $52,788 $65,521
Median Family Income, 1989, .........oooivviivvennnn. 41,910 - 49,199
Median Family Income, 1979, 21,087 23,151
Percent Below Poverty Level 1999, 11.0% 7.9%

Source: U8, Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1980, 1994, 2606

Educational Attainment
Population 25 years and over

City of Meriden New Haven County  State of Connecticut
Number Percent  Number Percent Number  Percent
Lessthan 9th grade..........oooivniinnnns 2,820 7.3% 33,326 6.0% 132,917 5.8%
9th to 12th grade, no diploma .................... 5,796 15.1 60,411 11.0 234,739 10.2
High school! graduate (includes equivalency) 13,467 35.0 169,936 30.7 653,300 28.5
Some college, no degree......ooviiiiiiiiiineninn. 7,472 19.4 100,410 182 402,741 17.5
Associate’sdegree.............L e, 2,640 6.9 35,126 64 150,926 6.6
Bachelor'sdegree......oovviviniiiiviconvnnennns, 4,127 10.7 84,217 133 416,751 18.2
Graduate or professionaf degree..........oovn 2,182 5.7 68,216 124 304,243 13.2
Totahi i st eie et 38,504 100% 551,642 100% 2,295,617 100%
Percent high school graduate or higher - 77.60% 83.00% 84.00%
Percent bachelor's degree or higher 16.40% 27.70% 31.40%
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census, 2000
Major Employers
As of July, 2008
Approximate
Number of

Name Business Employees
MidState Medical Center ................... Hogpital 1,100
AT & T Telephone Company 890
RESCable. .o Cable Manufacturer 500
Hunters Ambulance .................... Ambulance/Limousine Services 470
CUNO,INC. .o Pumping Equipment and Industrial Filters 350
Canberra. ... Radiation Detection 350
Bobs Stores ..o Retail Distribution Center 336
Target SIores .ooovieiii i Retail Sales 233
BLCOMPANY.....cooovvviiiii e, Engineering Finm 230
Record Journal.........ooovviiiiiin Newspaper 194

TORAL o o e e e st s e xrahs r e e bas be e e aas et i nns 4,653

Source: Finance Department, City of Meriden
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Employment by Indusiry

New Haven State of
City of Meriden County Connecticut

Sector Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent
Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining........ 45 0.2% 1,101 0.3% 7445 0.4%
COmSI T Of . e e e 1,619 5.8 21,826 55 99913 640
Manufacturing. ... ovi e 5,487 19.5 63,053 159 246,607 148
Wholesale Trade. ... 1,173 4.2 13,552 34 53,231 32
Retail Trade. .. ..o e 3,251 11.6 44983 13 185,633 11.2
Transportation and warchousing, and utilities................. 1,186 4.2 16,707 4.2 64,662 338
Information. ... 1,142 4.1 14357 36 55,202 33
Finance, nsurance, real egtate, and rental and leasing........ 2,005 7.1 26,787 6.8 163,568 9.3
Professional, scientific, management, adminisirative, -

and waste management SErviCES. .. v e 2,034 7.2 34,946 8.8 168.334 101
Educational, health and social 8ervices......vovivireeeiennnns 5,910 21.0 101,733 257 366,568 22.0
Arfs, entertainment, recreation, accommodation and -

FOOd SEIVICRS. ..o 1,750 6.2 23,247 59 111424 6.7
Other services (except public administration)................ 1,236 4.4 17,887 43 74,499 45
PUbLIC AGmIIS T aION. .ttt rr e e e eiaraes 1,265 4.5 16,147 4.1 67354 40

Total Labor Force, Empioyed......c..cooeccvreeninsernnina 28,103  100.0% 396,326  100.0% 1,664.440 100.6%
Source: U.S. Department, Bureau of the Census, 2000
Employment Data

By Place of Residence’

City of Meriden Percentage Unemployed

City of New Haven State of
Period Employed Unemployed Meriden Labor Market Connecticut
May 2008....... 29918 2,083 6.5 5.5 53

Annual Average

2007 ... 29,987 1,757 5.3 4.8 4.6
2006.............. 29827 1,706 5.4 4.5 43
2005, 29,295 1,832 3.9 5.0 458
2004, ...l 29,186 1,812 5.8 4.7 4.7
2003 29,237 2,208 7.0 54 5.5
2002 29,503 1,616 5.2 4,1 43
20001l 28,818 1,245 4.1 3.2 33
20000 29,664 950 31 2.3 23
1996, 28,448 1,150 3.9 31 32
1998.............. 28,575 1,208 4.1 33 34

! Nor seasonally adjusied.

Source: Deparfment of Labor, State of Connecticut
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Age Distribution of Housing

City of Meriden New Haven County State of Connecticut
Year Built _ Units Percent Units Percent Units Percent
1999 to March 2000................... 212 0.9% 3466 1.0% 15,993 1.2%
1995t 1998, . 281 1.1 10,518 3.1 47028 34
1990 t0 1994 . 692 2.8 13813 4.1 56,058 4.0
1980 t0 1989 ... 3,103 12.6 44,080 12.9 183,405 13.2
1970 t0 1979 o 3,744 15.2 50,100 14.7 203,377 14.7
1960 t0 1969 ... 3,607 14.6 49468 14,5 212,176 153
1940 to 1959 . 6,656 27.G 88,388 25.9 359,042 259
1939 oreartier.......oooi e 6,333 25.7 80,899 23.7 308,896 22.3
Total housing units, 2000........ . 24631 100.0% 340,732 100.0%  1,385075 100.0%
Percent Owner Occupied, 2000..... 59.9% 63.1% 66.8%

Source: U.S. Deparmment obeJmnerce, Bureau of Census, 2000

Housing Inventory

City of Meriden New Haven County State of Connecticut
Type Units Percent Units Percent Units Percent
1 unit detached................ 11914 48.4% 182,141 53.5% 816,706 58.9%
1-unit attached................. 1,361 5.5 17,763 5.2 71,185 5.1
Z2units.....o 3467 14.1 33,390 9.8 119,585 8.6
Jordunits......ooiieniinn. 2,962 12.0 39,746 11.7 127,032 9.2
Sto9umts...cooivii it 1,346 5.5 19,162 5.6 76,836 5.3
16 1019 umits....ooovveeennnne. 834 34 14,293 4.2 52,697 3.8
20 ormore units............... 2,605 106 32220 9.5 109,740 7.9
Mobilehome................... 142 0.6 1,956 0.6 11,380 0.8
Boat, RV, van, etc............ - ~- 61 -- 6i4 0.0
Total Inventory.............. 100.0% 340,732 100.0%  1,385975 100.0%

24,631

Source; 1.8 Department of Conmerce, Bureau of Census, 2000

Owner-Occupied Housing Values

City of Meriden New Haven County State of Connecticut

Specified Owner-Occupied Units Number  Percent Number Percent Number Percent
Less than $56,000........................ 128 1.1% 1,737 1.0% 5,956 0.8%
$ 50,000t0 % 99996, ... 3,069 27.4 24,648 14.7 85221 117
$100,000 © $149.999. ... 3,790 51.7 35,592 332 212,010 281
$150,000 1 $199,999. ... 1,663 14.9 40,122 239 156397 215
3200,000 10 $299,99%...........e 457 4.1 30,230 18.0 137,499 18.9
$300,000 © $499,000.........cvvinninn 54 0.5 12,121 7.2 79,047 109
$500,000 to $999996. ... 33 0.3 2,634 1.6 38,168 52
$1,000000 ormore......... 8 0.1 436 03 13.9G6 1.9

<< S A W 100.0% 167,540 100.0% 728244 100.0%
Median Sales Price.............ool $119,000 $151,900 $166,900

Sowrce: US Depariment of Consnerce, Bureau of Census, 2000
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Building Permits

2007-08 2006-07 2005-06 2004-05 2003-04
Value Value Value Value Value
SIEIE . coieir e $ 4,022,559 $ 3,281,268 §$ 6573455 $ 9,935,081 $ 7,159,323
Aparfment.........iiiii 82,670 207,345 281,800 10,816,000 133,380
Commercial/Industrial.................. 11,950444 12,572,827 9,577.277 5,732,098 11,175,442
Munieipal. ... 2,150,783 4,077,000 524,000 4,954,057 10,338,711
Other. ..o 7,977,737 0 10,520,029 13255427 14,192,985 10,648,427
All Categories (including abovel...... 336,193,339 $39,820402 $36,211,586 $63,103,430 $32,080,048
Note: 2007-08 data is as of May 31, 2008.
Sowrce: Building Depariment. City of Meriden
Land Use Summary
Total Area Developed Undeveloped
Land Use/Category/Zoning Acres Percent Acres Percent Acres Percent
Residential................................ 7,376 47.4% 5276 33.9% 2,100 13.5%
Commercial/Industrial.,................. 3,577 23.0% 2,602 16.7% 975 6.3%
Streets and Utilities. ... 2,600 12.9% 2000 12.9% - 0.0%
Open SPACE. ..oitiviiiieiiirie e 2,600  16.7% - 0.0% 2,600 16.7%
Totals.. i 15,553 100.0% 9878 63.5%, 5,675 36.5%,

Source: Assessor’s Office, City of Meriden,

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank)
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IV. Tax Base Data
Property Tax

Assessments

The City of Meriden had a general property revaluation effective October 1, 2006. Under Section 12-62 of the
Connecticut General Statutes, the City of Merider must next revalue all real estate in 2011 and every fifth year
thereafter. The next revaluation by phyvsical inspection must be made no later than {en years from the preceding physical
inspection. The maintenance of an equitable tax base, and the location and appraisal of all real and personal property
within the City for inclusion onto the Grand List is the responsibility of the Assessor’s Office. The Grand List
represents the total of assessed values for all taxable real and personal property located within the City on October 1. A
Board of Assessment Appeals determines whether adjustments to the Assessor's list of assessments are warranted.
Assessments for real property are computed at 70 percent of the estimated market value at the time of the last general
revaluation.

When a new structure, or modification to an existing structure, is undertaken, the Assessor's Office receives a
copy of the permit issued by the Building Official. A physical appraisal is then completed and the structure classified
and priced from a schedule developed at the time of the last general revaluation. The property depreciation and
obsolescence factors are also considered when arriving at an equitable value.

All personal property (furniture, fixtures, equipment, and machinery) is revalued annually. An Assessor's
check and audit is completed periodically.

Motor vehicle lists are furnished to the City by the State of Connecticut and appraisals of motor vehicles are
accomplished in accordance with an antomoebile price schedule recommended by the Secretary of the Office of Policy
and Management. Section 12-71b of the Connecticut General Statutes provides that motor vehicles which are registered
with the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles after the October first assessment date but before the next July first are
subject to a pro rated property tax, which is a supplement to the preceding Grand List. The tax is not due until January
first, a vear and three months after the grand list date.

Preperty Tax Collectfion Procedure

Property taxes are levied on all taxable assessed property on the grand list of October 1 prior to the beginning
of the fiscal vear. Real Estate taxes are payable i four quarterly instaliments (July 1, Ociober 1, January 1 and April 1).
Personal property taxes are payabie semi-annually (July 1 and January 1) and motor vehicle taxes are due in one single
payment on July I. A modest estimate for outstanding interest and lien fees anticipated to be collected during the fiscal
vear is normally included ag a revenue item in the budget. Payments not received within one month after the due date
become delinquent, with interest charged at the rate of one and one-half percent per month from the due date on the tax.
In accordance with State law, the oldest outstanding tax is collected first. Qutstanding real estate tax accounts are liened
gach year prior to June 30. Delinguent motor vehicle and personal property accounts are transferred to a suspense
account after three years at which time they cease to be carried as receivabies. All taxes are transferred to suspense 15
vears after the due date in accordance with State statutes.

Property tax revenues are recognized when they become available. Available means due or past due and
receivable within the current period or expected to be coliected soon enough thereafter {within 60 days) to be used to
pay liabilities of the current peried. Property taxes receivable not expected to be collected during the available period
are reflected as deferred revenue.

Section 12-165 of the Connecticut General Statirtes, as amended, requires each municipality to write off, on an
annual basis, the property taxes which are deemed to be uncollectibie.
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Comparative Assessed Valuation

Commercial/

Grand Residential  Industrial Personal  Motor

List as Real Real All Land Property Vehicle Gross Taxable Less Net Taxable Percent

of 10/1_ Property (%} Propetrly (%) {%) (%) (%) Grand List  Exemptions  Grand List __Growth
2007 618 210 0.4 8.7 72 § 3,879478 § 220,274 $ 3.659204 1.4%
2006 ' 622 222 0.3 8.1 72 3,830,329 221,915 3,608414 49.1%
2005 345 232 0.4 11.5 164 2,561,231 140,582 2,420,049  2.0%
2004 547 234 0.4 11.6 9 2,521,867 148,428 2,373,439 1.5%
2003 539 236 0.4 12.9 g2 2,531,816 193,055 2,338,821 0.3%
2002 532 240 0.4 12.8 9.6 2,342 470 211,036 2,331434  0.1%
2001 55.5 239 0.4 10.4 9.8 2,419,954 90,129 2,326,825 20.0%
2000 56.2 - 187 0.6 13.2 113 2,037,758 96,222 1,941,536 1.3%
1999 567 18.7 0.6 13.2 10.8 2,012,151 95,922 1,916,229 1.6%
1998 37.1 131 257 14.1 100 1,987,068 100,557 1,886,511  2.9%

] .
Revaluation.

Note: Land use categories have been consolidated on the M-13 report filed with the Secretary of Stafe effective with the 10/1/99 grand list. Prior years may rnol
be comparable.

Sowrce: City of Meviden, City Assessor's Office

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank)
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Property Tax Levies and Collections

Uncollected
Percent of Percent of
Fiscal Annual Levy Annual Levy Percent of
Grand Year Collected af Uncollected at  Annual Levy
Listas Ending Net Taxable Milt Total Tax End of Fiscal End of Fiscal Uncollected
of 10/1 6/30 Grand List District  Rate Levy Year Year as of 5/31/08
2006 2008'  $3.608414217 LIS 2796 ¢ 102,811,331 971 2.9 T collection
Second 231
2005 2007 2420,649,275 LSt 422 0p471,478 973 2.7 110
Second 231
First 4034
2004 2006 2373437,388 97,596,621 963 3.7 077
Second 2.31
2003 2005 2.338.867.898 First 39.09 92,971,816 970 3.0 050
Second 19
2002 2004 2331434357 TSt 373 46.939,798 963 3.7 053
Second 19
2001 2003 2320824 832 LISt 36 24733807 963 3.7 045
Second 18
2000 2002 1041,535,686 | IO 404 78,356,632 959 41 0.56
Second 2.1
First
1999 2001 1016229,649 . 404 78,808,547 94 4 5.6 044
Second 2.1
1998 2000 1,886510,860 LISt 338 68,779,625 950 5.0 044
Second 2.1 :
1997 1999 1.833812,830 Lt 358 66,813,524 933 6.7 043
Second 2.1

" Taxes for the fiscal year are paid on the Grand List of October I prior to the beginning of the fiscal year, and are due and payable in four guarieriy
installments (July 1, October 1, January 1, and April 1) for real estate. Personal property taxes are payable semi-annually (July 1 and Jamuary 1) and
motor vehicle taxes are due in a single payment on July 1. Failure to pay an installment within one maonth of the installment due date makes the insiallment
delingquent and subject to interest charges of 1 1/2 per month (18% per annum). Rea! Estate is liened jor delinguent taxes within one year after the due
date. The amount collected to the end of each fiscal year represents collection of twelve months.

Source: City of Meriden, Tax Collector’s Office

Ten Largest Taxpayers
Percent of

Taxable Net Taxable

Name Nature of Business Valuation  Grand List'

Meriden Square #3 LLCetal................... Shopping Center $ 141,266,270 3.86%
Compater Sciences Corp....ooooiiii.e. Telecommunications Data Center 53,973,960 1 48%
Connecticut Light & Power .....ocveiiiienne. Public Utility 39,802 840 1.09%
Urstadt Biddle Properties, Inc. ..o, Shopping Center 23,350,67G 0.64%
Radic Frequency SystemsInc. ........oooineen, RF Communications Manufacturer 22,270,460 3.61%
Yankee Gas ................ e Pablic Utility 19,289,670 0.53%
Carabetta Enterprises, ¢ ...o.vivvieenainennn. Real Estate Developer 14,999,610 0.41%
AT&T Mobility LEC.......oo Telecommunications 14,940,050 0.41%
Newberry Village Development, Inc. .........] Residential Real Estate 12,705,460 0.35%
Denmeri Associates P Office Building 11,593 880 0.32%

O $354,192.870 9.68%

' Bused on a net taxable grand list 1071707 of $3,659,204,000.
Source: Assessor’s Qffice, City of Meriden

]
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V. Financial Information

Fiscal Year
The City’s fiscal year begins July 1 and ends June 30.

Basis of Accounting and Accounting Policies

The City’s accounting system is organized on a fund basis and uses funds and account groups fo report on its
financial position and results of operations. The City’s accounting records are maintained on a modified accrual basis,
with revenues recognized as they become both measurable and available and expenditures recognized when incurred.
(See Appendix A — “GENERAL PURPQOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Notes to Financial Statements’ herein.)

Governmeintal Fund Types

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds and account groups, each of which is considered a
separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund and account group are accounted for with a separate set of seif-
balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, equity, revenues, and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate.
The various funds and account groups are grouped as follows in the financial statements.

Governmental Funds

General Fund - is the general operating fund of the City and operates under a legal budget. It is used to
account for all financial transactions except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Special revenue funds — are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted to
expenditures for specified purposes.

Capital projects funds - are used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction
of major capital facilities, other than those accounted for in the enterprise funds,

Proprietary Funds
Enterprise funds — are used to account for operations:

a. that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises;

b. where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenue eamed, expenses incurred,
and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability
or other purposes.

The City’s enterprise funds are its water fund, sewer authority, and golf course.
Internal service funds — are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department

or agency to other departments or agencies of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis. The City’s internal
service funds are its medical self-insurance fund and workers” compensation fund.

Fiducigry Funds

Trust and agency funds — are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent on
behalf of others. Trust funds comsist of expendable, nonexpendable, pension trust funds, and the post
employment healthcare fund.

Account Groups

General Fixed Assets Account Group — is used to account for all property and equipment of the City, other than
those accounted for in the proprietary fonds. The amounts reported in this account group are unaudited.

General Tong-Term Debt Account Group - is used to account for all long-term lisbilities of the City expected
to be financed from governmental funds. The principal payments made on long-term debt are disbursed from
the General Fund.
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Budgetary Procedures

Budget Calendar
Timeline Action

At least 180 days before fiscal yearend ...ovevenees, Final date for budget estimates to be submitted by Department
Heads to Finance Director and by Finance Director to City
Manager.

Not later than 12¢ days before fiscal year end...... Final date for City Manager to submit proposed budget to City
Council.

Not later than 75 days before fiscal year end........ Final date for City Council to hold a public hearing on the
proposed budget.

Within 20 days of last public hearing ................... Date by which budget must be adopted by City Council.

Within 5§ days of adoption by council.......c.ocon.n. Final date Mayor has veto power on a line item basis only.

City Council may override any line item veto by a two-thirds
(2/3) vote of the entire body.

Within 10 days of final adoption .....cvvivcecene, Date by which tax rate must be set by City Council.

For additional information, see Appendix A — “FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Note #3 — “Budgets and
Budgetary Accounting” to the “General Purpose Financial Statemenis™ herein.

Annual Audit

Pursuant to the Municipal Auditing Act (Chapter 111 of the Connecticut General Statuies), the City is obligated
to undergo an annual examination by an independent certified public accountant. The audit must be conducted under the
guidelines issued by the State of Connecticut, Office of Policy and Management, and a copy of said audit report must be
filed with the Office of Policy and Management. The City of Meriden is in full compliance with said provisions. For
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, the financial statements of the City were audited by the firm of Levitsky & Bemey,
Certified Public Accountants and Consultants attached hereto as Appendix A,

Pension Plans

See Appendix A -- "FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Note #10 - “Employee Retirement Plans” to “General
Purpose Financial Statements” herein.

Other Post Employment Benefits

In addition to providing pension benefits, the City provides certain health care (medical, prescription drug, and
a small number with dental) benefits for retired employees. Substantially all of the City’s employees may become
eligible for those benefits if they reach normal retirement age while working for the City. The benefits are fixed by
coniract, but may be amended by union negotiation.

Then City’s retiree health insurance program is funded for under 63 on a self-insured basis and on an insured
basis for over 65. The coast of retiree health care benefits is a recognized expenditure when claims under the
selflinsured portion of the program or premium under the insured portion of the program are paid. In addition to the
payment of claims under the selfQinsured portion of the program, the City pays monthly administrative fees.

The total aumber of retirees participating in the health imsurance plan for Fiscal Year 2006-07 was 361 of
which 14 also participated in the dental plan. The total cost (net of retiree contributions) was $5.3 miilion.

Given the magnitude of the liability and the potential to reduce future costs, the City began to contribute to a
fund set aside for OPEB benefits. To date, $4,250,000 has been set aside into an OPEB fund. The City is currently in
the process of updating the actuarial valuation to Jane 30, 2008.

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumption zbout the probability of
occusrence of future events. Assumptions include future employment, mortality, and healthcare and other benefit cost
trends. The Government Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) has issued statements to establish financial reporting,
liability calculation, along with the requirement ¢o disclose the government’s funding sirategy and progress.



Although the City has not established a trust fund, as for June 30, 2008, to irrevocably segregate assets to fund
the liability associated with post-employment benefits, which would require the reporting of a trust fund in accordance
with GASB guidelines, an actuarial valuation was prepared to value the estimated accrued lability, as of June 30, 2606
and the annual required contribution (ARC) for the subsequent year ending June 30, 2007. The following reflects the
assumptions and results of the actuanial report (in thousands):

Valeation Date ..o July 1, 2006

Actuarial Cost Method....oovveiivvervnnens Unit Credit Cost Method
Remaining Amortization Period ....... 30 Years

Actuarial Assumptions

- Investment Rate of Return......cvon. 8.0%

- Benefit cost trend........oooovevnnneneen 10% - declining to 5.0% in 2013 & after
Actuarial acerued lability

- REtIees vt $58,901

= ACTIVES ot vrrerre vt esieecrreesreeeareenes $64,813

w TOMEL e $123,714

- ARC (FYE lune 30, 2007): ............ $11,289

Asg of June 30, 2008, the funding and payment of post-employment benefits are accounted for in an internal
service fund and a trust fund. The City is currently developing a funding strategy to provide for normal cost and the
amortization of the accrued liability. Although a trust fund may not be established in the future to exclusively control
the funding and reporting of post-employment benefits, since a combination of trust fund and internal service fund
control may be used, the City anticipates a comunitment to fund normal cost and a long-term approach to the
amortization of the actuarial liability.

Investment Policies and Procedures

The City Charter and Sections 7-400 and 7-402 of the Connecticut General Statutes govern the investments the
City is permitted to acquire. Generally, the City may invest in certificates of deposit, municipal notes and bonds,
obligations of the United States of America, including joint and several obligations of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Association, the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation, obligations of the United States Postal Service, all the
Federal Home Loan Banks, all Federal Land Banks, the Tennessee Valley Authority, or any other agency of the United
States government, and money market mutual funds.

The City of Meriden manages the investient of its funds in compliance with its Charter and the Connecticut
General Statutes.

The City’s investment policies and investments relative to the City’s retirement and deferred compensation
funds are available upon request to the Director of Finance.



General Fund - Comparative Balance Sheet

Actual 2007 Actual 2006 Actual 2005 Actual 2004
Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents...................... $ 22967437 0§ 19,193358 § 16,652,109 $ 16,247,616
Investments. . .o v e - - - -
Receivables:
Property Taxes.......ocoovviiiiiini 4,529 830G 3,174,454 4,682,193 3,169,961
Accounts Receivable..............coovvv e 039,463 257,217 540,187 563,660
Federal and State Governments............... 877,038 2,298,514 3,681,963 1,507,941
Inventory......ooiii 108,962 - - -
Other ASSetS. ...vviiieieeie e, - 78,581 79,200 99,222
Pue from Other Funds.......................... 350,566 327,786 5215988 363,361
Advance to GolfFund.......................... 963,600 988,600 988,600 988,600
Total ASSets....cooocvvinnviiiiccnnninnnnnn. 330,736,806 % 26,318,510 $ 31,840,242 $ 22,940,361
Liabilities and Fund Balance:
Liabilities: Actual 2007  Actual 2006  Actual 2005  Actual 2004
Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Liabifities......, $ 13,775,650 S 11,913,090 § 14,657,024 § 16,834,976
Cash Overdraft.......cooviiiiri e - - - -
Dueto Other Funds.......ooooovii e 420,619 - - -
Peferred Revene.....o.oooov i 5,047,048 4,593,787 7,571,066 2,588,624

Total LIaBilities. .........c.....coovvvuesinessenmnessnnns $ 19,243,317

Municipal Equity:

Fund Balances:
Reserved for:

$ 16,506,877

§ 7,571,066

$ 19,423,900

Encumbrances .....ooovee o § 296,160 § 259,555 % 38460 % -
Donor Restrictions ..., 13,820 269,864 247,435 -
Tong Term Advances ......ocoeiiivverieiiiieinniinns 963,600 088,600 OR8,600 088,600
DebtPayments ..o 1,875,000 3,500,000 5,000,600 -
Enabling Legislation............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiennns, 4,701,001 1,784,411 - -
Flood Control ... - - 1,484,734 703,000
Unreserved:
Unreserved, Undesignated .........coovvviinvnernnrnnn. 3,643,968 3,009,203 1,832,023 1,824,861
Total Municipal EQUIEY........c.ovceeeeriiiaeeiciecenn, $114933579 § 9811633 § 9612152 § 3,516,461
Total Liabifities and Fund Balance ................ $30,736,896  $26,318,510 $17,183,218 $22,940,361

(The remainder of this page intentionally lefi blank)
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Three Year Summary of Audited Revenues and Expenditures (GAAP Basis)

General Fund Revenues and Expenditures

And Estimated Actuals & Current Budget (Budgetary Basis)

Revenues:
Property Taxes.......coovnnn.
Intergovernmental.............
Charges for services..........
Investment Income...........
Other Revenues. 2.............
Transfers In................. 3
Fund Ralance Aliocation....
Total Revenues and
Transfers In............

Expenditures:
Current:
General government........
Finance........c.ocoeevvnnns.
Public safety.................
Public works........oovee.
Health & Welfare...........
Cultural & Recreation. . ....
Education.?.............ce...
Debt Service.........c.oeovnees
Capital Outlay.................
Transfers Cut..................
Total Expenditures and
Transfers Out.............

Operating Resulis ...........
Fund Balance, July 1 ......

Adjustments to Beginning
Fund Balance.................
Fund Balance, June 30 .....

! Budgetary basis, subject to anudit.

Estimated
Unaudited GAAFP Actual GAAP Actual GAAP Actual
Budget 2009 2008 ! 2007 2006 2005

$104,524,100  $102,120,000 $103,735,166 95,955,630 91,365,055
60,923,144 60,013,000 62,904,894 60,209,360 59,251,401
5,642,596 5,140,000 5,630,423 5,649,007 6,145,088
1,400,060 1,375,000 1,871,308 1,395,995 681,633
4,158,469 4,035,000 4,539,833 4,172,296 5,047,207
- 100,000 100,006 100,000 5,150,000

275,000 2,031,000 - - -

$176,923,309

28,804,615
1,645,268
19,847,334
7,067,745
3,030,828
3,913,018
98,165,522
13,938,579
510,400

$ 174,818,000

24,232,589
1,632,681
19,229,000
8,070,000
2,940,000
3,702,730
97,051,000
17,026,000
852,000

$178,781,624

26,055,557
1,941,515
18,607,636
6,038,496
2,929,846

. 3,755,945
99,267,133
18,063,938

439,612

$ 167,482,288

17,757,578
28,129,333
6,617,173
3,269,905
93,307,731
17,959,146

241,941

5 167,640,384

40,218,634

17,440,527
5,902,541
2,840,481

78,349,396
15,866,876

400,000

$176,923,309

§ 174,736,000

$177,099.678

$ 167,282,807

$ 161,018,455

. $2,000 1,681,946 199,481 6,621,929
N/A 11,493,579 9,811,633 9,612,152 3,516,461

. . . - (526,238)
N/A N/A § 11,493,579 $ 9,811,633 $ 9,612,152

® Inchudes paymen! from Meriden Gas Turbings LLC (Power Plant in the amount of $3,079.610 jor fiscal year 2005 32,798,465 for fiscal vear 2006;
51,300,000 for fiscal year 2007 and $2,832,906 for fiscal yeor 2008

3 Designated for debt vepayment

* 45 of Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2006, Fducation Heqlth Insurance are included in the Education line item. They had previously been included in the

General Governiment expense line item.
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Reserved for:

Analysis of General Fund Equity

Encumbrances

Donor Restrictions

Long Term Advances.................

Debt Payments
Enabling Legislation
Flood Control.....

Unreserved Undesignated...............

Total Fund Balance

Undesignated Fund Balance
as % of Total Expenditures.......

{GAAP Basis)
Estimated
Budget Unaudited GAAP Actual  GAAP Actual GAAP Actual
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
N/A N/A 3 296,190 § 256,555 3 38460
N/A N/A 13,820 269,864 247,435
N/A N/A 963,600 988,600 988,600
NiA N/A 1,875,000 3,500,000 5,000,000
N/A N/A 4,701,001 1,784,411 -
N/A N/A - - 1,484,734
NA N/A 3,643,968 3,009,203 1,832,923
N/A N/A $11,493,575 $ 6,811,633 $ 0,612,152
N/A N/A 2.1% 1.8% 1.1%

Source: Audit Reports 2005-2007; Estimated Unaudited fiscal year 2008 and Budget for fiscal vear 2009, City of Meriden

Intergovernmental Revenues as a Percent of General Fund Revenues

Fiscal Year Intergovemmental General Fund Revenues
Ended June 30 Revenues and Transfers Percent
2009 ! 60,923 144 $ 176,923,309 34 .43%
2008 2 60,013,000 174,818,000 3433%
2007 62,904 894 178,781,624 35.19%
2006 60,209,360 167,482,288 3595%
2005 59,251 401 167,640,384 35.34%
! Adopted Budget.

? Estimareds Una udiied,

Sowrce: Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports; 2005-2007.

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank)
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Enterprise Funds
Comparative Balance Sheet
As of June 30, 2007

George Hunter
Assets; Water Sewer Memorial Golf
Current assets:

Casgh and cash equivalents. .......ooooveiiiiiiieiinanann. $ 975733 $ 554929 S 16,025

Receivables (net of atlowances for collection losses):

USEr ChATEES. oottt et ettt e 1,240,705 1,202,675 -
Unbilled Services.....oooivr i vineereea s 1,905,603 1,667,119 -
T e e e e 30,818 34,629 20,352

Due fromother funds. ... 3.396,516 1,749,173 43,945

IVESHIETYIS . .. oottt e e e 6,220,000 5,535,000 220,000
Total Current ASSelS....c.vcveevirsnsrnssiererrereenerrmmmen 13,769,375 10,743,525 300,322

Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets {net of accumulated depreciation)........... 45,598,163 51,931,212 945,540
Total Noncurrent ASSets.........ccovveevvinarinsinnnenisn, 45,598,163 51,931,212 543,540
TOLa] ASSOIS. . ovviivceeerrasnrnssssrerrrensersnscssnsssessassns 59,367,538 62,674,737 1,245,862

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and acerued liabilities................... 763,709 4614135 104,131

Temporary Note payable. ..o e 3,838,000 799,000 50,0600

Bonds payable - current......o 1,363,644 851,888 16,267

Dueto other funds.......ov i - - .
Total Current Liabilities ....c...ccooviviisiiviiiviininiinnnnns 5,965,353 2,112,303 170,398

Noncurrent liabilities:

Bonds payable. ..o e 5,860,097 3,865,542 124,665

Long term claims payable ... - - -

Advance fromgeneral fund. ... - - 963,600
Total Noncument Liahilities.........ooooevvvvvveeceei, 5,860,097 3,865,542 1,088,265
Total Liabiliie S....cvovceeeivsir st verirnanernnasssseeaearnnnens 11.825.450 5.977.845 1,258,663

Net Assets:
Invested i capital assets (net of related debd)............. 34,536,511 46,414,782 754,668
Unrestricted. oo i 13,005,666 10,282,110 {767 A09)

Total Net ASSEES....ccovviisviinnrincrirrrsmemsaceninsiscnnoe $47.542.177 $56.696.892 3 (12801
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Water Fund

Historical Comparative Balance Sheet

Assels: Actual 2067 Actual 2006 Actual 2005 Actual 2004
Cuwrent Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents...........oooiveeevevienns, $ 975,733 $ 469974 § 660,066 § 7,865,405
Receivables (net allowance for collection losses):
Use Charges T TP 1,240,703 955,060 1,047,678 989,134
Unbilled Usage........oooooiiiiiiiiiii 1,905,603 2,116,468 1,843,678 2,102,980
181311 PP 30,818 - 24 767 -
INVESHTIENIS. ...\ttt et et et e e, 3,396,516 7,083,000 7,440,060 -
Due fromotherfunds. ..., 6,220,000 24.936 960,080 -
Total Carrent ASSEIS. . oitv it iierir v rarererans 13,769,375 10,651,438 11,976,269 10,957,519
Fixed Assets:
Capital ASSES. .oo.iee i 45.568,163 44 842 652 45,092,886 47,037,996
TOtal ASSOIS ... oonrieeesre e i ene e evnearans $59367.538 $55.494.000  $57.069,155 $57.995,515
Liabilities and Municipal Equity:
Current Liablilities’
Bond Anticipation NOeS......ooovivevivrverinniiins % - $ - 3 - § 2,570,265
Bonds Payable ~Current...........ooo o 1,363,644 1,052,840 877,540 817,340
Temporary Note Payable..........cooooiininnn 3,838,000 - - -
Bonds Payable........o.o 5,860,097 53,357,941 6,410,781 2,466,820
Dueto Gther Funds. ... - - - 966,129
Accounts Payable & Other Accrued Liabilities........ 763,700 878,752 982,060 1,156,601
Total LiabilHieS. .....covvvivvrviiiiseinveisressenrnsns 11,825,450 7,286,333 8,270,381 7,977,155
Net Assets:
Invested in Capital Assets........ooovviiinicennae. 34,536,511 43,789,812 38,764,645 40,979,322
Umrestricted. o 13,005,666 4414,745 10,034,129 9,039,038
Total Net ASSCIS...ovvviviiiiiieiireernineinrannsirrinnen, 47542 177 48,204,557 48,798,774 50,018,360
Total Liabilities and Net Assets Equity.......... $59367 627 $55,494,090 $57.,069,155 $£57.995 515

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank)
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Sewer Authority

Historic Comparative Balance Sheet

Assels: Actual 2007  Actual 2008 Actual 2005 Actual 2004
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents., .......coooviiiiine. $ 554929 % 20,887 § 169,835 § 4,844174
IVeStmEnIS . ... e e 5,535,000 5,880,000 5,348,600 -
Sewer Use Charges Recetvable.................oenl, 1,202,675 017,663 1,011,972 058,864
Estimated Unbilled Usage.........oooooiiiiiiian... 1.667,119 1,600,325 1,398,729 1,778.935
Other Accounts Receivables...........o.oooiinl. 34,629 - 8,258 81,058
Due fromother fimds. ... 1,749,173 - 602,615 -
Total Current ASsetS.........cocoveniiiiiinnnnan, 10,743,525 8,418,875 8,539,409 7,663,031
Fixed Assets:
Capital ASSEtS. .oovei e 51,931,212 52,663,671 52,646,804 54,979.202
T0ta] ASSOES....cooeeveee v ievvvevirssvirinsanesrs e s $62.674.737 _ $61.082.546  $61.186.213  $62.642233
Liabilities:
Current Liabilities:
Dueto Other Funds........oooiiivviriii v iriierininne $ - § 699,232 $ . 5 -
Bond Anticipation Notes.............ooooivi o - - - -
Temporary Note Payable........o..cooin, 799,000 - - 1,965,705
Accounts Payable & Other Current Liabilities........ 461,415 544,271 528,176 455,153
Bonds Pavable.. ... 3,865,542 2,496,530 2,968,218 3,072,535
Bonds Payable — Current......ooooiii i, 851,888 471,688 407,188 316,588
Total LiabilitieS.......cc.cocvrvivriisiinsasinsisssisseraens 5.977.845 4.211.721 3.903.582 5 800081
Net Assets:
Invested in Capital Assets. ..., 46 414,782 51,492,751 49,874,013 47,668,259
Unrestricied. .o e 10,282,110 5,378,074 7,408,618 9,163963
Total Netf ASSEtS.........ccovvvverinnninrcnncnmrsnennenss 36,696,802 56,870,825 57,282,631 56,832,252
Total Liabilifies and Net AssetS.........cceeeuvees $62.674,737  $61,082,346 861,186,213 $62,642.2133

(The remainder of this page intentionally lefi blank)
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Golf Course

Historic Comparative Balance Sheet

Assets! Actual 2007  Actual 2006  Actual 2005 Actual 2004
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents..........ccoocviviiiniinnnn, $ 1e025 8 23912 8 22796 § 225,430
Charges Receivable, Net...........oiiiiinnn, - 13,001 12,983 -
ARt 4 01y ) P VD 220,000 224,730 250,000 -
Pue from OtherFunds. ... 439453 - - -
L 1T R S OSSO 20,352 - - 11,626
Total CLTent ASSeIS......ovvvvseeerrienrresssennrersssreens 300,322 261,643 285,779 237,056
Property and Equipment, Net.........oooviiiiiiiiniennn, 045 540 1,012,559 1,173471 1,173,471
TOLA] ASSOES.vrvrieersieeeseoeeieereresaesvreeaesasssaraas $1,245862  $1,274202  $1,459250  $1.410.527
Liabilities and Fund Equity
Liabilities:
Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Liabilities........ $ 104131 $ 86994 § 095785 § 81,667
Dueto Other Funds........ooi i - - - 24,226
Bond Anticipation Notes.........ciiiiiiiiiii i, - - - -
Temporary Note Payable.............oo, 50,000 - - -
Bonds Payable. ..o 124,665 117,332 127,999 138,666
Bonds Payable ~ Current.......... e 16,267 10,667 13,667 13,917
Advance from Gereral Fund................................ 963,600 088,600 988,600 G988, 600
TOUA] LiGBIIE S.vcee oo eeaesecveetsresissean, 1.258.663 1,203.593 1,223051  1.247.076
Net Assets: .
T TN —— (767,409)  (931,283)  (798,606) 59,135
Investedin Capital..o.ooooiiiii 754,608 1,001,892 1,034,805 104,316
Tofal Net ASSOIS......ccveiivivinrrrvccreaiiannacennn e {12,801} 70,609 236,199 163,451
Total Liabilities and Net ASSeS......oovvvveeeeeeeeniireenen,  31,245862 51274202 §1,459250  §1 410,527

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank)
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Enterprise Funds

Comparative Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

As of June 30, 2007

George Hunter

Water Sewer Memorial Fund
Operating Revenues
Charges fOr $eTVICES. ..o et cniacaann § 6,760,906 § 6,141,622 3 772,396
Miscellaneous. ... 560,755 881,102 14,898
Total operating revenues................. PR 7,321,661 7.022,724 787,294
Operating Expenses
Salaries, benefitsand claims. ...l 3,109,443 1497126 448,999
Materials and supplies............. O 736,434 1,072,435 192,974
f 8] T=T SR 1,055,185 935,962 -
Administration and operation................... S 1,010,781 500,783 27,193
Depreciation........oooivviniiiri o 1,568,894 1,956,737 53,875
DT, e e e 465,199 1,335,375 151,842
Total operating expenses............cccovavsssinenss 7,945,936 7.298.418 874,883
Opeérating income {I0S58).......ccccvevviiiniiiiinnn, (624,275) {275,694} (87,589)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
INterest INCOMIE. ... ot eiaieas 291,499 282,989 10,341
INterest EXPemSC...ooiii it (329.693) (181,228) (6,162)
Total nonoperating revenues {expenses)........ (38.194) 101,761 4,179
Change in nef assSetS.........coeeevvvvrvvreeiisennansee, (662.469) {173,933) (83410)
Net Assets (Deficit), beginning..........ccccceccunsvnn. 48 204,557 56,870,825 70,609
Net Assets (Deficit), ending...................o § 47,542,088 §$356696,892 % (12,801)
' GASE 34,
Water Fund
Historical Comparative Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
Actual 2007 Actual 2006 Actual 2008 Actual 2004
Operating Revenues:
Charges 0 SEEVICES. .. .ot vvrisiirirerrreareie e $ 6,760,906 § 6272650 § 6,724,188 § 06,468,766
Miscellaneous. ...t 560,755 138,738 73,756 425,146
Fiscal DIVISION. . coviiviic e - 1,046,848 1,036,763 1,017,395
Total Operating ReVenuUe ......cccecevvrvsrirsssrsesns. 7,321,661 7458,236 7,854,707 7.911,307
Total Operating Expenses Before Depreciation.. ... (6,377 042} {6,362 227) (6,359,861) (6,614,259
Operating Income Before Depreciation............... 944,619 1,696,609 1,494,846 1,267,048
Less Depreciation....ooovovreiieunnvneciaceacee e {1,568.894) {1,523,024) (1,458,691) (1,602,648)
Operating Income (LOSS}...ccccevviivivnniinvcninenan, {624,275) {427,015) 36,155 {305,600)
Add: Tnterest INCOMe. ... 291,499 262,237 116,805 172,013
Tess: Inderest Expense..........oooiiiiiin, (329,693) {429,439) (196,048) 207,570)
Capital Contributions...........cooooviiiiinnn . - - - -
Net Income (LOSS).o.vrvccrn i {662469) (594 .217) (43,088) (341,157)
Fund Equities, Beginning.......ca.evivirvieenriiannns 48,204,357 48,798,774 50,018,360 50,359,517
Adjustments to Beginning Balances................ - - (1,176,498) -
Fund Equities, Beginning - Restated.............. 48,204,557 48,798,774 48,841,862 50,359,517
Fund Equities, Ending........................ $47,542,088  $48204,557  §$48798,774  § 50.018,360
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Sewer Authority

Historic Comparative Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

Actual 2007

Actual 2006 Actual 2005

Actual 2004

Operating Reventues:

Charges for SErVICES .vvvvivvi v ee e $ 6,141,622 $ 6,118228 $ 4,930,657 8§ 5585114
Miscellaneous. oo 881,102 51,059 18,900 15,400
Total Operating Revenue..........oeeeceeeeeeeunenne. 7,622,724 6,169,287 4,949 557 5,600,514
Operating Expenses Before Depreciation............ (5,341,681 (4,728,531 (4,437.375) (4,103 870)
Operating Income Before Depreciation.............. 1,681,043 1,440,756 512,182 1,496,644
Less Depreciation..........ooiiiiii i (1,936,737} (1.933,623) (1,830.376) {1,864,132)
Operating income (Loss)...............ccovvinieen (275,694} (492,867) (1,318,194} (367488)
Add: Interest ICOME . ...ooovivicrii e, 282,989 198,950 © 124,673 41,625
Less Interest Expense.....ooovii i ineenns (181,228) (117,889) (122228) (105,621}
Capital Contributions.........ocovveiiviiiiiiiiins - - - -
Net Income (LOSS)....ovvcvieiiiiiieeiii (173,933) {411,806) (1,315,749) (431,484}
Fund Equities, Beginning..........c.cccveevveiiain 56,870,825 57,282,631 36,832,256 37,263,736
Adjustments to Beginning Balances - - 1,766,124 -
Fund Equities, Beginning - Restated............. 56,870,825 57,282,631 58,598,380 57,263,736
Fund Equities, Ending.........cooovveevecemninenanan. 3 56,696,392 $ 56,870,825 $ 57,282 631 $ 56,832,252
Water Fund Sewer Authority Total
Total Operating " Operating Revenue
Year Revenue Generated Generated
2007 3 7.321,661 5 7,022,724
2006 7.458,236 6,169,287
2005 7854707 4,946 557
2004 7.811,307 3,600,514
2003 7,790,276 5,092,888
Golf Course
Historic Comparative Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
Actual 2007  Actual 2006 Actual 2005 Actual 2004
Operating Revenues:
QOperating Revenues. ..........ooooeeivn.en. s § 787204 & 785704 % 826,394 § 687,199
Less: Operating Expenses Before Depreciation....., (821.008) {783,198} {747.603) (698.973)
Net Operating INnCOME......cccocevvivnvrvsvsirnsnsnrnns (33,714) 2,506 78,791 (11,774}
Less Depreciation.......ooooiiiiiiiiiiiinai i, (53,8753 {160,912} - {83,798)
Net Operating Income (LOSS)...cvevvnvinnninnn, (87,589) {158,406) 78,791 (95,572)
Add: Interest INCOME . ... ot i ae e 10,341 - - -
Less: Interest Expense.......ooooviiiiiiiiiinne. {(6,162) {7,184) (6,043) (9,737)
Transfers Ot e - - - -
Net Income (LoSS)..........c..oooiviiiiiicciiiiiininns (83,410} {165,590} 72,748 {105,309)
Fund Equities, Beginning.........cccccoovcviniicinnns 70,609 236,199 163451 268,760
Adjustments to Beginning Balances - - - -
Fund Equities, Beginning - Restated............... 70,609 236,199 163451 268,760
Fund Equities, Ending............ccccoooveneeenveennne., $ (12801) § 70,609 % 236,199 $ 163,451
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VI, Debt Summary

Principal Amount of Bonded Indebtedness

As of August 1, 2008
(Pro Forma)

Amount of Amount Date of Fiscal
Date Purpo se Rate % Original Issue Outstanding Year Maturity
10/01/88 General Purpose. ....coooiiiiiiiiiinns C6.75-7.00 % 10,000,000 5 500,000 2009
07/15/89 Gereral Purpose. ..., 5.50-7.50 8,256,800 200,000 2010
01/1501 Gerneral Pupose......ooooiiiiiiiins 6.40-6.50 1,000,000 130,000 2011
12/3004 Clean WaterFund Loan.................. 2.00 2,320,480 628,463 2014
0R/01/06 UrbanRenewal......oovveevriemenenenns. 4.25-6.25 2,753,000 700,000 2012
01/2698 Clean WaterFund Loan.................. 2.00 571353 269,011 2018
08/0199 General PUrpose......ocovvvvevrennnnn. 4.35-4.80 18,364,600 3,166,000 2010
08/01/96 School .o 4.35-4.80 1,761,800 350,000 2010
OB/01R9 Water ..o ivviii i ceice e, 4.35-4.80 3,596,200 708,000 201G
08/01/99 SEWET . .unevteeieeeitieiineenineerinarenens 4.354,80 311,100 56,000 2010
08/G102 General Pupose.......ooovvviiiiinnn. 3.00-5.00 37,028,000 21,724,215 2023
08/01/02 School.. oo, 3.00-5.00 908400 285,200 2013
08/01/02 Water. ... 3.00-5.00 674,300 145,100 2013
08/0102 SeWer. ..ot 3.00-5.00 429300 238,820 2018
08/01/02 Golfl oo 3.00-5.00 160,000 106,665 2018
08/01/02 General Purpose — Taxable............... 5.60 600,000 300,000 2013
04/15/03 Refunding - Taxable Urban Renewal... 3.00-5.00 520,000 210,000 2012
04/15/03 Refunding - Urban Renewal............. 2.50-5.00 7,000,115 975,000 2010
08/01/04 General PUrpose.......ovveeieianiiieniinn. 3.00-5.00 18,132,400 13,123,100 2015
08/01/04 School ..occiiviiiiiiiiie, 3.00-5.00 15,300,900 12,573,700 2020
08/01/04 WAaLEr .o oioveer e 3.00-5.00 4,824,700 3,500,000 2015
08/01/04 SeWer....oiviiiiire e iiiirenearveennnenns 3.00-5.00 1,407,000 841,200 2012
08/01/06 General PUrpose .ooovvvvveeiiviiieeieennn, 4.125-500 14,211,700 13,620,000 2017
08/01/06 School .ovviniv i e 4.125-500 1,923,000 1,863,000 2017
0B/01/06 SeWEr ...t 4.3125-5.00 2,220,900 1,820,000 2017
08/01/06 Water ..o s 4,125-500 1,863,800 1,507,000 2017
08701166 Golf oo, 4.125-5.00 23,600 18,300 2017
Total Qutstanding Long-Term Debf...........cccc.c.oen... 3 156,163448  § 79,582 474
This Issue
8/1/2008 General Purpose ..o 3.00-5.00  § 18206000  §18206,000 2029
8/1/2008 School .o 3.00-3.0C 3,163,000 3,163,000 2029
B/1/2008 SEWEr ooivv v 3.00-5.00 938,000 938,000 2029
8/1/2008 Water ..., 3.00-5.00 10,713,000 10,713,000 202¢
/12008 Golf oo 3.00-3.00 30,000 - 30,000 2029
Total ThIS ISSUE......cvvviiii it vcn ver v & 33,050,000 $ 33,050,000
Grand Total......cccccecevivemevcriimminsciiesiiciciccinneeen. $ 189215448 % 112632474

Short Term Debt
As of August 1, 2008
(Pro Forma)

The City of Meriden has an outstanding Interim Funding Obligation under the State of Connecticut Clean
Water Fund program in the amount of $33,342,837. For more information, refer to the section entitled “Clean Water
Fund™ herein on page 41.
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Annual Bonded Debt Maturity Schedule

As of August 1, 2008
{Prc Forma)

Cumulative

Fiscal Pro-forma: This Issue Principal

Year Principal interest Total Pub. Imp, Schoois Sewer Water Golf Total Refired
2009¢ 5 11887542 3 3,131,653 S 15014195 § -8 - ¥ - % - % - § - 10.55%
20140 11,609,591 2,611,128 14,220,715 911,000 160,000 46,000 536,000 2,000 1.655,000 22.33%
2001 8,774,591 2,198,201 10,972,792 911.000 168, 000 46,000 536,000 2,000 1,655,000 31.59%
2012 8,724,591 1,866,408 10,590,959 911,000 159,000 47,000 536,000 2,000 1,655,000 40.81%
2013 8,289,591 1,501,065 9,790,656 911,000 159,000 47,008 536,000 2,008 1,655,000 49.64%
2014 7.401.580 1,147,498 8,549,078 511,000 159,000 47,000 536,000 2,000 1,655,000 57.68%
2015 7,343,568 836,013 8,179,581 911,000 158,000 47,000 536,000 2,000 1,655,000 65.67%
2016 4968,568 570,567 5539135 910,000 160,000 47,000 536,000 2,000 1,655,000 T1.55%
2017 4,968,568 350,370 5,318,938 210,000 160,000 47,000 536,000 2,000 655,000 77.43%
2018 1,764,284 202,852 1,867,236 910,000 160,000 £7.000 536,000 2,000 1,655,000 $0.46%
2019 1,400,000 136,763 1,536,763 910,000 160,000 47,000 536,000 2,000 1,655,000 83.18%
2020 1.40:0,000 77219 1,477,219 910,000 156,000 47,000 536,000 1,000 1,650,000 85.88%
2021 350,000 39,375 389,375 51,000 156,000 47,000 536,000 1,004 1,650,060 87.60%
2022 350,000 23,625 373,625 910,000 156,000 47,000 536,000 1,000 1,650,000 89.43%
2023 350,000 T.875 357875 910,000 157,000 47,000 535,000 1,000 1,650,000 91.21%
2024 - - - 910,000 157,000 47,000 535,000 1,600 1,650,600 92.68%
2025 - - ) . 910.000 157,000 47,000 535,000 1,000 1.650,000 94.14%
2026 - - - 910,000 157,000 47,000 535,000 1,000 1,650,000 95.61%
2027 - - B 910,000 157,000 47,000 535,000 1.000 1,650,000 97.87%
2028 - - - 910,000 157,000 47,008 535,000 1,000 1.650,600 08.54%
2029 - - - 910,000 157.000 47,000 335,000 1.00¢ 1,650,000 100.00%

Total........ $ 79,582,474 § 14700712 $ 94283186 § 18,206,000 $ 3,163,000 § 938,000 § 14,713,000 $§ 30,000 $ 33,050,000

! Excludes §212,049 in principal payments and $17,390 In interest payments from July 1, 2008 throngh ugust 1, 2008.

Overilapping/Underlying Debt
As of August 1, 2008

The City of Meriden has neither overlapping nor underlying debt.

THE CITY OF MERIDEN HAS NEVER DEFAULTED IN THE PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL OR
INTEREST ON ITS BONDS OR NOTES.

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank)



Debt Statement

As of August 1, 2008
{(Pro Forma)

Long-Term Debt Outstanding:

General Purpose (Includes $32,783,315 outstanding and $18,206,000 of thisissue) .........covvvvevirieennn $ 70989315
[T 751 S 2= N s Loy o R 1,885,000
Schools (Includes $15,075,900 outstanding and $3,163,000 of this 18SU8) ..o, 18,238,900
Sewers (Includes $3,853,494 outstanding and $938,000 of this 5SSUS} .....ovviiniie i 4791 494"
Water (Includes $3,860,1 G0 outstanding and $10,713,000 of thisissue) ......ooooiii i 16,573,100
Golf Course {Includes $124 6635 outstanding and $30,000 of this iSSUE) . vrivvrriniir i s e verreenes 154,665
Tofal Long-Term Debt. . . o e et 112632474
Short-Term Debt:
Interim Fund ing Obligation - State of Connecticut Clean WateT Fund.......ooviiiirvr i cvnean, 33342837
Total DirectDebt ... ..o e s 145975311
Less: Amount to be provided by the State for school construction (As of 6/30/08)........ (1,928,000)
Self Supporting Long-Term and Short-Term Debt ... (54,862,096) (56,760,096)
Total Net Direct Debl | i e e 89,185,215
Plus Overlapping/Underlying Debt -
Total Overall Net De bt .. e e $ 89,185,215

b Sel FSupporting Debt.

Current Debt Ratios

As of August 1, 2008
{Pro Forma)

Population ... ..o 59,552
Net Taxable Grand List (10/1/07) %................. $ 3,659.204,000
Estimated Fuli Value (70%).....oooeee e, § 5,227434,286
Equalized Grand List (10/1/05Y°.................. $ 5675975377
Money Income per Capita (20000 '................. $ 20,597
Total Total Net Total Overalf
Direct Debt Direct Debt Net Debt
$145,975,311 £89,185,215 $89,185,215
Per Capita....ooo e 8 245122 % 1497.60 § 1,497.60
Ratio to Net Taxable Grand List......................... 3.99% 2.44% 2.44%
Ratio to Estimated Full Value.......................... 2.79% 1.71% 1.71%
Ratio to Equalized Grand List..........oooviiieiiennnn, 2.57% 1.57% 1.57%
Debt per Capita to Money Income per Capita......... 11.50% 727% 727%

! State of Connecticut Department of Public Health, July 1, 2006.
* Revalucd : October 1, 2006.
3 Cffice of Policy and Management, Siate of Connecticut.
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Bond Authorization Procedure

The City of Meriden has the power to incur indebtedness as provided by the Connecticut General Statutes and
the City Charter. The issuance of bonds and notes is authorized by the City Council. Bonds and notes may be issued to
meet certain emergency appropriations as provided in the Connecticut General Statutes.

Temporary Financing

When general obligation bonds have been authorized, bond anticipation notes may be issued maturing in not
more than two years (CGS Sec., 7-378). Temporary notes may be renewed up to eight vears from their original date of
issue as long as all project grant payments are applied toward payment of temporary notes when they become due and
payable and the legisiative body schedules principal reductions by the end of the third year and for all subsequent years
during which such temporary notes remain cutstanding in an amount equal to a minimum of 1/20th (1/30th for sewer
projects) of the estimated net project cost (CGS Sec. 7-378a). The term of the bond issue is reduced by the amount of
time temporary financing exceeds two years, or, for sewer projects, by the amount of time temporary financing has been
outstanding.

Temporary notes must be permanently funded no later than eight vears from the initial borrowing date except
for sewer notes issued in anticipation of State and/or Federal grants. If a written commmitment exists, the municipality
may renew the notes from time to time in terms not to exceed six months until such time that the final grant payments
are received (CGS Sec. 7-378b).

Temporary notes may also be issued for up to fifteen years for certain capital projects associated with the
operation of a waterworks system (CGS Sec. 7-244a) or a sewage system {CGS Sec. 7-264a). In the first year following
the completion of the project(s), or in the sixth year (whichever is sooner), and in each year thereafter, the notes must be
reduced by at least 1/15 of the total amount of the notes 1ssued by funds derived from certain sources of payment.

Temporary notes may be issued in one vear maturities for up to fifteen years in anticipation of sewer
assessments receivable, such notes to be reduced annually by the amount of assessments received during the preceding
year (CGS Sec. 7-269a),

Clean Water Fund Program

The City of Meriden is a participant in the State of Connecticut’s Clean Water Fund Program (General Statutes
Sections 22a-475 et seq., as amended), which provides financial assistance through a combination of grants and loans
bearing interest at a rate of 2% per annum. All participating municipalities receive a grant of 20% and a ican of 80% of
total eligible costs {with the exception of combined sewer overflow correction projects which are financed with a 50%
grant and a 50% lean). The City recently authorized $45,000,000 to undertake major renovations to the water poliution
control facility. The City expects to finance the renovations and other ¢ligible projects through the State of Connecticut
Clean Water Fund Program.

Loans to each municipality are made pursuant fo a Project Grant and Project Loan Agreement. Each municipality
is obligated to repay only that amount which it draws down from the Interim Funding Obligation (*1FQ™) for the
pavment of project costs. Each municipality must deliver to the State an cbligation secured by the full faith and credit of
the municipality, and/or a dedicated source of revenue of such municipality. For the $45,000,000 project listed above,
the State of Connecticut has issued a Grant for $10,186,762 and has an [FO in the amount of $33,342,837.

Amortization of each Loan is required to begin one year from the earlier of the project completion date specified
in the Loan Agreement, or the actual project completion date. The final maturity of each loan is twenty vears from the
scheduled completion date. Principal and interest payments are payable 1) in equal monthly installments commencing
one month after the scheduled compietion date, or 2) in a single annual installment representing 1/20 of total principal
not later than one year from the project completion date specified in the Loan Agreement, the first vear’s date, and
thereafter in monthly installments. Loans made under loan agreements entered into prior to July 1, 1989 are repayable in
annual installments. Borrowers may elect to make level debt service payments or level principal payments. Borrowers
may prepay their loans at any time prior to maturity without penalty.
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Statement of Debt Limitation
As of August 1, 2008
{Pro Forma)

Total Tax Coflections (including interest and lien fees):

For the year ended June 30, 2008 (Estimated and Subject to Audit)..........oon,

Reimbursement For Revenue Loss On:

; ...................... $103,024,000

Tax Re el fOr BRIeTly .. vt e ot e e ettt et e 734,161
L= 7 U $103,758,161
General Unfunded
Purpose Schools Sewers Urban Renewal Pension
Debt Limitation: )
2 /A HMES DASE . . $233,455.862 $ “ $ - $ - ;3 -
4rztimesbase. ..o - 466,911,725 . B -
33/44imesbase.....ooie e - - 380,093,104 - -
Iatimesbase....iiii - - - 337,214,023 -
B HMES DASE. .ot - - - - 311,274 483
Total Debt Limitation...................... 233,455862 466 911,725 380,093,104 337,214,023 311,274 483
Indebfedness:
Outstanding Debt
COuistanding Bonds Pavable. . ......... 32,783,313 15,675,900 3,853,494 1,885,000 -
Bonds of This Issue...........oeenll. 18,206,000 3,163,000 538,000 -
Short-Term Debt {IFO-CWEF)......... - - 33,342,837 - -
Bonds Authorized But Unissued.. ... 10,106,101 1,698,269 8,975,489 - -
Total Indebtedness......oooeeviininn. ... 81,095416 19,938,169 48,109,820 1,885,000 -
Iess School Construction Grants..... ., - {1,928.000) - - .
Total Net Indebtedness For Debt .
Limitation Calculation................. 81,005416 18,010,169 48,109,820 1,885,000 .

DEBT LIMITATION INEXCESS
OF INDEBTEDNESS.....c.ccorevvvvee $152,360446 $ 448 901,556 $340,983,284

$335329,023 $311,274 483

" Waier delv is excluda ble from the caladation af debt imitation as allowed by Connecticis General Statutes. Excluded from above is $5,860,100 of oui standing

witter bords, 316,713,006 of water bond s I s issue, and §1, 279,900 of water deby quthor ized but unissued debt,

? Excludes ou wsianding self-support ing Golf Course bonds in the wwount of $124,665 and $30,000 of bonds induded in this issue.

Note: Total debr imit is equal to seven times of base §7 20,307,127,

(The remainder of this page intentionally lefi blank)
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Debt Authorized but Unissued'
As of August 1, 2008
(Pro Forma)
Debt Authorized but Unissued

Debt
Estimated Previously This Issue: Generd
Project Authonzed Grants fssued Bonds Purpose Schoals Sewers Water

Generzl Purpose lssue #40... § 757,000 § 276504 % 392,000 ) - $ R,406 % - % - 5
General Purpose Issue #42 .., 1,475,000 - 1,380,000 88,750 - - - 6,250
General Purpose lssue #43 . 35,000,000 31,302,300 3,143,000 13,000 - 341,700 - -
General Purpose Issue #44 ., 1,780,000 70 1,764,000 15,260 ki - - -
General Purpose Issue #45... 00,000 - 81,300 - 18,700 - - -
General Purpose Issue #49 ... 1,000,000 1,080 965,300 5500 28,120 - - -
General Purpose Issue #50... 9,238,000 - 2,152,100 65,062,250 - - - 1,023,650
Ganeral Purpose Issue #52 ... 1,000,000 735,000 265,000 - - ~ - -
General Purpose Issue #55 ... 477,000 - 161,400 204,600 111,000 - - -
Gaeneral Pupose Issue #56 ... 1,353,973 827,0972 198 300 164,000 164,576 - - -
General Purpose Issue #57.., 38,033,000 12,166229 1,630,445 G38.000 - - 43318326 -
General Purpose Tssue #58... 27,606,825 8,463,675 4,984,700 8344100 5,814,330 - - -
Geeral Purpose Issue 59 ... 8,629,300 4,036,691 85,040 3,150,000 P 1,357,569 - -
Gaeral Purpose Issue #60... 3,719,472 361,082 1,213,220 1,372,100 773,07 - - -
General Purpose Issue #61 ... 50,000 - - 30,000 20,000 - - -
General Parpose Issue #02 ... 2,636,197 850,600 - 1,328 000 258,197 - - -
General Pupose [ssuc #63 ... 3,932,562 - - 3,082,000 850,562 - B -
General Purpose [ssue ##64 ., 11,851,500 1,610,000 - 8,052,500 1,975,000 - - 256,000

TO e rverercreereere e % 168,650,826 &  60.830,428 5 18,415,805 § 33,050,000 § 10,106,101 § 1,699269 § 43318326 § 1,279,600

ol Autharized but Un issized does not inclide amounts paid down from the General Fund on ouistanding notes o r granis received.
* Included in this amount is a State of Connecticut Clean Water fund Grant of $10.186,762.

“his expected that the City will be eligible for State of Connecticut 2.0% Clean Water Fund Loans on its 545,600,000 sewer project included in this authorization. This amount
inchudes an fnterim Funding Obligarion in the amown of $33.342.837.

Principal Amount of Qutstanding Debt
(Last Five Fiscal Years)

Water, Sewer,

Golf and

Fiscal Year Notes Bonds Total I‘Je::s,pﬁt‘a\vd’l
2007 $17,125,000 $82.722.012 $ 99,847,012 $2,087203
2006 25,800,000 80,476,709 106,276,709 8,308,291
2005 14,985,000 93 485,905 108,470,905 9459,095
2004 34,534,000 77,942,889 112.476,889 5,719,036
2003 17,250,000 91.602.,482 108,852,482 6,878,581

'Se -supporting,

(The remainier of this page intentionally left blank)
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Ratios of Long-Term Debt fo Valuation, Population and Income’

Ratio of Ratio of Ratio of Net
NeiLong- NetLong- Long-Term
Fiscal Term Debt Term Debt Debt per
Year Net fo fo Net Long- Capitato
Ended  Assessed FEstimated Netlong- Assessed Estimated Term Debt Per Capita
6/30 Value Full Value Temn Debt Value Full Value Population’ per Capita Income’
2007 $2420,649 $3,458,070 582,722 3.42% 239% 56,652 $1,386.74 6.73%
2006 2373439 3,390,027 89,984 3.79% 2.65% 59,653 1,508 46 7.32%
2005 2338821 3341,173 104,288 4.46% 3.12% 59,653 1,748.24 8.49%
2004 2331434 3330,620 77,643 3.34% 234% 58,675 1,328.39 6.45%
2003 2329825 3,328,321 91,602 3.93% 2.75% 58,244 1,572.73 7.64%

iDoes nor reflect State of Connecticut School Construction principal and interest subsidy grants applied fo the retirement of the oussianding debt.
Consists of all General and Business-Tvpe debt, including Clean Water Fund loans.
z 2003 Population: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census, 2000.

2004-2007 Population: State of Connecticut, Department of Health Services estimates.

3
" Income per Capita: 320,397 U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau o f Census, 2000

Ratio of Annual Debt Service to Total General Fund Expenditures
and Other Financing Uses (in 000’s)
Ratio of General Fund
Total General Debt Service To Total

Fiscal Year Fund General Fund
Ended 6/30 Principal Interest Total Expenditures Expenditures
2009 ° $ 10,151 % 3,787 § 13,938 § 176923 7.88%
2008 ' 12,778 4,168 16,946 174,736 9.70%
2007 13,889 4,175 18,004 177,100 10.20%
2006 13,009 4,950 17,9590 167,283 10.74%
2005 12,171 3,696 15,867 161,018 9.85%
2004 12,500 4,900 17,400 157319 11.06%
1Si,iject' 1o audit
lBudgez‘

Source: Ciiy of Meriden Audit Reports 2004-2007.

{The remainder of this page intentionally left blank)
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Capital Improvement Program
Fiscal Year 2008 through Fiscal Year 2012

Proposed r"rcq’ects1 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 Total
Education.................. 5 - $ 240000 $179,322,686° $33,365382° § - $212928068
Engineering ................ 250,000 11,750,000 11,400,660 8,375,000 2,500,000 34275000
Parking...................... 65,000 - - - - 65,000
Fire ..o, 85,000 623,000 270,060 873,000 920,000 2,771,000
Highway / Garage ......... 4,905,500 4,848,500 11,968,500 6,859,500 5,704,000 34286,000
LABIary «oovevivrininerinnns - - - - -
Parks & Recreation ....... 245,000 420,000 850,000 1,500,000 50,000 3,065,000
Traffic........coooeiiie. 297,000 552,000 362,000 366,000 373,000 1,950,000
Public Buildings ........... 448,000 939,000 100,060 - - 1,487,000
Police ..ot 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,200,600 - - 3,200,000
Landfill/Recycling/

SelidWaste .............. - 380,000 325,000 225.000 175,000 1,105000
Water oo 4,432,000 6,505,710 11,201,400 4,882,000 7,927,000 34948.,110
Sewer.......ooeiiiiinnnn - - 625,000 260,000 450,000 1,335,000
MIS L 164,000 50,000 50,000 - - 264000

TOTAL v vveeecreennee 11,891,500 § 27,308,210 $217,674586  $56,705,882 § 18,099,000 $331679,178

! City Man ager Recommendation, A Capital Improvement Program Commitiee of the Council is in the process of making recommendafions fo
implement indusfry established best practices.

This does not take into account funding the Cify will receive from the State of Connecficut for school construction grants. Currently, the Cip's
relmbursement rate for eligible sehoal construction projects is approximately 70%

! The Ciwvis expecting Siaie of Connecticut Education Grants related o these projects in the amount of $125,557,880.

{The remainder of this page left blank intentionally)
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Vil. Legal and Other Information
Litigation

The City of Meriden, its officers, employees and commissions are defendants in numerous lawsuits. In the
opimon of the Corporation Counsel, none of the pending litigation is likely to result, either individually or in the
aggregate, in final judgment against the City that would materially adversely affect its financial position, taking into
account current applicable msurance coverages. The following significant pending cases are noted.

Following the 2006 Grand List property revaluation, numerous property tax assessment appeals have been
filed. While several appeals have settled, many assessment appeals are still pending, including a number involving
properties of significant value, Two cases of note, both captioned Meriden Gas Turbines v. City of Meriden, involve
the challenge of the validity of an agreement for payments in lieu of taxes in connection with the construction of a power
plant in Meriden. One appeal invelves the personal property assessment and the other appeal is a real property
assessment of the property owned by Meriden Gas Turbines. Generally, in past years, assessment appeals have been
settled without significant reductions in the amounts of the assessment which would in turn impact revenues.

Tax Matters

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), imposes certain requirements which must be
met at and subsequent to delivery of the Bonds in order that interest on the Bonds remains excluded from gross income
for federal income tax purposes. Non compliance with such requirements could cause interest on the Bonds to be
included in gross income retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Tax Regulatory Agreement, which will
be executed and delivered by the City concurrently with the Bonds, contains representations, covenants and procedures
relating to the use, expenditure, and investment of proceeds of the Bonds in order {o comply with such requirements of
the Code. Pursuant to the Tax Regulatory Agreement, the City also covenants and agrees that it shall perform all things
necessary or appropriate under any valid provision of law to ensure interest on the Bonds shall be excluded from gross
income for federal income tax purposes under the Code.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing
compliance by the City with its covenants and the procedures contained in the Tax Regulatory Agreement, interest on
the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income fax purposes and is not treated as an item of tax preference
for purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax, Interest on the Bonds is, however, includable in
adjusted current earnings for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax on certain corporations.

Ownership of the Bonds may also result in certain collateral federal income tax consequences to certain
taxpayers, including, without limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, certain
foreign corporations doing business in the United states, certain S corporations with excess passive income, individual
recipients of Social Security and Railroad Retirement benefits, taxpayers utilizing the eamed income credit and
taxpayers who have or are deemed to have incurred indebtedness to purchase or carry tax exempt obligations, such as
the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds, particularly those who may be subject to special rules, are advised to
consult their own tax advisors regarding the federal income tax consequences of ownership and disposition of or receipt
of interest on, the Bonds.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing statutes, interest on the Bonds is excluded from Connecticut
taxable income for purposes of the Connecticut income tax on individuals, trusts, and estates, and is excluded from
amounts on which the net Connecticut minimum tax is based in the case of individuals, trusts, and estates required to
pay the federal alternative minimum tax. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds are advised to consult their own tax
advisors regarding the State and local tax consequences of ownership and disposition of, or receipt of interest on, the
Bonds.

Original Issue Discount

The initial public offering price of certain maturities of the Bonds may be less than the principal amount
payable on such Bonds at maturity. The excess of the principal amount payable at maturity over the initial pubiic
offering price at which a substantial amount of these Bonds are sold constitutes original issue discount. The prices set
forth on the cover page of the Official Statement may or may not reflect the prices at which a substantial amount of the
Bonds were ultimately sold to the public.

Under section 1288 of the Code, the amount of original issue discount treated as having accrued with respect to
any bond during each day it is owned by a taxpayer is added to the owner’s adjusted basis for purposes of determining
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gain or loss upon the sale or other disposition of such Bonds by such owner. Accrued original issue discount on the
Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Original issue discount on any bond is treated as
accruing on the basis of economic accrual for such purposes, computed by a constant semiannual compounding method
using the yield to maturity on such bond. The original issue discount attributable to any bond for any particular
semiannual period is equal to the excess of the product of (i) one-half of the yield to maturity of such bond, and (i1) the
amount which would be adjusted basis of the bond at the beginning of such semiannual period if held by the original
owner and purchased by such owner at the initial public offering price, over the interest paid during such period. The
amount so treated as accruing during each semiannual period is apportioned in equal amounts among the days in that
period to determine the amount of original issue discount accruing for such purposes during each such day. Prospective
investors in the Bonds should consuit their tax advisors with respect to the federal income tax consequences the
dispositicn of Bonds.

Original Issue Premium

The initial public offering price of certain maturities of the Bonds may be greater than the principal amount
payable on such Bonds at maturity. The excess of the initial public offering price at which a substantial amount of these
Bonds are sold over the principal amount payable at maturity or on earlier call date constitutes original issue premium.
The price set forth on the cover page of the Official Statement may not reflect the prices at which a substantial amount
of the Bonds were ultimately sold to the public.

Under Sections 1016 and 171 of the Code, the amount of original issue premium treated as amortizing with
respect to any bond during each day it is owned by a faxpayer is subtracted from the owner’s adjusted basis for purposes
of determining gain or loss upon the sale or other disposition of such Bonds by such owner. Amortized original issue
premium on the bonds is not treated as a deduction from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Original issue
premium on any bond is treated a amortizing on the basis of the taxpayer’s yield to maturity using the taxpayer’s cost
basis and a constant semiannual compounding method. Prospective investors in the Bonds should consolt their tax
advisors with respect to the federal income tax consequences of the disposition of the Bonds.

Transcript and Closing Documents
The winning bidder will be furnished the following documents when the Bonds are delivered:

1. Signature and No Litigation Certificate stating that at the time of delivery no litigation is pending or threatened
affecting the validity of the Bonds or the levy or collection of taxes to pay them,

2. Certificate on behalf of the City, signed by the City Manager, City Treasurer and the Interim Director of
Finance which will be dated the date of delivery and attached to a signed copy of the Official Statement, and which
will certify, to the best of said officials’ knowledge and belief, at the time bids were accepted on the Bonds that the
description and statements in the Official Statement relating to the City and its finances were true and correct in all
material respects and did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to malke the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and that
there has been no material adverse change in the financial condition of the City from that set forth in or contemplated
by the Official Statement.

3. Receipt for the purchase price of the Bonds.
4. The approving opinion of Robinson & Cole LLP, Bond Counsel, of Hartford, Connecticut.

5. An executed Continuing Disclosure Agreement for the Bonds in substantially the form attached as Appendix
C 1o this Official Statement.

6. The City of Meriden has prepared an Official Statement for the Bonds, which is dated July 18, 2008. The
City deems such Official Statement final as of its date for purposes of SEC Rule 15¢2-12 (b){(5), but it is subject to
revision or amendment. The City will make available to the winning bidder of the Bonds 100 copies of the Official
Statement at the City’s expense within seven business days of the bid opening. Additional copies may be obtained by
the original purchaser at its own expense by arrangement with the printer.

A transcript of the proceedings taken by the City will be kept on file at the offices of U.S. Bank National
Association in Hartford, Connecticut and will be available for examination upon reascnable notice.
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Concluding Statement

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the City and the purchaser or
~ holders of any of the Bonds. Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or estimates
are not intended to be representations of fact, and no representation is made that any of such opinion or estimate will be
realized. No representation is made that past experience, as might be shown by financial or other information herein,
will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future. Neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made
hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City
since the date hereof. References to statutes, charters, or other laws herein may not be complete and such provisions of
law are subject to repeal or amendment.

This OQfficial Statement has been duly prepared and delivered by the City, and executed for and on behalf of the
City of Meriden by the following officials:

City OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

By: 181 Lawrence Kenddgior

LAWRENCE KENDZIOR, City Manager

S/ Robert G. Tait
ROBERT G. TAIT, City Treasurer

IS/ James M. Reynoldy
Dated as of July 24, 2008 JAMES M. REYNOLDS, Interim Director of Finance
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Appendix A

2007 General Purpose Financial Statements
(Excerpted from the City’'s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report)

The following includes the General Purpose Financial Statements of the City of Meriden, Connecticut for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2007. The supplemental data and letter of transmittal, which were a part of that report, have not
been reproduced herein. A copy of the complete report is available upon request from Matthew Spoemdie,
Managing Director, Phoenix Advisors LLC, 33 River Street, Suite 3, Miiford, Connecticut 06460. Telephone (203)
878-4945,
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& PROFESBIONAL CORPORATICON OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
100 BRAGLEY ROAD « WCOODBRIDGE, CONNECTICUT 06525-2284
203 3688-5371 » FAX 208 380-4430

| Eﬁ; LEVITSKY & BERNEY

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFPORT

To the Honcrable Mavor,

& Members of the City Council
City of Meriden
Meriden, Connecticut 06450

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities,
the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City of Meriden, Connecticut, as of and for the year ended June 39,
2007, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the City of Meriden,
Connecticut's management, Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial
staternents based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits centained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptrolier General of the Uniled States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit fo obiain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statemenis are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on & test basis, evidence supporting the amounis and
disclosures in the financiai statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reascnable
basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred 10 above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund informatien of the City of
Meriden, Connecticut, as of June 30, 2007, and the respective changes in financial
position and cash flows, where applicable, and the respective budgetary comparison for
the general fund thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
December 28, 2007, on our consideration of the City of Meriden, Connecticut’s internal
control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the resuits of that testing and not {o provide an opinion on the internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performad in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered
in assessing the results of our audit.



The management's discussion and analysis on pages 3a through 3m are not a required
part of the basic financial statemenis but are supplementary information required by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have
applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management
regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary
information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Qur audil was conducied for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements
that colieciively comprise the Cily of Meriden, Conneclicut's basic financial statemenis.
The infroductory section, budgetary defail, combining and individual nonmajor fund
statements, and statistical tables are presented for purposes of additional analysis and
are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The budgetary detail, the
combining and individual non-major fund financial statements, and the other supplemental
schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation
to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The introductory section and siatistical
tables have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements, and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them,

Cértified Public Xccountants

December 28, 2007



Financial Section
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City of Meriden, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2007

As management of the City of Meriden, Connecticut we offer readers of the financial
staternents this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of
Meriden for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. We encourage readers to consider the
information presented here along with additional information we have furnished in our
letter of transmiftal, as well as the City’s basic financial statements that follow this
section.

Financial Highlights

+

On a government-wide basis, the assets of the City of Meriden exceeded iis
liabilities resulting in total net assets at the close of the fiscal year of $174.6 million.
Total net assets for Governmental Activities at fiscal year-end were $70.4 million
and total net assets for Business-Type Activities were $104.2 million.

On a govermment-wide basis, during the year, the City’s net assets increased by
$12.1 million or 7.5%, from $162.6 million to $174.6 million. Net assets increased
by $13.0 million for Governmental Activities and decreased by $0.9 million for
Business-Type Activities. Governmental activities expenses were $194.1 million,
while revenues were $207.1 million.

At the close of the year, the City of Meriden’s governmental funds reported, on a
current financial resource basis, combined ending fund balances of $5.7 million, an
increase of $12.3 million from the prior fiscal year (exhibit C).

At the end of the current fiscal year, the total fund balance for the general fund was
$11.5 million, an increase of $1.7 million from the prior fiscal year. Of the total
General Fund fund balance as of June 30, 2007, $3.6 million represents unreserved
General Fund fund balance. Unreserved General Fund fund balance at year-end
represents 2.06% of total general fund expenditures ($176.6 million).
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Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City of
Meriden’s basic financial statements. The basic financial statements comprise three
components: 1) government-wide financial statemenis, 2) fund financial statements, 3)
notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary
information as well as the basic financial statements.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The govemment-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad
overview of the City of Meriden’s finances, in a manner similar to private-sector
business. All of the resources the City has at its disposal are shown, including major
assets such as buildings and infrastructure. A thorough accounting of the cost of
government is rendered because the statements present all costs, not just how much was
collected and disbursed. They provide both long-term and short-terin information about
the City’s overall financial status.

The statement of net assets presents information on all of Meriden’s assets and liabilities,
with the difference reported as pet assets. One can think of the City’s net assets — the
difference between assets and liabilities — as one way to measure the City’s financial
health or financial position, Over time, increases or decreases in nef assets may serve as
an indicator of whether the financial position of the ¢ity is improving or deteriorating. [t
speaks to the gquestion of whether or not the City, as a whole, is better or worse off as a
resuit of this year’s activities. Other non-financial factors will need to be considered,
however, as such changes in the City’s property tax base and the condition of the City’s
roads, to assess the overall health of the City of Meriden.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net assets
changed during the most recent fiscal year. All of the current year’s revenues and
expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. Thus,
revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result
in cash flow in some future fiscal period, uncollected taxes and eamed but unused
vacation leave are examples,

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of
Merider that are supported by taxes and ntergovernmental revenues (governmental
activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of
their costs through user fees and charges (business type activities).
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+ Governmental activities of the City of Meriden encompass most of the City’s basic
services and include governmental and community services, administration, public
safety, health and welfare, operations and education. Property taxes, charges for
services and state and federal grants finance most of these activities.

¢  Business-type activities of the City of Meriden include the Water Pollution Control
Authority, Water Division and the Hunter Golf Course. They are reported here as
the City charges a fee to customers to help cover all or most of the cost of
operations.

The government-wide financial statements (statement of net assets and siaternent of
activities) can be found on pages 4-6 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is 2 grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control and
accountability over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or
objectives. The City of Meriden, like other state and local govermments, uses fund
accounting t¢ ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements. The City of Meriden has three kinds of funds:

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same
functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental
find financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of expendable
resources, as well as on balances of expendable resources available at the end of the fiscal
year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing
requircments.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide
financial statements it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental
funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-
wide financial statemnents. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term
impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund
balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between
governmental fonds and governmental activities.

The City of Meriden maintains 45 mmdividual governmental funds. Information is
presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental
fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General
Fund and the Capital Projects Fund, both of which are considered to be major funds.
Data from the other 43 governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated
presentation as other governmental funds,
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Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds 1s provided in the
combining balance sheets on Schedule 3 and in the combining statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balance on Schedule 4,

The City of Meriden adopts an annusl appropriated budget for its General Fund. A
budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate
compliance with the authorized budget. The statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in unreserved fund balance on a budgetary basts can be found on Exhibit F.

The basic governmental fund financial statements (balance sheet and statement of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance) can be found on Exhibits C and D of
this report. '

Proprietary funds. The City of Meriden maintains two different types of proprietary
funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City of Meriden uses
enterprise funds to account for its Water Pollution Control Authority, the Water Division
and the Hunter Golf Course. Intemal service funds are an accounting device used to
accumulate and allocate certain costs internally among the City of Meriden’s various
functions, The City of Meriden uses internal service funds to account for its risk
management costs including risk related to Workers” Compensation and Employee
Health Insurance. Because both of these services predominantly benefit governmental
rather than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental
activities in the government-wide financial staterents.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial
statements, only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide
separate information for the Water Pollution Control Authority and the Water Division,
both of which are considered to be major funds of the City of Meriden. The Hunter Golf
Course is also provided separately and identified as a non-major fund of the City of
Meriden. Individual fund data for the internal service fund 1s also provided as a separate
column in the proprietary fund financial statements. The proprietary fund financial
statements can be found on Exhibits G, H and I of this report.
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Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit
of parties outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-
wide financial statement because the resources of those funds are not available to provide
services to the City’s constifuency. The City has three pension trust funds, four agency
funds and four private purpose funds. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much
like that used for proprietary funds. The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be
found on Exhibits J and XK of this report.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the
data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the
financial statements can be found on pages 19-52 of this report.

The notes to this report also comntain certain supplementary information concerning the
City of Meriden’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its
employees. Required supplementary information can be found in Note 10 of this report.
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Government-wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s
financial position and an important determinant of its ability to finance services in the
future. City of Meriden total net assets exceeded liabilities by $174.6 million on June 30,
2007. Governmental activities assets exceeded liabilities by $70.4 million. Business
Type activities assets exceeded liabilitics by $104.2 million.

CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (85000° S)

Primary Government
June 30, 2007 June 30, 2006
Business- Buginess-
Governmental Type Governmental Type
Activities Activities Total Activities Activities Total
Cwrrent and other assets 50,7407 23,850 74,557 49427 17,650 67,077
Non-current 208 208 24,423 0 24423
Capital assets 189,632 98,475 288,107 163,159 98,513 261,672
Total Assets : 246,547 122,325 362,872 237,009 116,163 353,172
Current liabilities 38,517 6,016 44,533 51,334 i ,510 52,844
Tong-term liabilities
outstanding 131,626 12,082 143,708 128,249 8,507 137,756
Total Liabilities 176,143 18,098 188,242 172,583 11,817 196,600
Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt 106,565 86,538 107,105 85,780 192,885
Restricted 5,284 ¢ 5,284
Ugnrestricted 17,833 -54,963 19,366 -35,597
Total Net Assets 70,404 104,226 174,630 57426 105,146 162,572

A portion of net assets was restricted in Junie 30, 2007 as a result of enabling legislation.
Governmental Accounting Standards Board {GASB) Statement 46, Net Assels Restricted
by Enabling Legislation — An Amendment to GASB Statement 34 pertains to this. These
restrictions are further explained in Note 11 of the financial statements.
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By far the largest portion of the City of Meriden’s net assets reflects its investment in
capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment), less any related debt used
to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future
spending. Although the City of Meriden’s investment in ifs capital assets 1s reported net
of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be
provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to

liquidate these Habhilities,

CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Primary Government

Revenues:
Program Revenues:
Charges for sorvices
Operating Grants and
contributions
Capital Grants and contributions
General Revenues:
Property Tax
Grants not restricted (o specific
programs
Unrestricted investment earnings
Miscellaneous Income
Total revenues

Expenses:
General Government
Education
Public Safety
Public Worlks
Human Services
Cultural And Recreation
Interest on [ong term debt
WPCA Sewer
‘Water
Hustter Golf Courss
Total Expenses

Change in Net Assets
Net Assets-Beginning

Net Assets-Ended

June 30, 2007 June 30, 2806
Business- Business-
Governmental Type Tatal Governmental Type Tuotal
Activities Activities Government Aetivities Activities Government
6,426 15,142 21,568 7,747 14,413 12,160
19,214 19,514 21,265 76,517
6,491 6,451 5,895 5,805
105,354 105,354 94,042 94,042
39,938 59,928 55,252
2,483 574 3,057 1,455 4601 1,916
6,512 6,512 4,866 4,866
207,108 15716 222,824 194,522 14,874 203,346
30470 30470 37,796 37,786
115,508 115,598 103,537 103,337
19,433 19,433 18,406 18,406
10,469 10,469 9,262 9,262
10,262 10,262 5,997 5,997
4,284 4784
3,614 3el4 3,720 535 3,770
7,480 7480 6,662 6,662
8,275 8,275 1,885 7.885
881 BR1 944 944
194,138 16,636 21,766 180,718 16,045 196,764
12,978 {920 12,058 2,804 -1,172 8,633
57426 105,146 162 572 47.622 106,318 153,940
70,404 104,226 174,630 57,426 105,146 162,572

The City’s net assets increased by $12.2 million during the fiscal year, with net assets of
Governmental Activities increasing $13.0 million and business-type activities decreasing

by $0.8 millicn
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Governmental Activities

Almost 51% of the revenues were derived from property taxes, followed by 42% from
State and Federal Government program revenues, then 7% from other revenues.

Major revenue factors included:

+

Property tax revenues increased by $11.3 million, for fiscal vear 2007, due to an
increase i the City’s tax rate of approximately 4.6% and total assessed value of all
taxable property increased by 1.99%.

An agreement in lien of taxes with NRG Electrical Generating Plant brought in
2.825 million in revenue for fiscal year 2007. This is the fifth year of the
agreement,

For Governmental Activities, 59.5% of the City’s expenditures relate to education, 10.0%
relate to public safety, 15.7% to general government, 5.4% relate to public works, 5.3%
to human services, 2.2% to culture and recreation and 1.9% on interest on long term debt.

Major expenditure factors inchude:

4

Increases in employee wages, resulting from general wage increases, ranged from
1.3% to 3.35% depending on the employee group. Some employees also received
negotiated step increases.

Employee benefit costs rose 1.37%, due to health insurance costs and pension
funding requirements.

The cost of education services increased $10.1 million due to negotiated wage
settlements, employee health insurance cost increases and special education cost
increases.

Business-FType Funds

Business-Type activities decreased the City’s net assets by about $919,812.
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Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance
with finance related legal requirements

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term
nflows, outflows and balances of expendable resources. Such information is useful in
assessing the City’s financing requirerents.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Meniden. At the end of the
current fiscal year, unreserved fund balance of the General Fund was $3.6 million while
total fund balance reached $11.5 million. As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it
may be useful to compare both unreserved fund balance and total fund balanee to total
fund expenditures. Unreserved fund balance represents 2.04% of total general fond
expenditures, while total fund balance represents 6.51% of that same amount.

As stated earlier, the fund balance of the City of Meriden’s General Fund increased by
$1,681,946 during the current fiscal vear.

The Bonded Projects Pund has a total fund balance of -$12.0 million, up from -$21.8
million in the prior year. This increase can be explained by bond proceeds and state
grants received in the current year.

The Other Governmental Funds has a total fund balance of $6.2 million, up from $5.3
million in the prior year. The $0.9 million increase was primarily due to the Other Grants
Program where we experienced an increase in grants in the current year,

Proprietary funds The City of Meriden’s proprietary fumds provide the same type of
information found in the governmeni-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

Net assets of the Water Fund at the end of the year were $47.5 million, with unrestricted
net assets of $13.0 million. The Water Fund experienced operating loss of $624,275.

Net agsets of the Sewer fund were $56.7 million. Unrestricted net assets were $10.2
million, The Sewer Fund experienced an operating loss of $275,694.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights
The difference between the original expenditure budget and the final amended

expenditure budget was $749,(23. The original budget included a contingency of
$325,000 that was budgeted in the General Fund expenses to cover certain items,



including unsettled labor contracts and other unanticipated cxpenses. The major
additional appropriations approved during the vear are summarized below:

o $228,733 for flood control purposes

o $520,290 for education purposes

Several departments had favorable variances in their budgets during the fiscal year. The
Employee Benefits department was $2,959,208 under budget due mainly to a favorable
experience in the health msurance tund from which the department is charged. The Law
department was under their budget by $147,415 due to a decrease in legal fees charged.
Bulky Waste division was under their budget by $143,182 due mainly to a decrease in
tipping fees charged. The Health depariment was under budget by $111,902 due mainly
to unfilled positions. The Library was under budget by $109,936 due mainly to unfilled
positions. During the year, actual revenues on a budgetary basis were §172.8 million,
which was more than budgetary estimates by $413,430. Actual tax revenues were less
than budget by $303,797. Actual investment income totaled $1,871,308 which was
$871,308 above the budgeted amount.

Actual revenues and other financing uses on a budgetary basis totaled $175.3 million,
exceeding actual expenditures on a budgetary basis by $4.4 million.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets. The City of Meriden’s investment in capital assets for its governmental
and business type activities as of June 30, 2007, amount to $287.8 million {net of
accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, building and
system improvements, machinery and eguipment, park facilities, roads, sewers and
bridges. This is the fifth year the City of Meriden has reported its investment in capital
assets.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT
CAPITAL ASSETS (net of depreciation)

Primary Government
June 30, 2007 June 30, 2006
Business- Business-
Governmental  Type Governmental  Type
Activities Activities Total Activities  Activities  Total
Land 20,398 914 21,314 20,546 916 21,462
Land improvements 6,203 204 6,407 5,054 74 5,128
Buijldings and improvements 117,060 20211 137,271 112,190 22,084 134,274
Infrastructure 37,871 68,336 106,207 41,0631 69,891 110,922
Machinery and equipment 3,124 5,183 8,307 3,502 5,553 9,055
Vehicles 2914 45 2,955 1,382 1,382
Construction in progress 1,717 3,580 5,297 3,877 3,877
Fotal 189,287 98475 287,762 187,582 98,518 286,100

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:

o $3,902,141 for Washington Roof Project

Q

o $1,015,436 for vehicles

$1,150,480 for Johnson Hill Permanent Tank Covers
o $1,088,577 for the HUB FProject

o $ 858,803 for Phase I WPCTF Improvements

Additional information on the City of Meriden’s capital assets can be found in Note 7 of

this report.

Long-term debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, the Cily of Meriden had fotal
bonded debt outstanding of $94 million. 100% of this debt is backed by the full faith and

credit of the City,
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MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT
OUTSTANDING DEBT
GENERAL OBLIGATION AND REVENUE BONDS

June 30, June 30,
2007 2006
Busiitess- Business-
Governmenial  Type Governmental Type
Activities Activities Total Activities Activities Total
General obligation bonds 82,722 11,028 93,750 20,477 8,309 88,785
Bond anticipation notes 12,438 4 687 17,123 22,250 3,550 25,800
Notes payable 1,051 1,051 1,199 1,119
Totals 95,160 16,766 111,96 162,727 13,057 115,784

’

The City of Meriden’s bonded debt increased by $5.0 million or 5.6% during the 2006-
2007 fiscal vear. During the current fiscal year the City issued $17.1 million in bond
anticipation notes.

The City of Meriden has an underlying rating from Moody’s Investors Service of A3 and
from Fitch Ratings Service of A-.

The overall statutory debt limit for the City of Meriden is equal to seven times annual
receipts from taxation or $734,819,435. As of June 36, 2007, the City recorded long-
term debt of $82.7 million related to Governmental Activities and $11.0 million related to
Business-Type Activities, well below its statutory debt limits.

Additional information on the City of Meriden’s long-term debt can be found in Note 8
on pages 36-39 of this report.

Economic Factors

The City of Meriden has not been imumune from the effects of the national economic
downturn, As of June 2007, the unemployment rate for the Greater New Haven Labor
market is 4.8%, up from 4.7% in the prior year (not seasonally adjusted). Connecticut’s
overall unemployment rate stands at 4.6%, compared with 4.5% for the same time last
year.

(W8]



With an overwhelming reliance on property taxes, Meriden’s income stream is rather
stable, even during & recession. Moreover, the City’s high-quality tax base lends even
more stability to the City’s revenve. The City has established an Enterprise Zone and a
Technology Zone to provide incentives to businesses relocating to Meriden.

Reguests for Information

The financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Meriden’s
finances for all those with an inmterest in the government’s finances. Questions
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional
financial information should be addressed to the Director of Finance, City Hall Room
212, 142 East Main Street, Meriden Connecticut 06450.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
June 30, 2007

EXHIBIT A

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

investments

Receivables, net of allowance for collections:
Property {axes
Accounts receivable
Federai and state governments
Estimated unbilled usage

Loans receivabie, net

Intarnai balances

Inventories and other assets

Net pension assets

Noncurrent assets;
Capital assets, being depreciated, net

of accumuiated depreciation
Total assets

Liabilities:

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Retainage payable
Accrued interest
Unsamed ravenue
Temporary ncles payable
Noncurrent abilities:

Due within one year

Bue in more than one year

Total liabilities

MNet Assets:
investment in capital assats, net of related debt
Restricted:
Debt services
Enabling legislation
Unrestricted
Total net assets

*After infernal balances have been eliminated.

Primary Government

Governmental  Business-type
Activities Activities Total*
41,759,880 1,546,667 43,306,576
2,080,078 11,875,000 14,065,076
4,528 830 4,520,830
1,087,164 2,529,179 3,626,333
1,761,344 1,791,344
3,572,722 3,572,722
3,685,065 3,665,069
(4,226,034 4,226,034 -
207,875 207,875
344,265 344,268
189,287,368 08,474 915 287,762,283
240,546,840 122,324,537 262,871,477
21,604,198 1,328,255 22.633.483
372,076 372,076
2,129,683 2,129,663
1073216 1,873,216
12,438,000 4 587,000 17,128,000
18,474,756 2,231,749 20,706,555
113,151,259 9,850,304 123,001,563
170,143,168 18,008,358 188,241,526
84,127,355 7,018,812 171,146,168
1,875,008 1,875,000
4,621,662 4,621,062
(30,212,648 27,207,367 {3.012,279)
70,403,772 174,628,851

Tha notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Far the Year Ended June 30, 2007

Functions/programs

Primary Government:
Governmental aetivities:
General government
Education
Public safety
Public works
Humar services
Cutitural and recraation
interest on long-term debt
Total governmentai activities

Business-type activities:
Sewer Authority
Water Authority
George Hunter Golf Course
Total business-type activities

Total primary government

The notes to the financial statements are an integrel part of this statement,

Program

Revenues

Charges for

Expenses Services
30,468,531 3,375,892
115,588,464 1,741,663
16,433,365 091,026
10,468,697 117,058
10,262,381 195,460
4 284,243 6,108

3,613,687

184,130,368 6,426,808
7.478.648 7,022,724
8,275,628 7,321,681
881,045 797,635
16,636,320 15,142,020
210,766,688 21,568,828




EXHIBITB

Net {(Expenses} Revenue and Changes in Net Assets
Primary Government

Program Revenuss

Operating Capital
Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type
Confributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
1,584,795 4,205,858 (21,113,288} (21,113,288}
14,204,885 1,572,050 {98,079,965) (98,079,965}
. 139,413 (18,302,826) (18,302,926)
' 522,742 (0,828,887 (9,828,807)
3,045,186 (8,121,735} (6,121,735)
39,339 {4,238,795) (4,238,795}
(3,613,687} (3,613,687)
15,813,619 5,460,648 {161,298,293) - {181,299,293)
(458,922) {456,922)
{953,068) (253,968)
(83,410) (83.410)
- - - {1,484,300) {1,494,300)
18,913,619 6,490,648 {161,292,293) (1,494,360} (162,793,593}
General revenues:
Propery taxes 106,353,811 105,353,811
Grants and contributions not
restricted for specific programs 59,827,691 59,927,691
Unrestricted investment earnings 2,483,383 574,488 3,057,881
Miscelianeous income £,512.035 6,612,035
Total general revenues 174,276,930 574,488 174,851,418
Change in net assets 12,977 837 {919,812) 12,057,826
Net assets, beginning 57,426,135 105,145,991 162,672,126
Met assats, ending 70,403,772 104,226,179 174,628,851




CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT EXHIBIT C

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2007
Total
. Bonded Gther Governmental
General Projacts Govemmential Funds
Assets
Cash and cash eguivalents % 22,967,437 6,838,122 4,933,324 34,539,883
Invesiments 2,080,076 2,080,076
Receivables, net of allowance for collactions:
Property taxes 4,529,830 4,528 830
Accounts recelvable 639,463 18,743 21,894 080,200
Federal and siaie governments 877,038 522,742 391,584 1,781,344
Loans receivable 9484 508 2,870,581 3,665,069
inventory 108,862 89,013 207 975
QOther assets -
Due from ather funds 350,566 554,370 304 936
Advance to golf fund 963,600 863.600
Total assets 3 30,736,806 & 175,115 10,760,902 40 672 913
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses § 13,775,650 1,254,678 1,477.554 16,507 882
Retainage payabie 372,076 372076
Due to other funds 420,619 5,412,847 261,801 8,095,067
Defared revenus 5,047,048 710,274 2,828,343 8,583,666
Temporary notes payable 12,438,000 12,438,000
Total liabilities $ 18,243,317 20,187 875 4,565,608 43,896,600
Fund Balances
Reserved for:
Invantory $ 99,013 84,013
Encumbrancas 296,190 3,489 154 3,785,344
Donor intentions 13,820 2,241,835 2,265 455
Loans recelvable 064,508 064 508
Long-term advances 883,600 963,800
Debt payments 1,875,000 1,875,000
Enabling legislation 4,701,004 277 834 4.878,835
Urreserved, undesignated reported in:
General fund 3,843,668 3,643,268
Special revenue funds 3,851,854 3,651,654
Capital project funds (16,498,222} {74.832) {16,571,154)
Total fund balances 3 11,493,579 {12,012,5860} 5,195,2(04 5,676,223
Total liabilities and fund balances § 26,736,896 8,175,118 10,760,502
Amaounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because :
Caphal assets purchased in the governmental funds are reported as expenditures however the
statement of net assets includes those capital assets amoeng the assets of the City
as a whole. 188,287,368
GCther iong-term assets are not available to pay for current period expandituras, and, therefors,
are deferred in the funds, 6,954,718
internad service funids are used by management io charge the costs of risk managament fo individual
funds. The assets and liabilities of the intemnal service funds are included in the governmental
activities column in the statement of net assets. 2.241.141
Lang-term liabiities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and
therefore are not reported in the funds. {133,765 678)
Net assets of governmental activities § 70,403,772

The notes to the financial statements are an inegral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES [N FUND BALANCES [DEFICITS)

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2007

EXHIBITD

Total
Bonded Other Governmental
General Projects Governmental Funds
Revenues!
Property taxes $ 103,735,168 103,735,166
Federal and state government 62,804,804 4,831,498 19,327,402 87,063,794
Charges for services 5,630,423 2,567,345 8,197,768
Investment income 1,871,308 774 916 2,646,224
Dther revenues 4 539 333 13,747 647,981 5,251,581
Total revenues §  1788681,624 4,845,245 23,367,644 206,894,513
Expenditures:
Current:
General government 8 26,055,557 2,378,885 28,434,442
Financs 1,941,515 147,230 2,088,745
Public safety 18,507,636 18,607,636
Public werks 8,038,496 6,038,496
Health and welfare 2,820 846 6,644,549 9,574,365
Cultural and recraation 3,755,045 528,298 4,284,243
Educaticn 98,267,133 13,159,408 112,426,541
Debt service:
Principal refiremenis 13,889,397 13,888,397
interest and other charges 4 174,541 4,174,541
Capital cufiay 11,201,037 11,201,037
Total expenditures $ 176,680,066 11,201,037 22 858,370 210,716,473
Excess (deficiency} of revenues
over {under} expenditures 8 2,021 558 (6,355,792} 509,274 (3,824 960
Othet financing sources (uses)
Transfers in , $ 100,000 593,420 693,420
Transfers out {439,612) (253,808} {683,420}
Bond proceeds i 16,134,700 16,134 700
Total other financing sources (uses) § (339,612} 16,134,700 339,612 16,134,700
Net changes in fund balances & 1,681,246 9,778,908 848,886 12,308,740
Fund balances {deficits) - beginning 0,811,633 (21,791 463} 5,348,218 (6.633,517)
Fund balances {deficits) - ending 5 11,483,579 {12,012.560) 4,185,204 5,876,223

The notes to the financial sialements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT EXHIBITE

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 20067

Differences in amounts reported for government wide activities in Statement of Activities (Exhibit B) are dus to:

Met change in fund balances - total governmental funds (Exhibit £ % 12,300,740

Governmental funds report capitat cutlays as expenditures; however, in
the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as daepreciation expense, This is the

amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period. 1,705,625
Revenues previously recognized in the statement of activities that provided

current financial resources in the current year, 213,492
Change in net pension assets. {1,236}

The issuance of long-term debt {e.g., bonds, leases) provide current financial
resources {o governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of
long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of govermnmental
funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effact on net assets. Alsg,
governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts,
and similar tems when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred
and amortized in the staternant of activities. This amount is the net effect of
these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related ilems. (3,377,034

Seme expenses reported in the statement of activiies do not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore, are not raported as expenditures in

governmental funds, 560,854
The net expenss of cartain activities of interna!l service funds is reported with

governmental activities. 1,566,186
Change in net assets of govemmentai activities (Exhibit 3) % 12,977,837

The notes to the financial statements are an integral pan of this statement,
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -

BUDGETARY BASIS - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended June 30, 2007

EXHIBITF

Revenues:
Property taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
hwestment income
Other revenuss
Total revenues

Expenditures:

Current:
General government
Finance
Public safety
Public works
Human services
Cultural and recreation
Education

Debt service:
Principal refirements
interest and other charges

Total expenditures

Revenues over {under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Contributicn from fund balance
Transfers from other fund or designation

Total other financing sources

Revenues over expenditures and
other financial sources {(Uses)

Add :
2007 Encumbrances

Less:
2006 Encumbrances
Use of fund balance
Transfer cut not an exhibit F

Net changes in fund halance-Exhibit D

$

$

$

$
$

Actual Varliahce With
Amounts Final Budget
Budgeted Amounts Budgstary Positive/
Original Final Basis {Negative)
104,038,983 104,038,963 103,735,166 {303,797}
57,964,545 57,964,545 57,024,493 (940,052}
5,618,850 5,618,890 5,630,423 11,533
1,000,000 1,000,000 1,871,308 871,308
3,765385 3,765,385 4,530,833 774,438
172,387,793 172,387,792 172,801,223 413,430
30,292,288 29,281,390 25028 828 3,352,574
2,200,785 1,888,775 1,941,515 45,260
17,880,145 18,612,758 18,607,636 5,122
5,732,722 6,284,470 6,038,496 255,983
3.072,287 3,119,624 2,926,846 188,778
3,774,366 3,866,288 3,755,045 110,343
93,068,454 93,589,744 03,584 827 4,817
13,889,307 13,689,397 13,888,397 -
4,174,541 4,174 B41 4,174 541 -
174,065,882 174,815,005 170,851,128 3,963,877
(1,678,189} {2,427 .212) 1,950,085 4,377,307
1,625,000 2,374,023 2,374,023 -
140,000 100,000 100,000 -
1,725,000 2,474,023 2474 (23 -
46,811 46,811 4,424,118 4,377,307
296,190
(224,727
(2,374,023}
[430,612)
1,681,046

The notes to the financial siatements are an integral part of this statement,
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 36, 2007

Assets
Curreni assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net of allowance for
collection losses:

tise charges
Unbilled services
Other

investments

Dus from other funds
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Capital asgets, net of accurmulated
depreciation
Total noncurrent assels

Total assefs

Liabilities

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable & accrued liabilities
Claims payabla
Temporary notes payable
Bonds payable - current
Due to other furs

Total current Habilities

Noncurrent Habilities:
Bonds payable, less current portion
Long-term claims payatle
Advance from general fund
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Net Assets
invested in capital assets, net of
redated debt
Unrestricted
Total net assets

Business-Type Activities -

Major Funds

Water Sewer
975,733 554,920
1,240,705 1,202,675
1,905,603 1,667,118
30,818 34,629
8,220,000 5,535,000
3,388,516 1,748,173
13,789,375 10,743,525
45,588,163 54,931,212
45,508,163 51,831,212
55,367,838 82,674,737
763,708 461,415
3,838,000 789,000
1,363,644 851,888
5,965,353 2,112,303
5,860,007 3,865,542
5,860,087 3,865,542
11,825,450 5,877,845
34,536,422 46,414,782
13,005,666 10,282,110
47 b4z (88 56,696,802

The notes o the financial statements are an integral part of this statement,
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EXHIBIT G

. Governmental
Enterprise Funds Activities
Nonmajor
Funds
George Hunter Internal
Memorial Service
Golf Totals Fund
16,025 1,546,687 © 7,220,006
2,443,380
3,572,722 437
20,352 85,799 116,855
220,000 11,975,000
43,945 5,189,634
300,322 24813222 7,337,458
845 544 98 474 015
845,540 08,474,918 -
1,245,862 123,288,137 7,337,458
104,131 1,324,255 241,048
- 2,434,166
50,000 4 687,000
16,267 2,231,799
170,388 8,248,054 2,678,214
124,665 8,850,304
2,421,103
963,500 963,800
1,088,265 10,813,904 2,421,103
1,258,663 19,061,858 5,006,317
754,608 81,705,812
(767,409} 22,620,367 2241, 141
{12,801) 104,228,179 2,241,141
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND EQUITIES {DEFICIT)

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2007

Operating revenues:
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Salaries, benefits and claims
Claims
Material and suppiies
Utilities
Administration and aperation
Bapreciation
Other

Total operating expenses

Operating income {loss)
Nonoperating revenues {expenses);
interest income
Interest expense
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Change in Net Assets

FUND EQUITIES, (DEFICIT}, Beginning

FUND EQUITIES, (DEFICIT), Ending

Business-Type Activities ~

Major Funds

Water Sawer
8,760,906 6,141,822
560,758 881,102
7,321,661 7,022,724
3,109,443 1,497,126
736,434 1,072,435
1,065,185 035 962
1,010,781 500,783
1,568,594 1,956,737
465,109 1,338,375
7,945,835 7,288 418
{624,275) (275,604)
291,499 282,989
(329,693) {181,228)
(38,184} 101,761
{662,468) (173,833
48,204,557 56,870 825
47,542,088 56,696,892

The notes to the financial statements are an integral par of this statement.
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EXHKIBITH

Govarnmental
Enterprise Funds Activities
Nonmajor
Funds
George Hunter Internal
Memorial Service
Golf Totals Fund
772,396 13,674,924 24,443,004
14,898 1,456,755
787,284 15,131,679 24,443,004
448,909 5,055,568
A - 21,461,185
182,874 2,001,843
1,881,147 :
27,193 1,538,757 1,480,362
53,875 3,579,506
151,842 1,852,416 18,875
874,883 16,118,237 22,960,422
(87,588) {B§7,558) 1,484,672
10,341 584,820 83,524
{68,162} (517,083)
4,172 67,746 83,524
{83410 (818,812) 1,666,196
70,609 105,145,291 674,945
(12,801} 104,226,179 2,241,141
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2007

Business-Type Activilics

Major Funds
Water Sewer
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers $ 7,216,063 6,636,289
Payments to suppliers {6,754,222) {5,676,584)
Payments to employses (3,109,443) (1,497,126}
Net cash flows from operating activities $ (2,647,602} (637,421}
Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of capital assets $ (2,324,405} {1,224,278)
Issuance of naw debt 5,473,844 2,613,080
Principal payments on capital debt (822,084} {765.000)
Interest paid on capital debt : {325,603) {181,228}
Net cash provided by {used in} capital and related financing activities 3 1,896,862 443,474
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchase of investments g
Sale of investments 865,000 345,000
interest received on investments 201,499 282,980
Net cash provided by investing activities $ 1,156,408 627,989
Net increase (decrease) in ¢ash and cash equivalents 3 505,759 534,042
Cash and Gash Equivalents, Beginning Balance 468,874 20,887
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Ending Balance g 975,733 554,929
Reconciliation of Operating Income {Loss) to Net Cash Providad by (Used In)
Operating Activities:
Operating Income (Loss} % {624,275) {275,694)
Adjustments to reconciie operating loss fo net cash provided by (used In)
operating activiies:
Depreciation 1,568,894 1,856,737
Changes in assets and Babilities:
Decrease {increase) in receivable accounts (105,598) {386,435}
Decreasea {increase) in due from other funds {3,371,580) (1,749,173}
Incraase {decrease) in accounis payable {115,043} {82.856)
Increase {decrease) in claims incurred hut not reparted
increase (decrease) in due to other funds
$ (2,6847,602) {537,421}

The notes to the financial statements are an integral pant of this statement.
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EXHIBIT §

Governmental
i~ Enterprise Funds Activities
Nonmajor
Funds
George Hunter internal
Memorial Service
Golf Totals Fund
800,205 14,852,847 24,408,387
{(428,751) (12,856,557} {23,093,063)
{4485 008 {5,055,568)
{74 ,455) (3,259,478) 1,315,324
(13,144} {3,5681,827}
75,000 8,162,924
(4,187} (1.582,181)
(6,162} (517 083}
51,497 2,491,833 -
4 730 1,214,730
10,341 584,828 83,524
15,071 1,766,559 83,524
(7,887) 1,031,814 1,398,848
23,912 514,773 5,821,158
15,025 1,546,687 7,220,006
(87.588) (8687,558) 811,860
53,875 3,579,508
13,001 {479,032) (79,833)
143,945} {5,164,648}
17,137 {180,762} {95,523)
- 49,618
{26,934) {26,934)
{74 455) (3,253,478} 685,822
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
June 34, 2007

EXHIBIT J

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivables
investmants, at fair value:
Corporate bonds
U.5. government obligations
Common stock
Prefarred stock
. Partnerships
Other

Total assets

Liabilities
Other lahililies

Total liabilities
Net Assets

Held in trust for pension benefits
and other purposes

Pension
Trust Funds

Private
Purpose Agency
Trust Funds Funds

17,308,744
794,689

4,870,898
6,808,867
183,261,402
235,260
25,631,783
42 563

75,814 3,857 466

248,804,004

75,814 3,667 466

8,508

3,557,466

6,508

- 3,657,466

248,797 496

75,814 -

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT EXHIBITK

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUGIARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2007

Private
Pension Purpose
Trugt Funds Trust Funds
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Employer contributions $ 6,421,776
Plan member contributions 2,726,240
Donations and other 116,641
Total contributions § 9,148,016 115,641
Investment earnings;
Net increase In fair value of investments $ 30,294,705
interest and dividends 5,382,224 6,539
Less : Investment expenses :
Total investment sarnings % 35,876,929 6,539
Total additions 5 44 824 045 122,180
DEDUCTIONS
Benefits 3 14153977 2,492
Adminstration 1,374,310
Other deductions 685 453 130,529
Total deductions 3 16,223,740 133,021
Change in net assets & 28,601,205 {10,841)
NET ASSBETS, beginning $ 220,196,291 86,655
NET ASSETS, ending § 248,797,406 75,814

The notes to the financial stalements ars an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2007

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reporting Endity

The City of Meriden, Connecticut (the City) was settied in 1661, incorporated in 1807 and as a
City in 1887. The City covers an area of 24 square miles, and is iocated midway between the
cities of Harfford and New Haven. The Cily operates under a Council/Manager form of
government, The City Manager is appointed by the Council and serves as the Chief Exacutive
Officer.

The City provides a full range of sarvices including public safety, roads, sanitation, health, social
services, culture and recreation, education, planning, zoning and general administrative
services to ifs residents.

The accompanying finandial statemenis present the government and its component unit, an
entity for which the government is considered to be financially accountable. Blended
component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the government's
operations.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with accourding principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as applied to government units. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board {(GASB) is the accepted standard setting board for
governmental accounting financial reporting principles. These principles require that the City
report governmernt-wide and fund financial statements, which are describad below.

Government-wide financial statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement
of changes in net assets) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary
government. Government activities, which s normally supported by faxes and
intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately than business-fype activities, which rely to
a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function or segment are offsat by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function or segmeni. Program revenues include (1) charges fo
cusiomers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges
provided by a given function or segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operafional or capital requirements of a particuiar function or segment. Taxes and
other items not properly inciuded among program revenues are reported instead as general
revenues.

19



CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
June 30, 2007

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are proprietary fund and fiduciary
fund financial statementis. Under this method, revenues are recorded when eamed and
expenses are recordad at the time liabilities are incurred. Property taxes are recognized as
revenues in the year for which they are levied. Granis and similar items are recognized as
ravenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met,

As a general rule, the effect of inter-fund activity, or internal balances, has been eliminated from
the governmeni-wide financial statements. Exceptions to this rule are charges between the
business-type funds and the various ofher functions of the City. Elimination of these charges
would distort the direct costs and program revenuss raported for the various functions.

Fund financial statements

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and
fiduciary funds even though the later are excluded from the governmeni-wide financial
statements. Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund
financial statements.

The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as
soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considerad to be available
when they are caollectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabiliies of
the current period. Expenditures are generally recorded when a liability has occurred, as under
accrual accounting. However expenditures related to long-term liabilifies, such as debt service
payments and compensated absences, are recorded only when payment is due,

Property taxes are levied on ali faxable assessed property on the grand list of Ocicber 1 prior to
the beginning of the fiscal vear. Heal estate taxes are payable in four quarterly installments
{July 1, October 1, January 1 and Aprill). Personal property taxes are payvable semi-annually
{July 1 and January 1) and motor vehicle taxes are due in one single paymeant on July 1. Liens
are filed on delinquent real estate taxes within one year. Revenues from property taxes are
recoghized when they become available. Available means due, or past due, and receivable
within the current period or expected to be collected soon enough thereafter {0 be used to pay
liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers property tax revenue to be
available if they are coliected within 60 days of the end of the Tiscal year.

Those revenues susceptibie fo accrual are property taxes, special assessments and interest
revenue. Fines, permits and charges for services are not susceptible fo accrual because
generaily they are not measurable until received in cash.

Intergovernmental revenues grants and similar items are recognized as soon as all eligible
requirements imposed by the provider have been met and are collected soon encugh to pay
liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, grants may be recognized and received after
60 days of the fiscal year end.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
June 30, 2007

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

The general fund is the general operating fund of the City's government. All
unrestricted resources, except those required to be accounted for in another fund, are
accounted for in this fund. From this fund are paid general operating expenditures, fixed
charges, principal and interest on long-term debt and capital improvement costs of the
City, which were not paid through a special fund.

The bonded projects fund is used to account for resources used for capital
expenditures or for the acquisition or construction of capital facilities, improvements and
equipment. Most of the capital outlays are financed by the issuance of general obligation
bonds. Other sources include capital grants, current tax revenues and low interest state
loans. .

The City reports the following major proprietary funds:

The water fund accounts for the operations of the City's water supply system. It is
independent in terms of its relationship to other City functions. lis operations are
financed from direct charges fo the users of the service.

The sewer fund accounts for the operations of the City's wastewater treatment system.
The City operates iis own sewage ifreatment plani, sewage pumping stations and
collection system. Its operations are financed from direct charges to the users of the
service,

Additionally, the City reports the foliowing fund types:

The internal service funds account for empioyee health insurance and workers'
cempensation insurance provided {o departments of the City and Board of Education.

The private-purpose frust fund is used to account for assets heid by the City in a
trustee capacity or as an agent on behalf of others, Examples include scholarship funds
and the police evidence funds held by the City.

The pension trust funds account for activities of the City's three defined benefit plans,
which accumulate resources for pension benefit payments to qualified employees.

The agency funds account for monies heid as a custodian for autside groups and
agencies such as student activity funds, senior trip funds and performance bonds.

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989,
generally are followed in both the government-wide and the enterprise funds reported in the
propristary fund financial statements to the exient that those standards do not conflict with or
contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Governments also have
the optien of following subsequent private-sector guidance for their government-wide and
propriety fund financial statements subject to this same limitation. The City has electad not to
follow subsequent private-sector guidance.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
June 30, 2007

Proprietary funds distinguish operaling revenues and expenses from non-operating items.
Gperating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with a
proprietary fund’s princigal ongoing operations.

The principal operating revenues of the proprietary funds are charges to customers for services,
Operating expenses for enferprise and internal service funds include the cost of operations and
maintenance, provisions for doubtful accounts, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues
and expenses not meeting this dafinition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts for the year ended June 30, 2006 have been reclassified in to be comparable

to the presentation for the year ended June 30, 2007. Inciuded in this was a reclassification of
capital assets. These reclassifications had no effect on the net income.,

Assets, Liabiliies and Net Assets or Equity

Cash and cash equivalents

The City considers cash on hand, deposits and short-term investments, with an original maturity
of three months or less, to be cash and cash equivalents.

Investments
Invesiments are stafed at the fair value using quoted market prices.
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the consumption method on the first-
in, first-out basis for governmental fund types.

Receivables and payables

Activiies between funds that are representative of lending or beorrowing arrangements
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred o as either “due toffrom other funds”
{current portion of interfund loans) or "advances to/from other funds” (noncurrent portion of
interfund loans). Any residual balances culstanding bstween governmental activities and
business type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal
balances”.

Advances between funds, as reported in the fund financial statements, are offset by a fund
balance reserve account in applicable funds to indicate that they are not available for
appropriation and are not expendable as financial resources,

All trade and property tax receivables, including those for the Water and Sewer funds, are
shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. Trade account recsivables allowance for
uncollectible accounts is estimaled based on the inherent risk assoclated with the accounts.

An estimate has been recorded for utility services provided but not hilled as of the end of the
fiscal year.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
June 30, 2007

Capital assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment and infrastructure assets {e.g.,
roads, bridges, sidewalks and similar items) are reported in the applicable governmental or
business-type aclivities columns in government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are
defined by the govermniment as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $20,000 and an
estimated useful life in excess of two years.

Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or
consirucied. Donated capital asseis are recorded at estimated fair value at the date of
donation. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add o the value of the net
assets or materially extend asseis lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvemenis are capitalized as projects are constructed,
Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of the business-type activities is
included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed.

Proparty, plant and equipment of the City are depreciated using the straight-line method over
the foliowing estimated useful lives:

Asset Years
Buildings 40-50
Building Improvements 7-30
Infrasiruciure 65

Machinery and equipment 5-30

Capital assels are reported as expendifures and no depreciation expense is reported in the
govemmental fund financial statements.

Compensated absences

Under the terms of its various union contracts, City and Board of Education employees are
granted vacation and sick fime in varying amounts based on length of service. Certain
employees may also carry over a limited number of unused vacation days fo subsequent years
based on the terms of an employment or union cantract. In the event of termination, these
employees are reimbursed for accumulated vacation. The City recognizes a liability for the
vested portion, as well as the unvested portion o the extent expected to be paid, as
compensated absences.

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue arises when potential revenue does not meet both the measurable and
avaifable criteria for reccgnition in the current period. Deferred revenue also arises when
resources are received by the City before i has a legal claim {o them, as when grant monies are
received prior to the incurrence of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent pariods, when beth
revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the City has a legal claim fo the rescurces, the
Habiiity for deferred revenue is removed and revenue is recognized.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
June 30, 2007

Long-term obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in fund financial
statements, long-ferm debt and other long-{erm obiigations are reporied as liabilities in the
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities or propriefary fund type statement of
net assets. Bond premiums and discounts, a8 wall as issuance cosis, are deferred and
amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are
reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are reported as
defsrred charges and amorized over the terms of the relaled debt.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and
discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of the
debt issued is reported as other financial sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are
reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reporied as other
financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds
received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

Pension accounting

In the pension frust funds, employee contributions are recognized in the period in which the
contributions are due. Employer contributions to the plan are recognized when due and the City
has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terrms of each plan.

In the governmental funds, the cumulative difference between annual pension costs and the
City's contributions to the plans since 1886, is calculated on an actuarial determined basis
consistent with the requirements of GASB Siatement 27 and recognized In the government-wide
financial statements as net pension (asset) obligation as a non-current liability. Annual pension
cost expenditures are recognized when ihey are paid or are expected to be paid with current
available resources. The liability is typically paid oul of the general fund over the life of the
pension,

Fund equity and net assets

In the government-wide financial statements, net assels are classified in the following
categories:

Investment in capital assets, nef of related debt - This category groups all capital
assels, including infrastructure, infe one component of nel asseis. Accumuiafed
depraciation and the ouistanding balances of debt that are atirfbutable to the acquisition,
construction or improvement of these assets reduce this category.

The restricted net asseils represent amounts of exiernal restrictions imposed by
creditors, grantors, contribufors and laws or regulations of other govemments and
Testrictions imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

The unrestricted net assets represent the net assets of the City which are not
restricted for any project or other purpose.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
June 30, 2007

In the fund financial statements, fund balances of governmental funds are classified into fwo
separate categories. The {wo categories and their general meanings are as follows:

The reserved fund balance - this category indicates that porticn of fund equity which
has been legally segregated for specific purposes.

The undesignated and unreserved fund balance category indicates that pottion of
fund equity which is available for appropriations and expenditures in future periods.

Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods and
services. The govemmental funds utllize encumbrance accounting, under which purchase
orders, contracts and other commitmenis for the expenditure of resources are recorded fo
reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation and fund balancs.

Note 2 - Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

General Fund

The Statement of Revenues and Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balance — Budgetary Basis
- Budget fo Actual presented in the financial statements for the General Fund is on the
budgetary basis of accounting which is a basis of accounting other than the accrual basis and
the modified basis of accounting. The budgetary basis of accounting and the City's general
budget policies are as follows:

A, The manager of each department, office and agsncy submiis io the Director of Finance,
at such date he determines, estimates of revenues and expenditures for the following
year.

B. The City Manager reviews these estimates and may revise them as he deems advisable,
excepl that in the case of the department of education, he has the authority to revise only
the {otal estimated expenditures.

C. On or before March 1, not later than 120 days prior to the beginning of the fiscal year,
the City Manager submits to the City Council a balanced annual budget.

B. The City Council shall hold one (1) public hearing on the budget to obtain public
comments not |ater than seventy-five {75} days prior to the beginning of the fiscal year.

k. Within twenty days after the final public hearing the City Council shall adopt a budget.
The budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance,

F. The Mayor shall have veto power on a line item basis only, and must submit any veto
message within five (5) days after the Council has adopted the budget.

. The City Council may override any line item veto by a fwo-thirds (2/3) vote of the entire
bady.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
June 30, 2007

H, Budgef referendum on the adopted budget must be held if a petition is filed within thirty
days of the adoption of the final approved budget.

I. The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within departmenis.
However, any transfers between departments or addifional appropriations, must be
approved by the City Council. Additicnal appropriations by the City Council may not
exceed 1 ¥z % of the general fund budget as established for the current year, without
levying a special tax. There were additional appropriations of approximately $749,023
during the year ended June 30, 2007, which was funded through additional revenues
received,

J. The Board of Education may {ransfer unexpended balances from one account fo ancther
within its line appropriation. A number of such fransfers occurred during the year.

K. Encumbrances are recognized as a valid and proper charge against a budget
appropriation in the year in which the purchase order, contract or other commitment is
issued and, accordingly, encumbrances cutstanding at yearend are reflected in
budgetary reports as expenditures of the current year.

A reconciliation of General Fund operations and fund balance presented on a budgetary basis
to the amounts presented in accordance with accounting principles generzally accepted in the
United States of America {GAAP) is as follows:

Expenditures
and

Revenues Encumbrances

Balance, budgetary basis $ 172,801,223 170,851,128
Encumbrances of June 30, 2006 224,727
Encumbrances of June 30, 2007 (296,190}

State Teachers' Retirement and on-behalf
payment, not recognized for budgetary

purposes £,880,401 5 880,401
Balance, GAAP Basis L 178,681,624 176,860,066

Special Revenue Funds

The City does not have legally adopted annual budgeis for the Special Revenue Funds.
Budgets for the various special revenue funds which are utilized to account for specific grant
programs are established in accordance with the requirements of the grantor agencies. Such
budgets carry over until completion of the grants and, therefore, may comprise more than one
fiscal year.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
June 30, 2007
Capilal Projects Funds

Legal authorization for expenditures of the Capital Projects Funds is provided by the related
bond ordinances andfor infergovernmental grant agreements or Connecticuf State Statuies.
Capital appropriations do not lapse until the purpese for which the appropriation was mads has
bsen accomplished or abandoned.

Note 3 - Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

Explanation of Certain Differences between {he Government Fund Balance Sheet and the
Government-wide Statement of Net Assets

The governmental fund balance sheet inciudes reconciliation between fund baiance - iotal
gevernmental funds and netf assets. One element of that reconciiiation explains that "long-term
lizbilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore,
are not reporied in the funds.” The detail of this difference is as follows:

Long-term debt & B2,722012
Compensated absences 15,399,835
Heart and hypertension 1,141,675
Past-closure landfill costs 2,244 997
Net pension obligation 27,167,396
Claims and judgments 2,850,000
Accrued interest 2,129,663

Net adjusiment o reduce fund balance -
Total government funds 1o arrive at net

assets - governmental activities § 133,755,678

Other long-term assets are not available ¢ pay for current period expenditures, and, therefore,
are deferred in the funds. This amount includes the following:

Deferred revenus, not available $ 6,610,449
Net pension assets 344,269
g 6 954,718

Explanation of Certain Differences Betwsen the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues,
Expanditures and Changes in Fund Balance and the Government-wide Statement of Activities

The governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances
includes reconciliation between nef changes in fund balances - total governmental funds and
changes in net assets of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement
of activiies. One element of that reconciliation explains that "Governmeantal funds report capital
oullays as expsnditures, However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is
allocated over their esfimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.” The details
of this difference are as follows:

Acquisitions $ 11,612,720
Disposals (693,500)
Dapreciation (9,213,595)

Net Adjustment to increase net changes in
fund balances - fotal governmental funds 1o
arrive af changes in net assets of governmental activites  § 1,705,625
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
dJune 30. 2007

Ancther slement of that reconciliation states that "the issuance of long-term debt {(e.g., bonds,
leases) provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the
principal of jong-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds,
Meither transaction, however, has any effect on net assets, Aiso, governmental funds report the
effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts and similar ftems when debt is first issued,
whereas, these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities." The details

of this difference are as follows:

Net {increase) in Long-Term Debt $  (2,245,303)
Net Decreass in Compensated Absences 758,220
Net {Increase) in Claims and Judgments (1,350,000}
Net {Increase) in Heart and Hyperiension (87,205)
Net (Increase) in Net Pension Obligation {487.454)
Met Decrease in Landfill Closure and post-closure 34,708
Net Adjustment to Increase Net Changes In

Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds

o Arrive at Changes in Net Assets of

Governmental Activities $ (3377034

Note 4 - Deposits and Investments

The City's deposits and investments are presented in the accompanying balance sheets as

follows:

Deposit Investments Total

Cash and cash equivalents:

Governmaental activities ) 6,125,630 28,414,253 34,539,883

Business-type activities 1,646,687 1,546,687

Fiduciary funds 6,328,215 14,613,808 20,842,024
Invastmants: '

Governmental activiiies 2,080,076 2,080,076

Business-type activities 11,975,000 11,875,000

Fiduciary funds 230,700,571 230,700,571
Total Deposits and Investments $ 25975532 275,818,709 301,794,241
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CiTY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TG THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

June 30, 2067

Deposits

The carrying amounts of the Clty's deposits at June 30, 2007 consist of the following:

Custodial Credit Risk

Bank Deposi Accounts
Certificate of Deposits
Cash on Hand

Tatal Deposits

0,847,538
16,127,069

8925

25,975,532

As of June 30, 2007, the camrying amouni of the Cily's deposits had bank balances of
approximately $32,039,000. The amount of the bank balance covered under federal depository
insurance was approximately $ 987.670. The remaining deposits were uninsured, however,
provisions of the Connsciicut General Statutes provide for protection against loss in excess of
deposit insurance by requiring all qualified public depositories to maintain segregated coliateral
for public deposits. As of June 30, 2007 approximately $ 3,200,000 of uninsured deposits were

coliateralized under the provision.

investmenis

As of June 30, 2007, the City held the following investments:

Weighted
Average to
Maturity

Investment Type Fund Fair Value {years) Rating
Money market accounts Governmental 2,090,076 .02 Not reported
State invesiment fund Governmental 19,881,453 02 Not reported
Repurchase agreement internal Service 8,532,800 02 Not reported
Money markef account Pension Trust 12,851,165 .02 ot reported
U.S. government Securities Pension Trust 8,800,606 1.1 AAN
Fixed income corporate bonds Pension Trust 4,623,119 10.53 AAA OO+
Common Equity securities Pensgion Trust 184,342,776 02 Av -G
Equity funds Pensicn Trust 8,552,888 02 Net reported
Non-convertible preferred bonds Pension Trust 235,260 02 BBEB-
Fixed income funds Pension Trust 2,278,753 02 Not reportad
Partnerships Pension Trust 25,631,783 02 Not reportad

Total lnvesiments

275,818,709

*All investments are in the top four quality grades of a National Bond Rating Service.
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CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
June 30, 2007

interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in the market interest rates will adversely affect the fair
value of an investment, The City has no formal policy specifically related to interest rate risk.
The City minimizes its exposure to interest rate risk by investing its operating funds in short-term
investments. ‘

Credit Risk

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will nat fulfilt its obligation to the
holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally
recognized statistical rating organization. It is the City's policy to invest only in securities that
meet the ratings requirements set by General State Statute Chapter 112, Section 7-400 as
follows:

The freasurer of any municipality, as defined in section 7-359, upcn approval by the
budget-making authority, as defined in said section, of any metropolitan district, of any
regional school district, of any district as defined in section 7-324, and of any other
municipal corporation or authority authorized fo issue bonds, notes or other obligations
under the provisions of the gensral stalutes or any speciaf act may invest the proceeds
recefved from the sale of bonds, notes or other obfigations, or other funds, including the
general fund, as hereinafter provided:

{1} in (A} the obligations of the United States of America, including the foint and
several obfigations of the Federal Home Loan Morfgage Corporation, the Federal
National Morlgage Association, the Government National Mortgage Association, the
Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporafion, obligations of the United Siates
Postal Service, all the federal home loan banks, all the federal land banks, all the federal
infermediate credit banks, the Cenfral Bank for Cooperatives, The Tennessee Valley
Authorily, or any ofher agency of the United States government, or (B) shares or othser
inferests In any custodial arrangement, pool or no-lead, open-end management-type
investment company or investment frust registered or exempt under the Investment
Company Act of 1840, 15 USC Secfion 80a-1 et seq. as from time fo time amended,
provided (i) the portfolio of such custodial arrangement, pool, investment company or
invaestment frust is limited to obligations described in subparagraph (A) of this
subdivision and repurchase agreements fully collaterafized by any such obligations; (i)
sucht custodial arrangement, pool, investment company or investment lrust takes
delivery of such collateral either directly or through an authorized custodian; (i} such
custodial arrangement or pool is managed o maintain ifs shares at a constant net asset
vafue or such investment company or investment trust is rated within one of the top two
credif rating cafegories and, for any investment company or investment trust not
managed to maintain its shares at a constant net asset value, within one of the top fwo
risk rating categories of any nationally recognized raling service or of any rating service
recognized by the Banking Commissioner; and (iv) the municipal corporation or authority
only purchases and redeems shares or other interasts in such investment company or
investment trust through the use of, or the custodian of such custodial arrangement or
pool is, a bank, as defined in section 36a-2, or an out-of-state bank, as defined in sait/
section, having one or more branches in this state.
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(2) in the obiigations of any state of the United States or of any pofitical subdivision,

authority or agency thereof, provided ihat at the time of invesiment such obligations are
rated within one of lhe lop iwo rafing calegories of any nationally recognized rating
service or of any rating service recognized by the Banking Commissioner.

{3} in the obligations of the state of Connectictit, or any regional schoof district, town,

city, borough or mefropolitan district in the state of Connecticut, provided that at the time
of investment the obligations of such government entity are rated within one of the top
three raling cafegories of any nationally recognized rating service or of any rating
service recognized by the Banking Commissioner.

Pension Investment Policies

Pension investments have the following fimitations:

1.

8.

Investment managers and advisors must discharge their responsibilities in accordance
with the fiduciary provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1874
("ERISA”) and supporting regulations, unless specifically exempted by a vote of the
Board,

Equity investments in any one company by any one advisor shall be lirited at purchase
to 10% of the {otal assels under management and/or 5% of the company's iotal
outstanding eguity.

Corporate fixed income investments shall be limited to the first four quality grades as
established by one or mare of the nationally recognized bond rating services, except by
a specific vote of the Board to permit inclusion of some lesser-rated issuss within an
investment grade portfclio.

In no event should the debt securities of any corporation exceed 10% of the asseis
under the management of any one advisor.

There shall be no investments in:

a. Securities of foreign issuers, other than those of the Canadian government, and
also excepting American Depository Recelpts {ADR's) of foreign securities, and
further excepting foreign secuwrities purchased by an investment advisor
speciiically designated by the Board as an “international” or "global” manager,

b. Securities issued by a participating employer, except to the sxtent permitted
under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,

c. Private placements, without affirmative Board approval,
d. Real Estate, other than securities of exchange-traded or non-traded Resl Estate
investment Trusts.

Uninvested cash balances should be kept al a minimum through the prompt investment
of available funds in shart-term or maore permanent security holdings.
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7. Each investment advisor, consultant, custodian or contractor shall be required to be
available for at least one annual meeting with the Mariden Retirement Board.

8. Resulis based on a total rate of return (including both realized and unrealized capital
gains and losses) will be evaluated for each advisor to the Board over a complete
market cycle. However, the Board retains the right {and obligation) to address issues of
lagging performance at any time during a contract cycle.

Note 5 - Receivables, Deferred Revenue and Payables

Recesivables

The receivables as of June 30, 2007 for the City's individual major funds and non-major, internal
service and fiduciary funds in the aggregate, including the applicable allowance for uncoliectible
accounts are as follows:

Gavernment funds
Bond
General Projects Nor-major
Fund Fund Funds Total

Property taxes $ 6,515,085 6,515,085
Intergovernmental 877,033 522,742 391,564 1,791,344
Accounts 039 463 18,743 21,884 980,200
Loans 994,508 2,670,561 3,665,069
Gross receivables 3 8,331,586 1,535,093 3,084,118 12,954,708

Less: Allowance for
coliection losses (1,885,265} {1,985,265)
Net Total Receivables § 8,346,331 1,535,093 3,084,118 10,966,443
Infernal Service Funds 116,954
Total net receivables, governmental activities $ 11083307
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Business-type

Water Sewer Non-major
Authority Authority Fund Totai

Use charges $ 1,502,608 1,352,675 2,855,281
Cther charges 30,818 34,629 20,352 85,709
Unbitled 1,805,603 1,667,119 3,572,722
Gross receivables 5 3,438,027 3,054,423 20,352 6,513,802
Less: Allowance faor

collection losses {261,801) (150,000} {411,901}
Net Total Receivables § 3,177,126 2,004,423 20,352 4,101,901

Deferred Revenue

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for revenue that are
not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities in the current period. Govermnmental funds
also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been received but not yet
eamed. Ai the end of the fiscal year the components of deferred revenue and unearned
revenues reported in the governmental fund were as foliows:

General Fund:
Delinquent property taxes i
Noies receivable
Advanced tax collections
Bonded Projects:
Fremium on temporary notes
Non-major Governmental Funds:
Advance payments on grants

Loans receivables

Total Deferred Revenue $

Unavailable Uneamed Total
3,808,445 3,008,445
31,848 31,848
1,106,755 1,108,755
710,274 710,274
156,187 158,187
2,670,158 2,670,158
6,610,449 1,973,216 8,583 665

33



CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

June 30, 2007

Payables

Payables as of June 30, 2007 for the City's individual major funds and non-major funds were as

follows:

General Fund
Bond Fund

Non-major Funds

Total governmental funds
Intarnal service funds:

Incurred, Reported
incurred, Not Reported

Tatal government activities

Water Authority

Sewer Authority

George Munter Memorial
Golf Course

Total business-type activities

Total Payables

Temporary Notes Pavables

$

7

$

Cash Over

Vendors Pavroll Drafts Total
2,2350T1 8,750,569 2,796,010 13,775,650
1,253,768 210 1,254,678
1,477,554 1,477,554
4,966,393 8,751,478 2,780,010 16,507,882
2,675,214 2,675,214
2,421,102 2.421,102
10,062 700 8,751,479 2,790,610 21,604,198
763,709 763,700
461,415 461,415
104,131 104,131
1,328,255 - - 1,328,255
11,381,964 8,751,479 2,790 010 22,833,453

The City uses short-term notes payable in anticipation of bond-issuances to provide interim
funding for various capital projects. Activity for the current fiscal year was as follows:

Bond anticipation notes:
General purpose
Schools
Total governmental funds
Sewar
Water
Golf

Total Bond Anticipation Noies

£ 4 & e &

Beginning Ending
Balance Issued Redeemed Balance
21,389,000 8,648,000 21,399,000 8,648,000

a75 G0} 3,790,000 875,000 3,790,000
20074000 12,438,000 22,274,000 12,438,000
1,865,000 788,000 1.866,000 794,000
1,660,000 3,838,000 1,660,000 3,838,000

- 50,000 - 50,000
25,800,000 17,125,000 25,800,000 17,125,000
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Note 8 - Inter-fund Receivabies, Payables and Transfers

Infer-funds Receivables and Pavables

Inter-fund receivables and payables at June 30, 2007 consisted of the following:

Due From
Bonded Non-major
Due To General Projects Government Total

Governmental:

General Fund $ 223,018 127,653 350,565

Non-major Funds 420,619 133,751 554,370

Internal Service Funds 497 487

Total governmental © 420,818 223013 261,801 905,433

Water Authority | 3,306,516 3,396,516

Seﬁver 43,945 43,845

Non-major enterprise 1,749,173 1,749,173

- 5,180,634 - 5,189,634

Total 3 420,619 5,412,647 261,801 §,095,067

The internal balances reported on Exhibit A are as follows:

Businass-type activities short-term loans to Bonded Projects § 5,189,634
General Fund advancement 10 nonmaior Enterprise Fund {863,600)

Total internal balances 3 4,226,034

Inter-fund balances resulted from the time lag between the date payments occur between funds
for various activities, which include capilal outlay.

Inter-fund Advances

Prior to fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, the general fund advanced $988,60C to the Gearge
Hunter Memorial Golf Course with the anticipation that the Golf Course would return the funds
te the general fund when funds wers available. As of June 30, 2007, $25,000 was repaid to the
general fund.
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Inter-fund Transfers

Inter-fund transfers during the year ended June 30, 2007 weare as follows:

From Fund To Fund Amount Reason
General fund Land acquisttion fund 298,677 Record designated assets in a
separate  fund, per Staie
Statuts,
General fund Tree preservation fund 139,035 Recerd designated assets in a
separate fund per Cily
Ordinance.
Health programs fund General fund 100,000 Reimbursement of shared
costs,
Note 7 - Capital Assets
Capital assets activity for the vear ended Junse 30, 2007 was as follows:
Balance Balance
dJune 30, 2006 Additions Disposals Juhe 30, 2007
Governmental Activities
Capital Assets, Not Being
Depreciated:
Land $ 20,545,881 545 600 693,500 20,397,981
Consiruction in progress 3,876,878 1.747.356 3876878 1,717,366
Total capital zssets, not being
deprecizted $ 24422780 2,262 055 4 570,379 22,115,337
Capital Assets, Being
Dapreciated:
Land improvements $ 11,663,452 1,638,580 13,202,032
Buildings and improvements 166,496,022 8,778,513 175,274,636
Machinery and equipment 0,818,048 442 300 10,360,355
Vehicles 12,341,039 967,826 13,308,865
infrasiructura 79,622 400 1,398 415 81,021,815
Totat capital assets being
depreciated § 279.040,050 13228643 - 293,167,602
Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Land improvements S 8,506,401 488,441 £5,998.842
Buildings and improvements 54,306,276 3,808,207 58,214,483
Machinery and eguipment 6,415,707 820,054 7,236,667
Vehicles 89,600,048 884,940 13,394,888
Infrastructure 40,050,544 2,100,083 43,150,597
Total accumuiated depreciation $ 118,781,976 9,213,505 - 125,895,571
Capilal Assets Being
Depreciatad, Net of Dapreciation $ 163.158.083 4 013,048 - 167,172,031
Total Governmental Activities $ 187,881,743 6276004 4,570,379 180,287,368
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Business-type Activities
Capital Assets, Not Being
Depreciated:
[and
Construction in progress

Tetal Capital Assets, Not Being
Bepreciated

Capital Assets, Being
Depreciated:
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles
Infrastructure

Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated

Less, Accumulated Depreciation:
Land improvements
Buildings and improverments
hachinery and equipment
Vehicles
Infrastructure

Total accumulated depreciation
Capital Assets Being

Depreciaied, Net of Depreciation

Total business-type activities

Total capital assets

Balance Balance
June 30, 2006 Additions Disposals June 30, 2007
$ 915,081 915,081

1,002 6541 1.658.097 72,203 3.579.535

) 2,808 622 1,659 007 72,203 4,495 518
$ 668,423 146,013 814,436
42 252 618 1,191,223 43,443 841
16,076,290 385,118 16,461,408
78,980 47 610 128,580

115,687 140 220,734 115.816.874
I 1748663451 1,989,605 - 176,663,148
$ 594,198 15,677 8609 875

22,211,614 1,021,254 23,232,868
10,523,268 755,318 11,278,583
78,980 2,267 81,247

45606 184 1,784,890 47,481,174

§  79.104.241 3.579.506 - 82 883,747
5 95559210 {1,579.811) - 893,879,399
$ 98467832 79,286 72203 88,474,815
5286100625 4508308 2620372 287,762,284

Depreciation expense was charged o functions of the primary government as follows:

Governmental Activities:

General government

Education
Public safsty
Public works
Human services

Total depreciation expense-
governmental activities

37

$ 379,873
3,628,057
825,729
3,691,250
687,986

$_92

:




CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

June 30, 2007

Business-type Activities:
Sewer Authority
Water Fund
Golf Fund

Total depreciation expense-
husiness-type activities

Note 8 - Long-Term Liabilities

$ 1,956,737
1,568,894
53,875

$§ 35795086

Long-term debt liabilities activity for the year ended Jdung 30, 2007 was as foliows:

Beginning Due In
Due Within Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Governmental Activities:
Long Term Dabi:
General obligation bonds § 80,478,709 16,134,700 13,888,397 82,722,012 12,777,797
Total Long-Term Debt  § 80,476,708 16,134,700 13,888,397 82,722,012 12,777,797
Other Long-Term Liabilities:
Compensated absences 16,158,155 758,220 15,399,935 3,849,984
Heart and hypertension 1,054,470 733,694 546,489 1,141,675 630,000
Landfill post-closure
menitoring 2,279,705 34,708 2,244,997 35,000
MNet pension obligation 26,679,942 5,800,510 5,413,056 27,167,396 1,131,875
Claims and judgments 1,600,000 1,350,000 2,850,000 560,000
Total governmental
activities long-term iiabilittes § 128,248 981 24118904 20,741,870 131,626,015 18,474,756
Business-type Activities:
General obligation bonds $ 5,308,202 4,110,300 1,390,604 11,027,988 2,087,203
Clean water fund notes 1,198,706 144,591 1,061,115 144,596
Total business-type
activities long-term
liahilities % 9,506,808 4,110,300 1,534,185 12,078,103 2,231,798
Totat Long-Term Liabilittes  $§ 137,755,970 28220204 22 2780865 143,705 118 20,706,555

‘ General Ohligation Bonds

The City issues general obligaticn bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of
major capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued for both governmental and
business type activities and are direct obligations and pledge the good faith and credit of the
government. Certain general obligation bonds are {o be repaid by revenues of the enterprise
funds. These bonds generally are issued as 10 year, 15 year or 20 year serial bonds with equal
amounts of principal maturing each year. As of June 30, 2007, the ouistanding general
obligation bonded indebtedness of the City was as follows:
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Governmental

$23,945,000 GOB 1388, issue of 10/01/1988, due
10/01/2008, interest at 6.75% lo 7%, annual
principal payments of $300,000 $ 1,000,600

$12,332,000 GOB 1989, issue of 7/15/1089, due
TH5/2009, interest at 5.5% o 7.5%, annual
principal payments of $200,050 600,000

§$23,600,000 GOB 1991, issue of 1/15/91, due
11672011, interest at 8.5%, annual
principat paymenis of $50,000 200,000

$£22,025,000 GOB 1996, issue of 8/01/96, due
8/01/20186, interest af 4.25% io 6.28%, annual
principal payments of $175,000 to $2,235,000 875,000

523,800,000 GOB 1998, issue of 2/01/98, due
2i01/2008, interest at 4.1% to 4.5%, annual
principal payments of $765,000 to $2,115,000 2,035,000

$24.050,000 GOB 1999, issue of 8/01/1998, due
8/01/2009, interest at £.35% to 4.8%, annual ,
principal payments of $2,115,000 {0 $2,670,000 5,274,000

$39,200,000 GOB 2002, issue of 8/01/2002, due
8/01/2022, interest at 3.0% to 5.0%, annual
orincipal payments of $350,000 to $3,340,000 : 25.194,812

$600,000 GOB 2002, issue of 10/01/88, due
08/01/2012, interest at 5.60%, annual
principal payments of $60,000 360,000

£3,090,000 GOR 2003, issue of 4/15/03, due
8/1/2012, interest at 2.50% to 5.00%, annual
principal payments of $480,000 to §2,240,000 2,185,000

$520,000 GOB 2003, issue of 04/15/G3, due
04/15/2012, interest at 3.00% to 5.00%, annual
principal payments of $65,000 265,000

$39,665,000 GOE 2004, issue of 8/1/04, due
8/01/12014, interest at 3.00% to 5.00%, annual
principal payments of $2,430,000 28,588,500

20,245,000 GOB 2006, issue of 07/25/08, due
8/01/2016, interest at 4.50% to 5.00%, annual
principal payments of $2,100,000 to $2,0980,000 16,134,700

Business-type

75,000

1,146,000

845,188

5,061,500

4.110,300

Total general obligation bonds $§ 82722012
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are as follows:

Year Ended, Governmental Activity Business-type Activity
June 30 Principal Interest Principal Inferest

2008 $ 12,777,797 3,688,378 2,087,203 531,264
2009 10,408,817 2,773,261 1,545,083 358,018
210 8,814,917 2,310,506 1,550,083 286,649
2011 7471817 1,057,845 1,158,083 229,275
2012 7,421,917 1,672,947 1,158,083 185,272
2013-2017 28,145,881 4,055,680 3,509,119 338,378
2018-2022 5,229,666 479,418 20,334 432

2023-2024 350,000 . 1,875
& 82,722,012 16,955,019 11,027,088 1,930,188

The State of Connecticut rsimburses the Cily for eligible principal and interest costs of the
portion of the capital improvement bond issues used for school construction. The amount of
such reimbursement for the year ended June 30, 2007 was $797,469. . The City expects to
receive $78C,889 in principal payments and $16,579 in Interest payments over the next year.
The principal portion of the receivable Is included in the government-wide financial statements.

Bonds authorized but unissued

Under requlations issued by the internal Revenue Service, effective March 2, 1992, in order for
capital projects to be funded through tax-exempt debt, all projects must be appropriated and
designaied as being funded through debt prior to any expenditure on these projecis.

The City has authorized but unissued bonds relating to capital projects at June 30, 2007, as
follows:

Sewer % 54,443,088
General purpose 22,687,172
Water 7,233,473
Schools 16,564,753

Total § 100,928 486

A portion of bonds authorized and unissued will be reduced by granis recsived.

Clean Water Fund Loans Pavable

The City has an outstanding balance on ioans payable to the State of Connecticut’s Department
of Environmental Protection, under its Clean Water Fund Program, for sanitary sewer projects.
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These loans bear interest at 2% per annum. The halance of these loans as of June 30, 2007
was § 1,054,114 and the annual debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Year Ended Business-tyne Activity
June 30, Principal Interest

2008 144,592 19,757
2009 144,592 16,865
2010 144,592 13,973
2011 144,592 11,081
2012 144,582 8,190
2013-2017 316,874 11,445
2018 14,281 83

$ 1,054,115 81,394

Other Long-term Liabilifies

Landfill post-closure monitoring

State and federal laws and reguiations require that the City perform certain maintenance and
menitoring functions at the landfill site for thirty years after closure. The liability for the landfill
post-closure care, aggregating $2,244,997 is based on the amount estimated to be paid for all
aquipment, faciliies and services required fo monitor and maintain the landfills as of June 30,
2007, However, the actual cost of closure and post-closure care maybe higher due to inflation,
changes in technology or changes in landfill laws and regulations. Costs will be funded through
future property taxes and/or state and federal grants. The Landfill was considered to capacity
and was closed prior to June 30, 20{07.

Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies

Lawsuits

There are several personal injury, negligence and personnel related lawsuits pending against
the City. The outcome and eventual liability of the City, if any in these cases, is not known at
this time. Based upon consultation with counsel, the City's management estimates that
potential claims against the City not covered by insurance resuiting from such lztlgailon would
not materially affect the ﬁnancsal position of the City.

Operating Contracis

School transpostation

The City confracts for the transport of students. The future payments the City is obligated to
pay the bus company are approximately:

Year Ended Amount
2008 5 4,420,206
Totai $ 4,420,206
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Municipal solid waste management services contract

The City has entered into the municipal solid waste management services contract, as
amended, (the Service Coniract) with the Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority (the
Authority) pursuant to which it participates with four other Connecticut Munigcipalities (the five
constituting the Confracting Municipalities), in the Wallingford Resource Recovery Syslem (the
System). The Sysiem consists of mass-burn solid waste, recovery resource steam and electric
generation facility (the Facility} located in the Town of Wallingford, Connecticut and various
improvements and facilitiss related thereto, including landfills. The facility is complete and
presently receiving waste from the Contracting Municipalities. '

Under the Service Contract, the City is required to deliver, or cause to be delivered, o the
System solid waste generated within its boundaries with a minimum commitment of 34,500 fons
per vear and to pay a uniform per ton disposal service payment (the Service Payment). The
current fee is $59 per fon. The aggregated minimum commitment of the five Contracting
Municipalities is 125,000 tons per year. The Cily's Service Payment commitment is a "put-or-
pay" commitment in that if the aggregate minimum commitment of the Confracting Municipalities
is not met by the total deliveries of all the Contracting Municipalities in any year, the City must
pay tha Service Payment for its full portion of the aggregate minimum commitment aven if it did
not deliver that full portion.

The service payment applicabie in any contract year is calculated by estimating the net cost of
operation, which is the cost of operation less revenues other than Service Payments, as such
terms are defined in the Service Contract, The sum of all Service Payments and cther
payments from the Contracting Municigalities are required to be sufficient to pay or provide for
the net cost of operations.

The City has pledged its full faith and credit to the payment of Service Payments and has also
agreed to enforce or levy and collect all taxes, cost sharing or other assessments or charges
and take all such other action as may be necessary to provide for the payment of the Bervice
Fayments.

Caonstruction Contracis

The City has several construction confracts in progress at June 30, 2007. A summary of the
amounts remaining in these confracts is as fo]lows:

Economic development projects $ 400,000
Education projects 250,000
Recreation projects 3,500.000

Totai $ 4150000

In addition, $372,076 of funds were held by the City on completed contracts. After a period of
time, ihese funds will be paid to the contractors. This amount is separated in the financial
staiermnents as retaihage payable
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Risk Management and Self-lnsurance

The City is exposed to various risks of 1oss including forts, theft of, damage to, and destruction
of assets, srror and omissions; injuries to employees; employee health; and natural disasters.
The City generally obtains commercial insurance for these risks, but has chosen {o retain the
risks for workers’ compensation and employee health and medical claims.

The worker's compensation fund purchases a self insured retention worker's compensation
excess policy for ciaims exceeding $500,000. All other claims are funded by the General Fund,
Sewer Authority, Water Authority and the George Hunter Memorial Golf Fund. Paymeants to the
fund are estimated based on payroll amounts, job classification rates, experience and second
injury fund assessments.

Under the City's current policy, the Health insurance Funds covers claims in excess of $250,000
for each claim. The City also purchases the aggregate maximum per year. Sstiled claims have
not excesded commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years except for fiscal year
ending June 30, 2006 where individual excess stop loss payment equaled $313,761. Tha
health insurance fund is funded by contributions from all funds incurring payrcll charges. The
health benefils consullant provides the City wilh suggested rales for various types of coverage.
The City uses employee counts and suggested rafes to compute fund contributions.

Liabilities are reported when i is probable that a loss has occurred and the amounts of the loss
can be reasconably estimated or measured. Liabilitles include an amount for claims incurred but
not reported. Claim liabilities are calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claims
sattlement frends including frequency and amaount of pay-outs.

Under Public Act 9-342, health insurance for retired teachers, subsidy equal to the squivalents
flat dollar premium amount of Blug Cross 65/Blue Shigld 65 is paid by the State directly io the
iocal school districts. Where it is applied to reduce premium paymenis of the retired members’
1% supplemental contributions, since July 1, 1889, have been directly to a dedicated health
insurance fund. There is no cost to the City.

Changes in the balance of ciaims liabilities were as follows:

- Claims Claims and Claims
Fiscal Year Ended Payable Changes in Claims Payable
June 30, Beginning Estimates Paid Ending
Medical
2008 1,506,113 22,556,677 22,542,043 1,826,747
2007 1,520,747 20,241,247 20,217,002 1,044,992
Workers' Compensation
2006 3471736 1,455,135 1424411 3,602 480
2007 3,502,460 1,244 183 1,436,366 3,310,277

Note 10 - Employee Retirement Plans

Plan Description

The City administrators three single-employer, contributery, defined benefit public employee
refirament system (PERS) to provide pension benefits for its employees. The PERS is
considered to be a part of the City of Meriden’s finangial reporting entity and is inchided in the
City's financial reporis as the Pension '
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Trust Funds. Stand-alone plan reports are not available for these plans. Although the assets of
the plans are commingied for investment purposes, each plan’'s assets may be used only for the

payment of benefits to the members of that plan, in accordance with the terms of the plan.

The individual plan net assets are as follows:

Empioyees’ Firefighters’ Police
Pension Pension Pension
ASSETS :
Cash and cash equivalents $ 0,468,033 3,342,710 3,853,250
Accounts receivable 186,105 255,626 342 958
Invasiments 128,751,281 45,087,604 53,847,002
Total assets $ 138,415,419 48 695,940 57,843 480
LIABILITIES
Other ligbilities g 2,986 1,761 1,761
Total liabilities 3 2,986 1,761 1,761
PLAN NET ASSETS
Heid in trust for pension
benefits and other purposes $ 138412433 48,604,170 57,941,719
The individual changes in net assets were as foliows:
Employees’ Firefighters’ Police
Pension Pension Pension
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Employer $ 185,528 2,818,076 3,611,172
Plan members 1,236,368 365,035 331,988
Donations
Total contributions $ 1,431,806 2,980,111 3,843,141
investment earnings:
Net increase in fair value of
Investments $ 17,393,716 5,668,791 8,871,440
Interest and dividends 2.8580 203 1,082,253 1,285,125
Total investment earnings $ 20,343,019 8,751,044 8,156,565
Total additions $ 21,775,815 8,731,155 12,006,706
DEDUGCTIONS
Benefits $ 5.099,215 3,777,028 4,652,468
Administration 748,691 280,448 329,338
Uther deductions 546 968 20,027 127,558
Total deductions $ 5,304,874 4,078,308 5,109,362
Change in nets assets $ 15,380,941 5,652,757 5,990,344
Pian net assets, beginning $ 123,031,492 43,041,422 50,851,375
Plan net assets, ending $ 138,412.433 48,684 179 57,841,719
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Employee membership of each Plan consisted of the following as based on the latest available
actuarial valuation as follows:

Latest Available
Actuarial Valuation

Employses’ Relirement July 1, 2008
-City Employees
-Pclice Employees hired after March 1, 2003
-Fire Employees hired after March 1, 2003

Police Pension July 1, 2006
Firefighters Pension July 1, 2006
Employes Police Firefighters’
Retirement Pension Pension
Retirees and Beneficiaries
Currently Receiving Benefits 391 103 g8
Terminaled Employees Entitled To,
But Not Yet Receiving Bensfits 53
Active Pariicipants:
Vested 332 72 26
Non-vested 304 50 66
1,680 225 180

The PERS is a contributory defined benefil plan. Substantially all full-time employees' of the City
are eligible to participate, Participants in the State Teachers' Retirement System are excluded.
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Employess’ Firefighters’
Provisions of Plans Retirement Police Pension FPension
Benefit provisions 2% of average annual 25% of average 22% of average

Efigibility requirements

Cost of living adjustment

Early retirement

provisions

Chligation to contribute:
Employee

Employer

pay for the highest of
3 consecutive years
in the last 10 years
prior fo refirement
muliplied by the
years of continuous
service in the plan,
with 2 maximum of
80% of salary

Vested after 10 years
of service

2% par year
beginning the later of
2 years from

retirement age or age
62 {50% max)}

City employees — age
85, 10 vyears of
service or Rule of 80
— full benefits. Age

55, 10 vyesrs of
service — reduced
benefits

Pclice & Fire - None

6% of earnings”

Remaining necessary

to fund Plan based on
City Charter and
actuarial studies

annual pay for the
first 20 vyears of
service, 1.6% after,
for the highest of 3
consecutive years in
the iast 10 years prior
fo retirement
multiplied by the
years of continuous
service in Ihe plan,
with a maximum of
B0% of salary

Vested after 10 years
of continuous service

2% after 20 vyears,
3% after 25 years
{50% max}

25" anniversary with
10 years of service,
anytime with 20 vears
of service

7.5% of earnings®

Remaining necessary
to fund Plan bhased
on City Charter and
actuariat studies

annttal pay for the
first 20 vyears of
service, for the
highest of 3
consecutive  yesrs
in the last 10 years
prior to retirement
multipiied by the
years of continuous
service in the plan,
with a maximum of
80% of salary

Vested after 25 years
of continuous service

3% after 25 years
(50% max)

MNone

7.5% of sarnings™*

Remaining
necessary to fund
Plan based on City
Charter and
actuarial studies

*Includes 2% of earnings as confributed for post-smployment healthcare benefifs as described in Post
employment HealthCare Plan. '

“*Includes 1% of earnings as contributed for post-employment healthcare benefits as described in Post
employment HealthCare Flan.

The Plan may be discontinued or amended in any respect af any Hme by action of the City Council.
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The significant actuarial assumptions are as follows:

Employees’ Police Firefighters’
Refirement Pension Pension
Valuation date 7/1/08 71006 7i11/06
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age
Normal Cost MNormat Cost Normal Cost
Amortization method Level Dollar, Level Dollar, Level Dollar,
Closed Closed Closed
Remaining amaortization period 16 years 25 years 25 years
Asset valuation method 5 year 20% annual B year
smoothed phase-in srnocthed
market markei
Actuarial assumptions:
Invesiment rate of refurn 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%
Projected salary increases 5.25 3.00-5.25 3.00-5.25

The City's annual pension cost and nel pension obligation (asset) for the year ended June 30,
2007 were as follows:

Employees’ Police Firefighters'
Reatirement Pension Pension
Annual Required Coniribution (ARC) g 185,534 3,601,188 2,605,081
interest on Net Pension Obligation (Asset) {27,640} 1,077,718 1,056,877
Adjustment To ARC 38,870 (1,232,108} (1,208,048}
Annugl Pension Cost 3 196,764 3,448,801 2,453,709
Contributions Made 195,258 3,611,172 2,615,076
Increase (Decrease) in Net
Pension Obligation {Asset) $ 1,236 (164,371) {161,267)
Net Pansion Obligation {(Assat)
Beginning of Year (345 5085) 13,471,480 13,208,462
Net Pension Obligation (Assat)
End of Year 8 (344.269) 13,307,109 13,047,005
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Annual Percentage
Pension of APC Net Pension
Cost (APCY  Contribuied Obligation

Employees’ Retirement

6/30/07 196,764 99.37 % (344,269)

6/30/06 84,984 £7.90 (345,505)

6/30/05 9,335 100.40 {385,753)
Police Pension

6/30/07 3,446,801 104.80 % 13,307,109

6/30/06 3,404,659 85.80 13,471,480

6/30/05 3,291,555 102.30 13,307,325
Firefighters’ Pension

6/30/07 2,453,708 106.60 9, 13,047,005

6/30/06 2,441,757 90.36 13,208,462

8/30/08 1,787,441 106.70 12,973,025

Schedule of Empioyer Conftributions:

Emplovees® Retirement Police Pension Firefighters’ Pension
Year Annual Annual Annual
Ended Reguired Percentage Regquired Percentage Required Percentage
June 38, Contribution Contributed  Contribution Confributed  Contribution  Contributed
2647 185,534 1054 % 3,601,118 00.3% 2,605,081 100.4%
2006 74,741 100.0 3,540,516 01.5 2,574,201 85.7
2005 - N/A 3,413,208 23.0 1,906,328 100.0
2004 - N/A 3,357,184 72.9 1,872,975 304
2003 B N/A 2,489,520 98.3 1,682,036 89.6
2602 - N/A, 2,440,500 91.7 1,647,703 990
2001 - N/A 2,046,300 62.5 1,494,200 64.0
2000 - N/A 3,951,500 0 3,334,200 G
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Schedule of Funding Progress:

Actuarial UVAAL As A
Actuarisl Acerued Unfunded Percentage
Actuarial Yalue of Liability (AAL) AAL Funded Cavered Of Covered
Valuation Assets - Enfry Age {UAAL) Ratie Payroll Payroll
Date {a) (b) {b-a1} {a/b) {c} {{b-a)/c)

Employees® Retirement
G/30/06  § 28,080,666 114,597,050 {14,083,616) 112.29 % 30,170,844 (46.68) %

/30705 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
6/30/04 122,127,232 103,416,190 (18,711,042) 118.0% 27,345,409 (68.42)
B/30/02 N/A ' fA N/A N/A N/A WA
6/30/02 118,086,359 05,327,362 (22,738997y 12387 23,977,682 {94.92)

Police Pension
6/30/06 § 53,745.820 79,947,211 26,201,391 67.23 5,540,009 441.1¢
6/30/05 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A NIA
6/30/04 48,752,364 72,823,660 24,071,206 66.95 7,039,682 341.94
6/30/03 N/A N/A N/A, N/A /A N/A
/30/02 46,554,515 70,304,895 23,750,380 66.22 6,771,911 350.72

Firefiphters® Pension

6/30/06 § 46,026,189 63,036,368 18,010,179 7097 s 497109 382.41
6/30/05 N/A, N/A NA N/A N/A N/A
/30/04 43,396,288 64,094,542 20,688,254 67.71 5,134,902 403,09
6/30/03 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A NiA
6/30/02 46,554,515 61,095,615 12,616,328 79.35 5,147,294 24511

Teachers' Retirement System

Teachers with the City's school system participate in a retirement plan administered by the
Connecticut State Teacher's Retirement Board.

Covered Employees

The Teachers' Retirement System is administered under the provisions of Chapter 167a of the
Connecticut General Statutes (CGS). Participation in the plan is restricted to cerlified staff
employed in the public schools of Connecticut and members of the professional staff of the
State Department of Education or the Board of Governors of Higher Education and their
constituent units. Participation in the plan is mandatory for certified personnel of local boards of
education who are employed for an average of at least one-half of a school day. Members of
the professional staff of the State Department of Education or the Board of Governors of Higher
- Educaticn and their constituent units may elect to participate in this system, the State
Employees Retirement System or the Allernate Retirement Plan (TIAA-CERF).
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Vesting Requirements

A member who completes 10 years of Conneclicut public school service is eligible for a vested
benefit commencing at age 60.

Pension Contribution Requirements/Amounts by State

The pension contributions made by the State to the plan are determined on an actuarial reserve
basis as described in CGS Sections 10-1831 and 10-183z, For the fiscal year ended June 30,
2007, $3,516,183 was expended to meet the Siate's funding requirements. The results of the
State's actuarial valuation at June 30, 2007 did not cantain information which would show the
development of the State's actuarial cost by local school district. The State's estimated total
payroil was $3,281,061,108. The State's appropriation represented 12.56% of the estimated
total payrofl.

Participants are required to contribute 7.25% of their annual salary rate to the system as
required by CGS Section 10-183b(7}. For the 2006-2007 school year, 7.25% mandatary
contributions were deducted from the salaries of teachers who were participants in the plan
during the school year. The estimated covered payrell for the City was $46,882,177.

For the year ended June 30 2007, the following information is applicabile to the City:

Total Number of Teachers Participants 685
Participant Coniributions § _2EB18.183
On-Behalf State Payments g 5880401

Other Post-employment benefits

The City provides post-employment health benefits for city, police and fire department retirees.
These benefits are provided per a stipulated judgment entered into on June 1, 1982. The
judgment requires the City to pay fo the retiree the cost of insurance premiums on behalf of
each retired policeman and fireman and their respective dependents, in an amount equal to one
half (1/2) of the total premium atiributed to each active policeman and fireman and their
respective dependents.

For fiscai year 2007, the payments aggregated approximately $1.3. The approximate number of
participants eligible to receive these benefits was 515.

The City also provides benefits to certain retired members and their families of the police and
fire depariment for claims resulting from hyperiension and heart disease, as required by
provisions of the Connecticut General Statures. Approximately 20 retirees and their families are
currently receiving benefits under this provision and expenditures are recognized and funded on
a pay as you go basis. Benefits paid in the year ended June 30, 2007 approximated $646,480,
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Note 11 - Fund Deficits and Restrictions to Net Assets
Fund beficits

The City has the following Fund Deficits at June 30, 2007 and expects to eliminate the deficits in
tha future as foliows:

Fund DBeficit

Fund June 30, 2007  Plan for Eliminating Deficit
Community development block grant $ 57,053 Future federal grants receipts
Women, infant and children 9117 Future federal grants receipts

. Paddock Avs. rental 11,015 Future rent payments

Dog Fund G,858 Future collections
Railroad right of way 10,330 Future federal grants receipts
Americorps 15,512 Refund of payroll taxes
Summer youth initiative 1,468 Future federal grants receipts
School readiness program 19,893 Future federal grants receipts
Capital and nonrecurring 77,050 Future federal grants receipts
Bonded projects 12,012,560 Fulure G.0. Bond Issuance
Workers Compensation 2,850,383 Future Contributions

Restricted Nef Assets

In fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, the City Council enacted enabling legislation to restrict
$1,875,000 for future debt payments. In accordance with GASB Statement 46, Net Assets
Restricted by Enabling Legiglation, this amount is presented in the government-wide financial
statements as restricied net assets

The assets were restricted for the following:

Land Acquisition

Econemic
Development
Flood and Open NRG
Control Space Contract Total
Balance on July 1, 2006 $ 703,000 1,081,411 2,916,590 4,701,001
Expenses (228,733) {21,843) {250,576)
Additions 126,951 126,951
Balance on June 30, 2007 $ 474,267 1,081,319 2,916,590 4,621,062

The current legislative action provides for no additional increase to fund Flood Control purposes
and 1/5 of each annual operating budget surplus shall be designated to fund property
acquisitions for the economic development and open space purposes.
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Note 12 - Subsequent Events

Bond Anticipation Note

On August 3, 2007, the City issued a bong anticipation note in the amount of $22,356,000. The
note will be due August 1, 2008 with a staled interest of 4.26% with a yield of 3.7%. The
purpose of the nots was {o pay the bond anticipation note issued August 4, 2006 and to provide
interim funding for several capital projects.

" Construstion Contracts

Subsequent to June 30, 2007, the City was accepting bids for a project that includes the
modification to the 11.6 mgd water pollution control facility. Work includes an upgrade to the
plant for biclogical nitrogen removal, upgrades to the sofids processing train, conservation to
disinfection with sodium hypochlorite, odor control improvements and other miscellaneous
upgrades. The estimated cost of the projects is approximately 40 miflion dollars and is expected
to begin in the fiscal vear ended June 30, 2008.

Pronouncements Issued, Not Yet Effective

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued several pronouncemenis
prior to June 30, 2007 that have effective dafes that may impact future financial presentations
and have not been implemented as of June 30, 2007.

The following statement may have a significant impact on the financial statements depending
upon the results of an actuarial study to be undertaken before the effective date.

GASB Statement 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post Employment
Benefits Other than Pensions, issued June 2004, will be effective for the City beginning with its
fiscal year ending June 2009. This statement establishes standards for the measurement,
recognition, and display of other post employment benefit expenses and related liahilifies or
asseis, note disclosures and, if applicable, required supplermentary information in the financial
reparts.
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280 Trumbull Street

ROBINSON & COLE - Hartford, CT 06103-3597

Main (860) 275-8200
Fax (860) 275-8299

City of Meriden
Meriden,
Connecticut

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have examined certified copies of the proceedings of the City of Meriden,
Connecticut (the “City”) a Tax Regulatory Agreement of the City dated August 1, 2008 (the
"Tax Regulatory Agreement") and other proofs submitted to us relative to the issuance and sale
of $33,050,000 City of Meriden, Connecticut General Obligation Bonds, Issue of 2008, dated
August 1, 2008 (the "Bonds"), maturing on August 1 in each of the years in the principal
amounts and bearing interest payable on February 1, 2009 and semiannually thereafter on
August 1 and February 1 in each year until maturity, at the rates per annum as follows:

Year of Principal Interest Rate
Maturity Amount Per Annum
2009 $ 1,655,000 %o
2010 1,655,000
2011 1,655,000
2012 1,655,000
2013 1,655,000
2014 1,655,000
2015 1,655,000
2016 1,655,000
2017 1,655,000
2018 1,655,000
2019 1,650,000
2020 1,650,000
2021 1,650,000
2022 1,650,000
2023 1,650,000
2024 1,650,000
2025 1,650,000
2026 1,650,000
2027 1,650,000

2028 1,650,000
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with principal payable at the principal office of U.S. Bank National Association, Hartford,
Connecticut, and with interest payable to the registered owner as of the close of business on the
fifteenth day of January and July in each year, or the preceding business day if such fifteenth day
is not a business day, by check mailed to such registered owner at his address as shown on the
registration books of the City kept for such purpose.

The Bonds are originally registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The
Depository Trust Company ("DTC™), to effect a book-entry system for the ownership and
transfer of the Bonds. So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner, principal and
interest payments on the Bonds will be made to DTC.

We have not been engaged or undertaken to review the accuracy, completeness or
sufficiency of the Official Statement or other offering material relating to the Bonds (except to
the extent, if any, stated in the Official Statement) and we express no opinion relating thereto
(excepting only the matters set forth as our opinion in the Official Statement).

We are of the opinion that such proceedings and proofs show lawful authority for the
issuance and sale of the Bonds under authority of the Constitution and statutes of the State of
Connecticut and that the Bonds are a valid and binding general obligation of the City of Meriden
the principal of and interest on which is payable from ad valorem taxes which may be levied on
all taxable property subject to taxation by the City without limitation as to rate or amount except
as to classified property, such as certified forest lands taxable at a limited rate and dwelling
houses of qualified elderly persons of low income or of qualified disabled persons taxable at
limited amounts. We are further of the opinion that the Tax Regulatory Agreement is a valid
and binding agreement of the City.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), establishes certain
requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds in order that
interest on the Bonds remain excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The
City has covenanted in the Tax Regulatory Agreement that it will at all times perform all acts
and things necessary or appropriate under any valid provision of law to ensure that interest paid
on the Bonds shall be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under the
Code.

In our opinion, under existing statutes and court decisions, interest in the Bonds is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not treated as an item of tax
preference for purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax. Interest on the
Bonds is, however, includable in adjusted current eamings for purposes of computing the
alternative minimum tax imposed on certain corporations. We express no opinion regarding any
other federal income tax consequences caused by ownership or disposition of, or receipt of
interest on, the Bonds.

In rendering the foregoing opinions regarding the federal tax treatment of interest on the
Bonds, we have relied upon and assumed (i) the material accuracy of the representations,
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statements of intention and expectations, and certifications of fact contained in the Tax
Regulatory Agreement, and (ii) compliance by the City with the covenants and procedures set
forth in the Tax Regulatory Agreement as to such tax matters,

We are further of the opinion that, under existing statutes, interest on the Bonds is
excluded from Connecticut taxable income for purposes of the Connecticut income tax on
individuals, trusts and estates, and is excluded from amounts on which the net Connecticut
minimum tax is based in the case of individuals, trusts and estates required to pay the federal
alternative minimum tax. We express no opinion regarding any other State or local tax
consequences caused by ownership or disposition of, or receipt of interest on, the Bonds.

The rights of owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds and the Tax
Regulatory Agreement may be limited by bankruptey, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium
and other similar laws affecting creditors rights generally and by application of equitable
principles, whether considered at law or in equity.

Respectfully yours,
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT
By The CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT
Dated As Of August 1, 20608
In Connection With The Issnance And Sale Of
- $33,050,000 City Of Meriden, Connecticut
General Obligation Bonds, Issue of 2008, Dated Augﬁst 1, 2008

WHEREAS, the City of Meriden, Connecticut (the “Issuer”) has heretofore authorized
the issuance of $33,050,000 in aggregate principal amount of its General Obligation Bonds,
Issue of 2008, (the "Bonds") to be dated August 1, 2008 and to mature in the principal amounts
and on the dates set forth i the Issuer's final Official Statement dated July 24, 2008 describing
the Bonds (the "Official Statement"); and

WHEREAS, the Issuer has offered the Bonds for sale through competitive bid pursuant
to its Notice of Sale dated July 18, 2008 (the "Notice of Sale"); and

WHEREAS, in the Notice of Sale the Issuer has heretofore acknowledged that an
underwriter may not purchase or sell the Bonds unless it has reasonably determined that the
Issuer has undertaken in a written agreement for the benefit of the beneficial owners of the
Bonds to provide certain continuing disclosure information as required by Securities and
Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12(b}5) as amended from time to time (the "Rule"), and the
Issuer desires to assist the underwriter of the Bonds in complying with the Rule; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized pursuant to Section 3-20¢ of the Connecticut
General Statutes to make representations and agreements for the benefit of the beneficial owners
of the Bonds to meet the requirements of the Rule; and

WHEREAS, in order to assist the underwriter of the Bonds in complying with the Rule,
this Continuing Disclosure Agreement is to be made, executed and delivered in connection with
the issuance of the Bonds and to be described in the Official Statement, all for the benefit of the
beneficial owners of the Bonds, as they may be from time to time;

NOW, THEREFORE, THE ISSUER HEREBY REPRESENTS, COVENANTS AND
AGREES AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Definitions. In addition to the terms defined above, the following capitalized
terms shall have the meanings ascribed thereto:

"Annual Report" shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and
as described in, Sections 2 and 3 of this Continuing Disclosure Agreement.

“Fiscal Year End” shall mean the last day of the Issuer’s fiscal year, currently June 30.



"Listed Events" shall mean any of the events listed in Section 4 of this Continuing
Disclosure Agreement,

"MSRB" shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to
Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor thereto.

"NRMSIR" shall mean any nationally recogmized municipal securities information
repository for purposes of the Rule.

"SID" shall mean any state information depository established or designated by the State
of Connecticut for the purposes of the Rule. As of the date of this Agreement no SID has been
so established or designated by the State of Connecticut.

Section 2. Annual Reports.

(a) The Issuer shall provide or cause to be provided to each NRMSIR and to
the SID the following annual financial information and operating data regarding
the Issuer:

(1) Audited financial statements as of and for the vear ending
on its Fiscal Year End for the general fund, capital projects funds and
special revenue funds, prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board from time to time or mandated state statutory principles
as in effect from time to time; and

(i)  Financial information and operating data as of and for the
year ending on its Fiscal Year End of the following type to the extent not
included in the audited financial statements described in (i) above:

(A)  the amounts of the gross and net taxable
grand list;

(By  a listing of the ten largest taxpayers on the
grand list, together with each such taxpayer's taxable valuation
thereon;

(C)  the percentage and amount of the annual
property tax levy collected and uncollected,

(D)  a schedule of the annual debt service on
outstanding long-term bonded indebtedness;

(E) a calculation of the net direct debt, total
direct debt, and total overall net debt (reflecting overlapping and
underlying debt);

() the total direct debt, total net direct debt and
total overall net debt of the Issuer per capita;
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{(G) the ratios of total direct debt and total
overall net debt of the Issuer to the Issuer's net taxable grand list;

(H)  a statement of statutory debt limitations and
debt marging; and

(D the funding status of the Issuer's pension
benefit obligations.

{b) The above-referenced information is expected to be provided by the filing
of and cross reference to the Issuer's [comprehensive annual financial report,
including] audited financial statements. The information may be provided in
whole or in part by cross-reference to other documents provided to each NRMSIR
and the SID, including official statements of the Issuer which will be available
from the MSRB.

(c) Subject to the requirements of Section 8 hereof, the Issuer reserves the
right to modify from time to time the specific types of information or data
provided or the format of the presentation of such information or data, to the
extent necessary or appropriate; provided that the Issuer agrees that any such
modification will be done in a manner consistent with the Rule. The Issuer also
reserves the right to modify the preparation and presentation of financial
statements described herein as may be required to conform with changes in
Connecticut law applicable to municipalities or any changes in generally accepted
accounting principles, as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board from time to time.

Section 3. Timing, The Issuer shall provide the information and data referenced in
Section 2(a) not later than eight months after each Fiscal Year End subsequent to the date of
issuance of the Bonds, provided, however, that if such financial information and data for the
Fiscal Year End preceding the date of issuance of the Bonds is not contained in the Official
Statement for the Bonds or has not otherwise been previously provided, the Issuer shall provide
such information and data no later than eight months after the close of such preceding Fiscal
Year End. The Issuer agrees that if audited information is not available eight months after the
close of any Fiscal Year End, it shall submit unaudited information by such time and will submit
audited information within 60 days of receipt.

Section 4, Event Notices. The Issuer agrees to provide or cause to be provided in a
timely manner, to (i) each NRMSIR or to the MSRB, and (ii) the SID, notice of the occurrence
of any of the following events, if material:

(i) principal and interest payment delinquencies;
(ii) non-payment related defaults;

(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties;. :



(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial

difficulties;
(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
{(vi) adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the
security;
(vii) modifications to rights of security holders;
(viii) bond calls;
(ix) defeasances;
(%) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the

securities; and
{x1) rating changes,

Section 5. Notice of Failure. The Issuer agrees to provide or cause to be provided, in a
timely manner, to (1) each NRMSIR or to the MSRB, and (ii) the SID, notice of any failure by
the Issuer to provide the annual financial information described in Section 2(a) of this
Continuing Disclosure Agreement.

Section 6. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Issuer's obligations under this
Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the defeasance, prior redemption or
payment in full of all of the Bonds.

Section 7. Agent. The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage an agent to
assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and may
discharge any such agent, with or without appointing a successor agent.

Section 8, Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Continuing
Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer may amend this Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and any
provision of this Continuing Disclosure Agreement may be waived, if such amendment or
waiver is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal
requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature or status of the Issuer, and is
supported by an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities laws, to the effect that (i) such
amendment or waiver would not materially adversely affect the beneficial owners of the Bonds
and (i) the Agreement as so amended would have complied with the requirements of the Rule as
of the date of the Agreement, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule
as well as any changes in circumstances. A copy of any such amendment will be filed in a
timely manner with (1) each NRMSIR or the MSRB, and (i1) the SID. The annual financial
information provided on the first date following adoption of any such amendment will explain, in
narrative form, the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change in the type of
operating or financial information provided.

Section 9. Additional Information. Nothing in this Continuing Disclosure Agreement
shall be deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means

e



of dissemination set forth in this Continuing Disclosure Agreement or any other means of
communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence
of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Continuing Disclosure Agreement.
If the Issuer chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of
a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Continuing Disclosure
Agreement, the [ssuer shall have no obligation under this Continuing Disclosure Agreement to
update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a
Listed Event.

Section 10. Indemnification. The Issuer agrees to indemnify and save its officials,
officers and employees harmless against any loss, expense and liabilities which they may incur
arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the
costs and expenses (including attorney's fees) of defending against any claim of liability
hereunder, but excluding any such liabilities due to any such person's malicious, wanton, or
willful act. The obligations of the Issuer under this Section shall survive, notwithstanding that
such person may no longer be serving in such capacity.

Section 11. Enforceability. The Issuer agrees that its undertaking pursuant to the Rule
set forth in this Continuing Disclosure Agreement is intended to be for the benefit of and
enforceable by the beneficial owners of the Bonds. In the event the Issuer shall fail to perform
its duties hereunder, the Issuer shall have the option to cure such failure after its receipt of
written notice from any beneficial owner of the Bonds of such failure. In the event the Issuer
does not cure such failure, the right of any beneficial owner of the Bonds to enforce the
provisions of this undertaking shall be limited to a right to obtain specific enforcement of the
Issuer's obligations hereunder. No monetary damages shall arise or be payable hereunder nor
shall any failure to comply with this Agreement constitute defauit of the Issuer with respect to
the Bonds.

Section 12.  Section 12. Miscellaneous. Any filing under this Continuing Disclosure
Agreement may be made solely be transmitting such filing to the Texas Municipal Advisory
Council (the “MAC”) as provided at http://www.disclosureusa.org unless the SEC has
withdrawn the interpretive advice in its letter to the MAC dated September 7, 2004.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Continuing Disclosure Agreement
to be executed in its name by its undersigned officers, duly authorized, all as of the date first
above written.

CITY OF MERIDEN,
CONNECTICUT

By

Lawrence Kendzior
City Manager

By

Robert Tait
City Treasurer

-5-
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NOTICE OF SALE

$33,050,600
CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
ISSUE OF 2008

Sealed proposals and electronic bids (as described herein) will be received by the CITY OF MERIDEN, CONNECTICUT
(the "City™), until 11:30 o’clock AM. (E.D.T.} Thursday,

JULY 24, 2008

for the purchase of all, but not less than all, of $33,050,000 City of Meriden, Connecticut General Obligation Bonds, Issue of 2008
{the "Bonds™). Sealed proposals will he received at the office of Robinson & Cole LLP, 280 Trumbuli Street, Conference Room 601,
Hartford, CT 06103. (See "Sealed Proposal Procedures™). Electronic bids must be submitted via PARITY® (See "Electronic Bidding
Procedures"). '

The Bonds

The Bonds will be dated August 1, 2008, mature $1,655,000 on August 1 in each of the years 2009-2018, both nclusive, and
$1,650,000 on August 1 in each of the years 2019-2028, both inclusive, bear interest payable on February 1, 2009 and semiannually
thereafter on August 1 and February 1 in each year until maturity, as further described in the Preliminary Official Statement for the
Bonds dated July 18, 2008 {the “Preliminary Official Statement™).

The Bonds maturing on August 1, 2017 and thereafter are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the election of the City,
on and after August 1, 2016, at any time, in whole or in part and by lot within a matority, in such amouonts and in such order of
maturity as the City may determine, at the respective prices (expressed as percentages of the principal amounts of Bonds to be
redeemed) set forth in the following table, together with interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date:

Redemption Dates Redemption Price
From: Auguost 1, 2016 and thereafter 100%

The Bonds will be issued by means of a book-entry system with no physical distribution of bond certificates made to the
public. The Bonds will be issued in registered form and one bond certificate for each maturity will be issued to The Depository Trast
Company, New York, New York ("DTC™, registered in the name of its nominee, Cede & Co., and immobilized in their custody. A
book-entry system will be employed, evidencing ownership of the Bonds in principal amounts of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof,
with transfers of ownership effected on the records of DTC and its participants pursuant to rules and procedures adopted by DTC and
its participants. The winning bidder, as a condition to delivery of the Bonds, will be required to deposit the bond certificates with
DTC, or its custodian, registered in the name of Cede & Co. Prncipal of and interest on the Bonds will be payable by the City or its
agent in same-day funds to DTC or its nominee as registered owner of the Bonds. Transfer of principal and interest payments to
participants of DTC will be the responsibility of DTC; transfer of principal and interest payiments to beneficial owners by participants
of DTC will be the responsibility of such participants and other nominees of beneficial owners. The City will not be responsible or
liable for payments by DTC to its participants or by DTC participants to beneficial owners or for maintaining, supervising or
reviewing the records maintained by DTC, its participants or persons acting through such participants.

Nature of Obligation

The Bonds will be general obligations of the City payable, unless paid from other sources, from ad valorem taxes which may
be levied on all taxable property subject to taxation by the City without limitation as o rate or amount except as to classified property
such ag certified forest lands taxable at a limited rate and dwelling houses of qualified elderly persons of low income or of qualified
disabled persons taxable at limited amounts.



Bank Qualification

The Bonds shall NOT be designated by the City as gualified tax exempt obligations under the provisions of Section 265({b} of
the Code for purposes of the deduction by financial institutions for interest expense allocable to the Bonds,

Electronic Bidding Precedures

Any prospective bidder intending to submit an electronic bid must submit its electronic bid through the facilities of
PARITY®. Subscription to the i-Deal LLC BiDCOMP Competitive Bidding System is required in order to submit an electronic
bid and the City will neither confirm any subscription nor be responsible for the failure of any prospective bidder to subscribe.

An electronic bid made through the facilities of PARITY® shall be deemed an irrevocable offer to purchase the Bonds on
the terms provided in this Notice of Sale, and shall be binding upon the bidder as if made by a signed, sealed bid delivered to the
City, The City shall not be responsible for any malfunction or mistake made by, or as a result of the use of the facilities of,
PARITY®, the use of such facilities being the sole risk of the prospective bidder.

If any provisions of this Notice of Sale shall conflict with information provided by PARITY® as the approved provider of
electronic bidding services, this Notice of Sale shall control. Further information about PARITY®, including any fee charged, may
be obtained from PARITT®, 1359 Broadway, 2nd Floor, New York, New York 10018, Attention: Customer Service Department
(telephone: (212) 849-5021 - email notice: paritvi@i-deal.com.)

For purposes of both the sealed proposal process and the electronic bidding process, the time as maintained by PARITY®
shall constitute the official time. For information purposes only, bidders are requested to state in their electronic bids the true
interest cost to the City, as described under “Basis of Award” below, and in the written form of Proposal for Bonds., All electronic
bids shall be deemed to incorporate the provisions of this Notice of Sale and form of Proposal for Bonds,

Sealed Proposal Procedures

‘Bids will be accepted in written form on the form of Proposal for Bonds at the place and time indicated above. Bids must
be enclosed in sealed envelopes marked "Proposal for Bonds" and addressed to Mr. Robert G. Tait, City Treasurer, City of
Meriden.

Bid Specifications/Basis of Award

Each bid must be for the entire $33,050,000 of Bonds and must specify the rate or rates of interest therefor in a multiple of
1/20 or 1/8 of 1% per annum, provided such bid shall not state (a) more than one interest rate for any Bonds having like maturity, or
{b) any interest sate for any Bonds which exceeds the interest rate stated in the proposal for any other Bonds by more than 2%.
Interest shall be computed on the basis of twelve 30 day months and a 360 day year. No id for less than all of the Bonds or for less
than par and accrued interest will be considered. The right is reserved to reject any and all proposals and to waive any irregularity or
informality with respect to any proposal. Unless all bids are rejected the Bonds will be awarded to the bidder offering to purchase
them at the lowest true interest cost. :

Bidders may specify that the principal amount of the Bonds specified fo mature in any two or more consecutive years may,
n lieu of maturing in such years, be combined to comprise one or more maturities of Bonds (*“Term Bond”) scheduled to mature in the
latest of the combined years in each case. If the successfill bidder designates principal amounts to be combined into one or more Term
Bonds, each such Term Bond shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption commencing on August 1 of the first year which
has been combined to form such Term Bond and continuing on August ! in each year thereafier until the stated maturity date of that
Term Bond. The amount redeemed in any year shall be equal to the principal amounts shown on the maturity schedule on the form of
Proposal for Bonds. FEach mandatory redemption shall be allocated to the payment of the Term Bond maturing in the nearest
subsequent year. Bonds to be redeemed in any year by mandatory sinking fund redemption shall be redeemed at par and shali be
selected by lot among the Bonds then subject to redemption. The City, at its option, may credit against any mandatory sinking fund
redemption Term Bonds of the maturity then subject to redemption which have been purchased and canceled by the City or which
have been redeemed and not theretofore applied as a credit agamst any mandatory sinking fund redemption requirement.

The successful bidder for all of the Bonds may request that the Bonds be ssued in the form of one fully registered physical
certificate, rather than in book-entry form through the facilities of DTC. The successful bidder seeking the issuance of the Bonds in
this manner shatl bear any and all costs of any re-registration or transfer of Bonds from time to time. Any bidder seeking to have the
Bonds 1ssued in the form of fully registered physical certificates, rather than in book-entry form, shall indicate this preference to the



City at the time of the submission of the winning bid. The City reserves the right to decline any request to issue the Bonds in non-
book-eniry form if it should determine, in its sole discretion, that issuing the Bonds in this manner is not in its best interests,

For the purpose of determining the successful bidder, the true mterest cost to the City will be the annual inferest raie,
compounded semiannually, which, when used to discount all payments of principal and mterest payable on the Bonds to August 1,
2008, the date of the Bonds, results in an amount equal to the purchase price for the Bonds, not including interest accrued to August 1,
2008, the delivery date of the Bonds. It is requested that each proposal be accompanied by a statement of the percentage of true
interest cost to the City, computed and rounded to four decimal places. Such statement shall not be considered as a part of the
proposal. The Bonds will be awarded or all bids will be rejected promptly after the bid opening and not fater than 4:00 P.M.
(E.D.T.) on July 24, 2008. The purchase price must be paid in Federal Funds.

Closing Documents and Legal Opinion

The Bonds will be certified hy U.S, Bank National Association. The legality of the issue will be passed upon by Robinson &
Cole LLP, Bond Counsel, Hartford, Connecticut, and the winning bidder will be furnished with their opinion without charge. The
winning bidder will also be furnished with a signature and no litigation certificate, a receipt of payment satisfactory in form to Bond
Counsel, a signed copy of the final Official Statement prepared for this sale, a certificate signed by the appropriate officials of the City
relating to the accuracy and completeness of imformation contained in the final Official Statement, and an executed continuing
disclosure agreement.

The legal opinion will further state that, under existing statutes and court decisions (i) interest on the Bonds is included in the
gross income of the owners thereof for purposes of federal income taxation under existing statutes, inferest on the Bonds is excluded
from Connecticut taxable income for purpeses of the Connecticut income tax on individuals, trusts and estates, and (iv) such interest is
excluded from amounts on which the net Connecticut minimum tax is based in the case of individuals, trusts and estates required to
pay federal altemnative minimum tax. In rendering the legal opinion, Robinson & Cole LLP will rely upon and assume the material
accuracy of the representations and statements of expectation contained in the Tax Reguiatory Agreement entered into by the City
for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds, and further, will assume compliance by the City with the covenants and procedures set
forth in such Tax Regulatory Agreement. A copy of the opinion will be printed upon each of the Bonds, and a signed opinion and
transcript of proceedings will be fited with U.S. Bank National Association, in Hartford, Connecticut, and will be available for
examination upon request,

Continuing Disclosure

The City will undertake in a Continuing Disclosure Agreement entered into in accordance with the requirements of Rule
15¢2-12{(b)(5), pronuigated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, to provide (i) certain annual financial mformation and
operating data, including audited financial statements; (i) timely notice of the occurrence of certain material events with respect to the
Bonds; and (:ii) timely notice of its failure to provide such annual financial information. The winning bidder's obligation to purchase
the Bonds shall be conditioned upon its receiving, at or prior to the delivery of the Bonds, an executed copy of the Continuing
Disclosure Agreement for the Bonds.

Settlement of the Bonds

It shall be the responsibility of the winning bidder to certify to the City before delivery of the Bonds the prices at which a2
substantial amount of the Bonds of each maturity of and any Term Bonds of the Bonds were initially offered and sold to the public.

The Bonds will be available for delivery on or about August 1, 2008. The deposit of the Bonds with DTC or its custodian
under a bock-entry system requires the assignment of CUSIP numbers prior to delivery, It shall be the responsibility of the winning
bidder to obtain CUSIP numbers for the Bonds prior to delivery, and the City will not be responsible for any delay occasioned by the
faitlure of the winning bidder to obtain such numbers and to supply them to the City in a timely manner. The City assumes no
responsibility for any CUSIP Service Burean charge or other charge that may be imposed for the assignment of such numbers, which
charges shall be the responsibility of and shall be paid for by the purchaser.

The Preliminary Official Statement is in a form "deemed final" by the City for purposes of SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(1). The
winning bidder will be furnished 100 copies of the final Official Statement prepared for the Bonds at the City's expense, Additional
copies may be obtained by the winning bidder at its own expense by arrangement with the printer. The copies of the final Official
Statement will be made available to the winning bidder no later than seven business days after the bid opening at the office of the
City's financial advisor. If the City's financial advisor is provided with the necessary information from the winning bidder by 12:00
o’clock noon of the day after the bid opening, the copies of the final Official Statement will include an additional cover page and other



pages, if necessary, indicating the interest rates, ratings, vields or reoffering prices, the name of the managing underwriter, and the
name of the insurer, if any, of the Bonds.

Related Information
For more information regarding the Bonds and the City, reference is made to the Preliminary Official Statement. Bid forms

and copies of the Preliminary Official Statement may be obtained from the undersigned or Mr. Matthew Spoemdie, Managing
Director, Phoenix Advisors LLC, 53 River Street, Milford, CT 06460, Tel. (203) 878-4945.

LAWRENCE KENDZIOR
City Manager

ROBERT G. TAIT
City Treasurer

July 18, 2008

(See attached for form of Proposal for Bonds)



PROPOSAL FOR BONDS
July ~ , 2008

LAWRENCE KENDZIOR, City Manager
ROBERT G. TAIT, City Treasurer
City of Meriden, Connecticut
¢/o Robinson & Cole LLP
280 Trumbull Street
Conference Room 601
Hartford, CT 06103

Gentlemen:

Subject to the provisions of the Notice of Sale dated July 18, 2008, which Notice is- made a part of this
proposal, we offer to purchase all $33,0650,000 bonds of the City of Meriden, Connecticut comprising the issue
described in said notice and to pay therefor par and accrued interest to date of delivery, plus a premivm of
£ , provided that the bonds maturing in the several years set forth below shall bear interest from their date
unti! maturity at the respective rates per annum stated in the following table:

Date of Principal Interest Date of Principal Interest

Maturity Amount Rate' Maturity Amount Rate'
August 1, 2009 $ 1,655,000 - August 1, 2019 $ 1,650,000 -
August 1, 2010 1,655,000 o August |, 2020 1,650,000 o
August 1, 2011 1,655,000 o August 1, 2021 1,650,000 R
August 1,2012 1,655,000 o August 1, 2022 1,650,000 L
August 1, 2013 1,655,000 o August 1, 2023 1,650,000 o
August 1, 2014 1,655,000 L August 1, 2024 1,650,000 L
August 1, 2015 1,655,000 o August 1, 2025 1,650,000 o
August 1, 2016 1,655,000 L August 1, 2026 1,650,000 L
August 1, 2017 1,655,000 - August 1, 2027 1,650,000 L
August 1, 2018 1,655,000 . August 1, 2028 1,650,000 o

@ Provide rate only for the years in which serial bonds mature.

TERM BONDS (IF ANY)
3 Term Bond maturing on August 1, at % per annum,
b Term Bond maturing on August I,  at % per annum.

(Mailing Address)

The following is our computation of the true interest cost, made as provided in the above-mentioned Notice
of Sale, but not constituting any part of the foregoing proposal, for the purchase of $33,050,000 bonds under the
foregomng proposal:

Percent True INterest COSE  ooooeecvrrrrsrerasssrerarsstressrsnnsnrrrnnsnnes %
{Four Decimals)
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The insurance Policy

Assured Guaranty has made a commitment 1o issue the Policy relating to the Bonds, effective as of the date
of issuance of such Bonds. Under the terms of the Policy, Assured Guaranty will unconditionally and irrevocably
guarantee 1o pay that portion of principal of and interest on the Bonds that becomes Due for Payment but shall be
unpaid by reason of Nonpayment (the “Insured Payments”). Insured Payments shall not include any additional
amounis owing by the Issuer sclely as a resuit of the failure by the Trustee or the Paying Agent tc pay such amount
when due and payable, including without limitation any such additional amounts as may be aitributable {o penalties or
to interest accruing at a default rate, to amounts payable in respect of indemnification, or to any other additional
amounis payable by the Trustee or the Paying Agent by reason of such failure. The Policy is non-cancelable for any
reason, including without limitation the non-payment of premium.

*Due for Payment” means, when referring 1o the principal of the Bonds, the stated maturity date thereof, or
the date on which such Bonds shall have been duly calied for mandatory sinking fund redemption, and does not refer
to any eatlier date on which payment is due by reason of a call for redemption (other than by mandatory sinking fund
redemnplion), acceleration or other advancement of maturity (unless Assured Guaranty in its sole discretion elects to
make any principal payment, in whole or in part, on such earlier date) and, when referring to interest on such Bonds,
means the stated dates for payment of interest.

"Nonpayment” means the failure of the Issuer to have provided sufficient funds tc the Trusiee or the Paying
Agent for payment in fuli of all principal and interest Due for Payment on the Bonds. |t is further understood that the
term Nonpayment in respect of 2 Bond also includes any amount previously distributed to the Holder (as such term is
defined in the Policy) of such Bond in respect of any Insured Payment by or on behalf of the Issuer, which amount has
been recovered from such Halder pursuant to the United States Bankruptcy Code in accerdance with a final,
nonappealable order of a court having competent jurisdiction that such payment constituies an avoidable preference
with respect to such Holder. Nonpayment does not include nonpayment of principal or interest caused by the failure
of the Trustee or the Paying Agent to pay such amount when due and payable.

Assured Guaranty will pay each portion of an Insured Payment that is Due for Payment and unpaid by
reason of Nonpayment, on the later to occur of (i) the date such principal or interest becomes Due for Payment, or (i}
the business day next following the day on which Assured Guaranty shall have received a completed notice of
Nonpayment therefor in accordance with the terms of the Policy.

-Assured Guaranty shall be fully subrogated to the righis of the Holders of the Bonds to receive payments in
respect of the Insured Payments to the extent of any payment by Assured Guaranty under the Policy.

The Policy is not covered by any insurance or guaranty fund estabiished under New York, California,
Connecticut or Ficrida insurance law.

The Insurer

Assured Guaranty Corp. (*Assured Guaranty”) is a Maryland-domiciled insurance company regulated by the
Maryland Insurance Administration and licensed to conduct financial guaranty insurance business in all fifty states of
the United States, the District of Columbia and Puerio Rico. Assured Guaranty commenced operations in 1988.
Assured Guaranty is a wholly owned, indirect subsidiary of Assured Guaranty Ltd. ("AGL"), a Bermuda-based holding
company whose shares are publicly traded and are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "AGO.”
AGL, through Hts operating subsidiaries, provides credit enhancement products to the U.S. and global public finance,
structured finance and mortgage markets. Neither AGL nor any of its shareholders is obligated to pay any debis of
Assured Guaranty or any claims under any insurance policy issued by Assured Guaranty.

Assured Guaranty is subject to insurance laws and regulations in Maryland and in New York (and in other jurisdictions
in which it is licensed) that, among other things, (1) limit Assured Guaranty’s business to financial guaranty insurance and related
lines, (ii) prescribe minimum solvency requirements, including capital and surplus reguirements, (iii) limit classes and
concentrations of investments, (iv) regulate the amount of both the aggregate and individual risks that may be insured, (v} Hmit
the payment of dividends by Assured Guaranty, (vi) require the maintenance of contingency reserves, and (vil) govern changes
in control and transactions among affiliates. Certain state laws to which Assured Guaranty is subject also require the approval of
policy rates and forms.



Assured Guaranty's financial strength is rated "AAA” by Standard & Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill
Companies, Inc. (“*S8&P"), *AAA" by Fitch, Inc. (*Fitch”) and “Aaa” by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. {*Moody's").
Each rating of Assured Guaranty should be evaluated independently. An explanation of the significance of the above
ratings may be obtained from the applicable rating agency. The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell
or hold any security, and such ratings are subject te revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies. Any
downward revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of any
security guaranteed by Assured Guaranty. Assured Guaranty does not guaranty the market price of the securities it
guaraniees, nor does it guaranty that the ratings on such securities will not be revised or withdrawn.

Recent Developrments

On July 21, 2008, Moody's issued a press release stating that it had placed the “Aaa” insurance financial
strength rating of Assured Guaranty Corp. under review for possible downgrade. Moody’s noted in its press release
that, while the outcome of the review was uncertain, a downgrade of Assured Guaranty's insurance financial strength
rating below “Aa2” was currently seen as unlikely. A copy of the press release is available at www.moodys.com

Assured Guaranty intends to cooperate with Moody's in connection with its review. Assured Guaranty
cannot give any assurance as to the outcome of the review or the timing of when such review may he completed.

On July 17, 2008, Fitch issued a report to provide an update on its views with respect {0 the outlook for the
moncline financial guaranty industry. In such report, Fitch stated that Assured Guaranty continues to maintain a
“AAA” insurer financial strength rating from Fitch with a stable rating outlook.

On June 18, 2008, S&P issued a press release in which it affirmed its "AAA” financial strength and financial
enhancement ratings on Assured Guaranty. in such press release, S&P stated that Assured Guaranty's outlook is
stabie.

Capitalization of Assured Guaranty Corp.

As of March 31, 2008, Assured Guaranty had total admitted assets of $1,518,398,730 (unaudited), total
liabilities of $1,138,285,708 (unaudited), total surplus of $380,113,022 (unaudited) and total statutory capital (surplus
plus contingency reserves) of $1,001,533,924 (unaudited) determined in accordance with statutory accounting
practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities. As of December 31, 2007, Assured Guaranty
had total admitted assets of $1,361,538,502 (audited), total liabilities of $961,967,238 (audited), total surpius of
$399,571,264 (audited) and total statutory capital {surplus plus contingency reserves) of $982 045,695 (audited)
deiermined in accordance with stalutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory
authorities. The Maryland Insurance Administration recognizes only statutory accounting practices for determining
and reporting the financial condition and results of operations of an insurance company, for determining its solvency
under the Maryland Insurance Code, and for determining whether its financial condition warrants the payment of a
dividend to its stockholders. No consideration is given by the Maryland Insurance Administration to financial
statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (*GAAP”) in
making such determinations.

Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference

The portions of the following documents relating to Assured Guaranty are hereby incorporated by reference into this
Official Statement and shall be deemed to be a part hereof:
= The Annuai Report on Form 10-K of AGL for the fiscal yvear ended December 31, 2007 (which was
filed by AGL with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC") on February 29, 2008},

+  The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2008 (which was filed
by AGL with the SEC on May 9, 2008); and

s  The Current Reports on Form 8-K filed by AGL. with the SEC, as they relate to Assured Guaranty.

All consolidated financial statements of Assured Guaranty and all other information relating to Assured
Guaranty included in documents filed by AGL with the SEC pursuant to Section 13{a}, 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, subsequent to the date of this Official Statement and prior to the
termination of the offering of the Bonds shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Official Statement
and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of filing such consolidated financial statements.

Any statement contained in a document incorporated herein by reference or contained herein under the
heading “Bond Insurance - The insurer” shall be modified or superseded for purposes of this Officiat Statement to the
extent that a statement contained herein or in any subseguently filed document which is incorporated by reference
herein aiso modifies or supersedes such statement. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed,
except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Official Statement.



Copies of the consolidated financial statements of Assured Guaranty incorporated by reference herein and of
the statutory financial statements filed by Assured Guaranty with the Maryland Insurance Administration are available
upon request by contacting Assured Guaranty at 1325 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10019 or by
calling Assured Guaranty at (212) 974-0100. In addition, the information regarding Assured Guaranty that is
incorporated by reference in this Official Statement that has been filed by AGL with the SEC is available to the public
over the Internet at the SECs web site at Atp/wwwsecgov and at AGL's web site at
httpfwww. assuredguaranty.com, from the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Room 1024,
Washington, D.C. 20548, and at the office of the New York Stock Exchange at 20 Broad Street, New York, New York
10005,

Assured Guaranty makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds.
in addition, Assured Guaranty has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not
accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or disclosure
contained herein, or omitted herefrom, ather than with respect to the accuracy of the infarmation regarding Assured
Guaranty supplied by Assured Guaranty and presented under the heading "Bond Insurance.”
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Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy

lssuer: Policy No.:
Obfigations: Premium:
Effective Daté:

and on the terms and subject to the conditions of this Policy (wh

irrevocably agrees to pay to the trustee {the “Trustee™ or the pay g agen \I??Rt
documeniation providing for the issuance of and securing 5)
Payments which shall become Due for Payment but shal

d\;

Assured Guaranty will make such Insure & to

applicable principal or interest becomes Due for aym (i

Guaranty shall have Received a compieted of N e%m\? If
cr;fj\cbmg\\

does not in any instance conform to the terhs a thi I

shall promptly give notice to the Trustee por the P U \L*g)\ } @ﬁ; notice, the Trustee or the Paying Agent may
submit an amended Notice of Nonpayment, Thsf\r ee O?TFE\ g Agentwi urse the insured Payments o the Holders only
upon receipt by the Trustee or the.Faying hgen in form reasol abiy tisfactory to it of (i) evidence of the Holder's right to receive
such paymenis, and (i) ewdeé(e inclu ‘nS\WIt\ﬁQ\rllmlt i instruments of assignment, that all of the Holder's

PF} i
rights to payment cf such priég\\pal or ipterest Bue for Paym nt s al Qi;bon vest in Assured Guaranty. Upon and o the extent of

Assured Guaranty Corp., a Maryland corporation (“Asmu\ ara
ieh in

Paying

e unp

ext foilowing the day on which Assured
npaymeht by Assured Guaranty is incomplete or
mad not Received, and Assured Guaranty

npaye
Oéwr;i/;gfpron the later to occur of (i) the date

such disbursement, Assure Guar
receipt of payment of pri

t thereon;and shall be fully subrogated to ali of the Holder's right, title and interest
ion the right-to reecﬁwﬁ payments in respect of the Obligations. Payment by Assured Guaranty to
of the Holders_shall discharge the obligation of Assured Guaranty under this Policy to

o
fhis PS"I?tsy iSnon- ncel le by“Assured Guaranty for any reason. The Premium on this Policy is not refundable for any
h

reason. is Palicy doeswot insur, agamst s of afy prepayment premium or other acceieration gayment which at any time may
become dHue /Jg#ect of ny gaﬂon oier-than at the sole option of Assured Guaranty, nor against any risk other than
Nonpaym

Excemmne@xtent sly odified by any endorsement heretg, the following terms shall have the meanings specified
for all purposes of thlS Po VDI ed Payment” means any amount previously distributed to a Holder in respect of any insured

Bankrupicy Code in“gccordance/with a final, nonappealable order of a court having competent iurisdiction that such payment
constituies an avoidab nce with respect to such Holder. “Business Day™ means any day other than (i) a Saturday or
Sunday, (it} any day on which the offices of the Trustee, the Paying Agent or Assured Guaranty are closed, or (i) any day on which
banking institutions are authorized or required by law, executive order or governmenial decree to be closed in the City of New York
or in the State of Maryland. “Due for Payment” means (i) when referring to the principal of an Obligation, the stated masurity date
thereof, or the date on which such Obiigation shall have been duly calied for mandatory sinking fund redemgtion, and does not refer
to any earlier date on which payment is due by reasen of a call for redemption (other than by mandatory sinking fund redemption),
acceleration or other advancement of maturity (uniess Assured Guaranty in its sole discretion elects to make any principal payment,
in whole or in part, on such earfier date} and (#) when referring to interest on an Obligation, the siated date for payment of such
interest. "Holder” means, in respect of any OCbligation, the person or entity who, at the ime of Nonpayment, is entitled under the
terms of such Obligation to payment of principat or interest thereunder, except that Molder shali not include the |ssuer or any person
or entity whose direct or indirect obligation constitutes the underlying security for the Obligations. “Insured Payments” means that
poriion of the principal of and interest on the Obligations that shall become Due for Payment but shali be unpaid by reason of
Nonpayment. Insured Payments shall not include any additicnal amounts owing by the Issuer salely as a result of the failure by the
Trustee or the Paying Agent to pay such amount when due and payabile, including without iimitation any such additional amounts as
may be attributable fo penalties or to inferest accruing at a default rate, to amounts payable in respect of indemnification, or to any
other additional amounts payable by the Trustee or the Paying Agent by reason of such faitlire. “Nonpayment” means, in respect of
an Chligation, the failure of the Issuer 1o have provided sufficient funds to the Trustee or the Paying Agent for payment in full of alt
principal and interest Due for Payment on such Obligation. It is further understood that the term "Nonpayment” in respect of an
Chbligation includes any Avoided Payment. "Receipt’ or “Received” means actual receipt or notice of or, if notice is given by
overnight or other deiivery service, or by certified or registered United States mail, by a delivery receipt signed by a person
authorized to accept delivery on behalf of the persen 1o whom the notice was given. Notices to Assured Guaranty may be mailed by
registered mail or personally delivered or telecopied to it at 1325 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10019, Telephone
Number:  (212) 974-0100, Facsimile Number: (212) 581-3268, Attention: Risk Management Department - Public Finance
Surveillance, with a copy to the General Counsel, or to such other address as shall be specified by Assured Guaranty to the Trustee
or the Paying Agent in writing. A Notice of Nonpayment will be deemead to be Received by Assured Guaranty on a given Business
Day if it is Received pricr to 12:00 noon (New York City time) on such Business Day; ctherwise it will be desmed Received on the
next Business Day. “Term” means the period from and including the Effective Date until the earlier of (i} the maturity date for the
Obiligations, or (ii) the date on which the Issuer has made all payments required to be made on the Obligations,

Payment by or on eh the Issuer, which amount has been recovered from such Heider pursuant to the United States
ref
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At any time during the Term of this Policy, Assured Guaranty may appoint a fiscal agent (the “Fiscal Agemt”) for purpeses
of this Policy by wiitten nolice to the Trustee or the Paying Agent, specifying the name and notice address of such Fiscal Agent.
From and after the date of Receipt of such notice by the Trustee cor the Paying Agent, copies of all notices and documents required
to be delivered to Assured Guaranty pursuant to this Policy shall be delivered simultangously 1o the Fiscéz A‘ggnt and to Assurad
Guaranty. All paymeants required to be made by Assured Guaranty under this Policy may be made directly x Assured Guaranty or
by the Fiscal Agent on behaif of Assured Guaranty. The Fiscal Agent is the agent of Assured Guardnty.only»and the Fiscal Agent
shall in no event be fiable to the Trustee or the Paying Agent far any acts of the Fiscal Agentor a falluré-ef Assurs Guaranty to
deposit, or cause to be deposited, sufficient funds to make payments due under this Policy.

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, Assured Guaranty hereby watves, in gach case the benefit.of the

Holders only, all rights and defenses of any kind (including, without fimitation, the defensé of fraud-n the ind eMact organy

cther circumstance that would have the effect of discharging a surety, guarantor or other pegﬁ‘r?n/lgv\or 1 equity} Qi\;ﬁ?e

available o Assured Guaranty 10 deny or aveid payment of iis obligations upfler i ficy i a:g?:anc withthe ess
i

provisions hereof. Nothing in this paragraph will be construed (i) to waive, iimit or dtherwis 433'1\;‘.‘) ir, and Agsured Goaranty, expressly
reserves, Assured Guaranty's righis and remedies, including, without limitafiéni~its right4g assertany claim or sUe coveries
(based on contractual rights, securities faw violations, fraud or other cauggs of action) against n}- ersbq,cfl entity i each case,
whether directly or acquired as a subrogee, assignee or othelwise, subseq makirg a or the Paying

it t
Agent, in accordance with the express provisions hereof, andfor (ii){b T u% en As ny amounis that
have been previously paid or that are not otherwise due in accordance with the expre rovist
This Policy {which inciudes each endorsement hereto) sets-fprth in f %é\und Kin 0% d Guaranty with respect
to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified, altered or affectéd By, any thér\a\?]rﬁ\ﬁgnt ifstrument, inciuding, without
fimitation, any mcdification thereto or amendment thereof THIS ICY %If() O ER\E@‘BY HE PROPERTY/CASUALTY
O

INSURANCE SECURITY FUND SPECIFIED IN AR 76,0F THE NEW Y INSEIR @AW. This Policy will be governed
by, and shall be construad in accordance with, thedaws ?e“staie f New York:
g

s caused this Policy to be aff with its corporate seal, to be signed by

IN WITNESS WHEREOQCF, Assured uaran;jy
i uaranty by virtue of such signature.

a
its duly authorized officer, and to become effective and.pin

SURED GUARANTY GORP.
{SEAL)
By:
. [Insert Authorized Signatory Name]
N [insert Authorized Signatory Title}
<§> Signalure attested to by:
Counsel

Page 2 of 2
Form NY-FG (05/07}



